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What’s New in This Edition

WHAT’'S NEW IN THIS EDITION

STANDARDS RECENTLY ISSUED

Statement Title Issue Date Section
Statement on The Auditor's Consideration Feb. 2017 AU-C 570
Auditing of an Entity's Ability to

Standards (SAS) Continue as a Going

No. 132 Concerns

Statement on Compilation of Pro Forma Sep. 2016 AR-C 120
Standards for Financial Information

Accounting and
Review Services

(SSARS) No. 22

SSARS No. 23 Omnibus Statement on Oct. 2016
Standards for Accounting
and Review Services—2016

DELETED SECTIONS
Attestation Standards [AT]

This section has been deleted due to the effective date of Statement on Stan-
dards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 18, Attestation Standards, Clar-
ification and Recodification. SSAE No. 18 became effective May 1, 2017. Refer
to individual AT-C sections for specific effective date language.

Accounting and Review Services [AR]

This section has been deleted due to the effective dates of SSARS Nos. 21-22.
SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services:
Clarification and Recodification, became effective December 15, 2015. SSARS
No. 22 became effective May 1, 2017. Refer to individual AR-C sections for spe-
cific effective date language.

ADDITIONAL CHANGES

In addition to these recently issued standards, other changes in this edition of
AICPA Professional Standards include the following.

Section Change

Applicability of Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
AICPA Professional Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
Standards technical standards.

AU-C Forward Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council

Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.

AU-C Glossary Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.
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Section
AU-C 200

AU-C 265
AU-C 315
AU-C 402

AU-C 501

AU-C 570A

AU-C 9570A

AU-C 600

AU-C 700

AU-C 700A

AU-C 725
AU-C 805
AU-C 806
AU-C 905
AU-C 920
AU-C 935

AU-C Appendix A

What’s New in This Edition

Change
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130, An Audit of Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated
With an Audit of Financial Statements, and to better
reflect the AICPA Council Resolution designating the
PCAOB to promulgate technical standards.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130 and SSAE No. 18.
Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.
Addition of AU-C section 570A, The Auditor's
Consideration of an Entity's Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern, to retain guidance from SAS No. 126
until the effective date of SAS No. 132.
Addition of AU-C section 9570A, The Auditor's
Consideration of an Entity's Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern: Auditing Interpretations of Section
570A, to retain the interpretations related to SAS No.
126 until the effective date of SAS No. 132.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130.
Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.
Deletion due to the effective date of SAS No. 131,
Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards No.
122 Section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on
Financial Statements.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18 and SSARS No. 23.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130 and SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.
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Section
AU-C Appendix B

AT-C 105

AT-C 310

AT-C 9105.31-.35

AUD 15
AUD 25
AUD 30
AUD 40
AUD 45

AUD 50

AUD 55

ACC 10

AR-C 60

AR-C 70

AR-C 80

AR-C 90

AR-C Appendix A
ET 1.110.010

ET 1.310.001
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What’s New in This Edition

Change
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SAS No. 130 and SSAE No. 18;
revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.

Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.

Revisions to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate
technical standards.

Addition of Interpretation No. 4 "Performing and
Reporting on an Attestation Engagement Under Two
Sets of Attestation Standards" of AT-C section 105,
Concepts Common to All Attestation Engagements.
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Deletion due to the issuance of AICPA Guide
Attestation Engagements on Sustainability Information
(Including Greenhouse Gas Emissions Information,).
Revisions to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSAE No. 18.

Revisions to highlight citations considered to be
category B GAAP guidance in accordance with the
issuance of GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and
Local Governments.

Amended by SSARS No. 23; Revisions to better reflect
the AICPA Council Resolution designating the PCAOB
to promulgate technical standards.

Amended by SSARS No. 23.

Amended by SSARS No. 23.

Amended by SSARS No. 23.

Addition of section as a result of the issuance of SSARS
No. 22.

Technical correction to "Conflicts of Interest for
Members in Public Practice" interpretation.

Revised to add cross reference to a nonauthoritative

question and answer to the "Compliance with
Standards Rule."
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Section

ET 1.400.205

ET 1.520.080

ET 1.700.050

ET 2.310.001

BL Definitions
BL 320

BL 340R

BL 350

BL 360R

BL 401

BL 401R

BL 510

BL 530

PR 100

PR 9100

CPE 100-400

What’s New in This Edition

Change
Addition of the "Transfer of Files and Return of Client
Records in Sale, Transfer, Discontinuance or
Acquisition of a Practice" interpretation.

Addition of the "Disclosure of Commissions and
Referral Fees" interpretation.

Revisions to the "Disclosing Client Information in
Connection With a Review or Acquisition of the
Member's Practice" interpretation.

Revised to add cross reference to a nonauthoritative
question and answer to the "Compliance with
Standards Rule."

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised.

Revised for various conforming and editorial changes.
Revised for various conforming and editorial changes.
Revised to replace with new standards.
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How This Publication Is Organized

HOW THIS PUBLICATION IS ORGANIZED

Scope of Professional Standards

Professional Standards brings together for continuing reference the currently
effective pronouncements on professional standards issued by the AICPA and
contains a section detailing the applicability and integration of AICPA Profes-
sional Standards and PCAOB Standards.

Arrangement of Material in Professional Standards

The material in Professional Standards is arranged as follows:
Applicability of AICPA Professional Standards

Applicability of AICPA Professional Standards to Audits of
Financial Statements

Statements on Auditing Standards (Clarified) and Related Auditing
Interpretations [AU-C]

AU-C Cross-References to SASs

Introduction

General Principles and Responsibilities

Risk Assessment and Response to Assessed Risks

Audit Evidence

Using the Work of Others

Audit Conclusions and Reporting

Special Considerations

Special Considerations in the United States

Appendixes

Topical Index
Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (Clarified)
[AT-C]

AT-C Cross-References to SSAEs

AT-C Introduction

Common Concepts

Level of Service

Subject Matter

Exhibits

Appendixes

Topical Index

Statements of Position Auditing and Attestation [AUD]

Introduction
Statements of Position Auditing and Attestation

Statement of Position Accounting [ACC]

Introduction
Statement of Position Accounting
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How This Publication Is Organized

Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
(Clarified) and Related Accounting and Review Services
Interpretations [AR-C]

AR-C Cross-References to SSARSs

Introduction

General Principles for Engagements Performed in Accordance With
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

Preparation of Financial Statements
Compilation Engagements

Review of Financial Statements
Appendixes

Topical Index

Code of Professional Conduct [ET]
Preface: Applicable to All Members
Part 1—Members in Public Practice
Part 2—Members in Business
Part 3—Other Members
Appendixes
Topical Index

Bylaws [BL]
Definitions
Name and Purpose
Admission to, and Retention of, Membership and Association
Organization and Procedure
Financial Management and Controls
Meetings of the Institute and the Council
Election of Council, Board of Directors, and Officers of the Institute
Termination of Membership and Disciplinary Sanctions
Amendments
General
Topical Index

Valuation Services [VS]

Statements on Standards for Valuation Services

Interpretations of Statements on Standards for Valuation Services
Consulting Services [CS]

Statement on Standards for Consulting Services

Topical Index
Quality Control [QC]

Statements on Quality Control Standards

Peer Review [PR]
Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer Reviews

Interpretations of Standards for Performing and Reporting on
Peer Reviews

Tax Services [TS]

Statements on Standards for Tax Services
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Interpretations of Statements on Standards for Tax Services
Appendix
Topical Index

Personal Financial Planning [PFP]

Statements on Standards in Personal Financial Planning Services
Topical Index

Continuing Professional Education [CPE]

Preamble

General Guidelines for CPAs
Standards for CPE Program Sponsors
Glossary

Topical Index

Description of Content

Applicability of AICPA Professional Standards

Part I is a narrative that provides guidance about standards applicable to enti-
ties as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and standards
applicable to nonissuers.!

U.S. Auditing Standards—AICPA (Clarified) [AU-C]

A cross-reference chart is provided for this division and is identified as AU-C
Cross-References to SASs. There are two parts to this cross-references section

Part I is a list of all Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) issued begin-
ning with SAS No. 122, Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and
Recodification, and a list of sources of sections in the current text.

Part ITis a list of SAS Nos. 1-121 and a list of Statement on Auditing Procedures
Nos. 1-54.

The major divisions are divided into sections, each with its own section number.
Each paragraph within a section is decimally numbered. For example, AU-C
section 210.04 refers to the fourth paragraph of AU-C section 210, Terms of
Engagement.

Auditing interpretations are numbered in the 9000 series with the last three
digits indicating the section to which the interpretation relates. Interpretations
immediately follow their corresponding section. For example, interpretations
related to AU-C section 230 are numbered 9230, which directly follows AU-C
section 230.

There are two exhibits relating to auditing standards as follows:

Exhibit A provides a list of AU-C sections designated by SAS No. 122 cross
referenced to a list of AU sections.

Exhibit B provides a list of retained interpretations.

1 See the definition of the term nonissuer in the AU-C Glossary.
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There are five appendixes relating to auditing standards as follows:
Appendix A provides the historical background for the present SASs.

Appendix B highlights substantive differences between the International Stan-
dards on Auditing and Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

Appendix C is reserved.

Appendix D provides a list of AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and State-
ments of Position.

Appendix E provides a schedule of changes that lists changes that are the re-
sult of Statements on Auditing Standards issued after SAS No. 122, which was
issued in October 2011.

Appendix F provides a list of other auditing publications published by the
AICPA that have been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as AU-C Topical
Index.
U.S. Attestation Standards—AICPA (Clarified) [AT-C]

A cross-reference chart is provided for this division and is identified as AT-C
Cross-References to SSAEs. There are two parts to this cross-references section

Part I is a list of all Statements on Auditing Standards (SSAEs) issued begin-
ning with SSAE No. 18, Attestation Standards: Clarification and Recodification,
and a list of sources of sections in the current text.

Part II is a list of SSAE Nos. 1-17.

The standards are divided into sections, each with its own section number. Each
paragraph within a section is decimally numbered.

There is one exhibit relating to attestation standards as follows:

The exhibit provides a list of AT-C sections designated by SSAE No. 18 cross
referenced to a list of AT sections.

There are two appendixes relating to attestation standards as follows:

Appendix A provides a list of AICPA attestation guides and Statements of Po-
sition.

Appendix B identifies other attestation publications published by the AICPA
that have been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff.

The AT-C topical index uses the keyword method to facilitate reference to the
pronouncements. The index is arranged alphabetically by topic and refers to
major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.

Statements of Position

Statements of Position are assigned section numbers in chronological order as
they are issued. Each paragraph or equivalent is decimally numbered for ref-
erence purposes.
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Accounting and Review Services (Clarified) [AR-C]

A cross-reference chart is provided for this division and is identified as AR-
C Cross-References to SSARSs. There are two parts to this cross-references
section:

Part I is a list of all SSARSSs issued beginning with SSARS No. 21, Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clarification and Recodifi-
cation, and a list of sources of sections in the current text.

Part II is a list of SSARS Nos. 1-20.

The standards are divided into sections, each with its own section number. Each
paragraph within a section is decimally numbered.

There is one appendix, Appendix A, that is reserved.

The AR-C topical index uses the keyword method to facilitate reference to the
pronouncements. The index is arranged alphabetically by topic and refers to
major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.

Code of Professional Conduct

The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (the code) begins with a preface, which
applies to all members. The term member, when used in part 1 of the code,
applies to and means a member in public practice; when used in part 2 of the
code, applies to and means a member in business; and when used in part 3
of the code, applies to and means all other members, such as those members
who are retired or unemployed. A member may have multiple roles, such as a
member in business and a member in public practice. In such circumstances,
the member should consult all applicable parts of the code and apply the most
restrictive provisions.

The code consists of principles and rules as well as interpretations and other
guidance. The principles provide the framework for the rules that govern the
performance of member's professional responsibilities.

A variety of topics appear in parts 1-3 of the code. When applicable, topics
are aligned with the relevant rule or rules of conduct. Topics may be further
divided into subtopics, and some subtopics include one or more sections. Topics,
subtopics, and sections interpret the rules of conduct.

There are four appendixes relating to the code as follows:

Appendix A provides the AICPA Council's resolution on bodies designated to
promulgate technical standards.

Appendix B provides the AICPA Council's resolution on the "Form of Organi-
zation and Name Rule" (ET sec. 1.800.001).

Appendix C contains a revision history table of changes made to the code sub-
sequent to June 1, 2014.

Appendix D provides a mapping document that identifies where the content
from the prior code appears in the effective code.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as ET Topical Index.
Bylaws

The Bylaws of the AICPA and the related Implementing Resolutions of Council
are assembled within the major divisions by section numbers. For example,
BL section 230, Requirements for Retention of Membership, is followed by BL
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section 230R, Implementing Resolutions Under Section 2.3 Requirements for
Retention of Membership.

In BL section 900, General, the following sections are included:
AICPA Mission Statement

A Description of the Professional Practice of Certified Public Accountants

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as BL Topical Index.
Valuation Services

Statements on Standards for Valuation Services and Valuation Services Inter-
pretations appear with the prefix VS in their section numbers.

Consulting Services

Statement on Standards for Consulting Services appears with the prefix CS in
its section number.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as CS Topical Index.
Quality Control

Statements on Quality Control Standards appear with the prefix QC in their
section numbers.

Peer Review

Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer Reviews and Peer Review In-
terpretations appear with the prefix PR in their section numbers.

Tax Services

Statements on Standards for Tax Services and Tax Services Interpretations
appear with the prefix TS in their section numbers.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as T'S Topical Index.
Personal Financial Planning

Statements on Standards in Personal Financial Planning Services appear with
the prefix PFP in their section numbers.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as PFP Topical
Index.
Continuing Professional Education

Policies for the CPE Membership Requirement and Statement on Standards
for Continuing Professional Education (CPE) Programs appear with the prefix
CPE in their section numbers.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as CPE Topical
Index.

Topical Index

The topical indexes use the keyword method to facilitate reference to the pro-
nouncements. The indexes are arranged alphabetically by topic and refer the
reader to major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.

Citation
Auditing (United States)—Clarified AU-C
Attestation (United States)—Clarified AT-C
Accounting and Review Services—Clarified AR-C
Code of Professional Conduct ET
Bylaws BL
Consulting Services CS
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Tax Services TS
Personal Financial Planning PFP
Continuing Professional Education CPE

AICPA TECHNICAL HOTLINE

The Technical Information Service answers inquiries about
specific audit or accounting problems.

Call toll free

877.242.7212
This service is free to AICPA members.
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Special Note About FASB Accounting Standards
Codification®

FASB released the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) on July 1,
2009. On its effective date, FASB ASC became the source of authoritative U.S.
accounting and reporting standards for nongovernmental entities, in addition
to guidance issued by the SEC. FASB ASC significantly changes the way finan-
cial statement preparers, auditors, and academics perform accounting research.

FASB ASC flattens the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
hierarchy to two levels: one that is authoritative (in FASB ASC) and one that is
nonauthoritative (not in FASB ASC). Exceptions include all rules and interpre-
tive releases of the SEC under the authority of federal securities laws, which are
sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants, and certain grandfathered
guidance having an effective date before March 15, 1992. The codification cre-
ates FASB ASC 105, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Amendments to FASB ASC are now issued by FASB through Accounting Stan-
dards Updates (ASUs) and serve only to update FASB ASC. FASB does not
consider the ASUs authoritative in their own right; such amendments become
authoritative when they are incorporated into FASB ASC. The ASUs issued
include the amendments to the codification and an appendix of FASB ASC up-
date instructions. ASUs also provide background information about the amend-
ments, and explain the basis for FASB's decisions. This method of updating the
accounting guidance means that there will no longer be, for example, account-
ing standards in the form of statements, staff positions, Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) abstracts, or AICPA Accounting Statements of Position. ASUs are
issued in the form of ASU No. 20YY-XX, in which "YY" is the last two digits of
the year and "XX" is the sequential number for each update. For example, ASU
No. 2011-01 is the first update in the year 2011. FASB organizes the contents
of each ASU using the same section headings as those used in FASB ASC.

FASB ASC is a major restructuring of accounting and reporting standards
designed to simplify user access to all authoritative GAAP by providing the
authoritative literature in a topically organized structure. FASB ASC disas-
sembled thousands of nongovernmental accounting pronouncements (including
those of FASB, the EITF, and the AICPA) and reassembled them under approx-
imately 90 topics and included all accounting standards issued by a standard
setter within levels A-D of the current GAAP hierarchy. FASB ASC also in-
cludes relevant portions of authoritative content issued by the SEC, as well
as selected SEC staff interpretations and administrative guidance issued by
the SEC; however, FASB ASC is not the official source of SEC guidance and
does not contain the entire population of SEC rules, regulations, interpretive
releases, and staff guidance. Moreover, FASB ASC does not include governmen-
tal accounting standards. FASB ASC is not intended to change GAAP or any
requirements of the SEC.

FASB ASC uses a topical structure in which guidance is organized into areas,
topics, subtopics, sections, and subsections. These terms are defined as follows:

Areas. The broadest category in FASB ASC and represent a grouping of topics.

Topics. The broadest categorization of related content and correlate with the
International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRSs).

Subtopics. Represent subsets of a topic and are generally distinguished by
type or scope.
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Sections. Indicate the nature of the content such as recognition, measurement,
or disclosure. The sections' structure correlates with the IASs and IFRSs.

Subsections. Allow further segregation and navigation of content.

Topics, subtopics, and sections are numerically referenced. This effectively or-
ganizes the content without regard to the original standard setter or standard
from which the content was derived. An example of the numerical referenc-
ing is FASB ASC 305-10-05, in which 305 is the Cash and Cash Equivalents
topic, 10 represents the "Overall" subtopic, and 05 represents the "Overview
and Background" section.

FASB ASC represents a major shift in the organization and presentation of
GAAP. Users are encouraged to read the notice to constituents, which explains
the scope, structure, and usage of consistent terminology in FASB ASC. This
document is available on the FASB website at http:/asc.fasb.org. In addition to
the notice, this link contains information on the options available for users to
access the codification. FASB ASC is offered by FASB at no charge in a Basic
View and for an annual fee in a Professional View. FASB ASC and the notice

to constituents are also offered by certain third party licensees, including the
AICPA.

Levels of Authority

The following outlines the three levels of authority for auditing, attestation,
and preparation, compilation and review publications, including levels of au-
thority under Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
(SSARS) No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services:
Clarification and Recodification (AICPA, Professional Standards).

Auditing Publications

AU-C section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Con-
duct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,
sets forth the following three types of auditing publications and their author-
ity:
® Auditing Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With
Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (ET
sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

® Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Au-
diting Standards Board; if the auditor does not apply the audit-
ing guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication,
the auditor should be prepared to explain how he or she complied
with the Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) provisions ad-
dressed by such auditing guidance.

® Other Auditing Publications: No authoritative status; however,
other auditing publications may help the auditor understand and
apply the SASs.

Attestation Publications

AT-C section 105, Concepts Common to All Attestation Engagements, sets forth
the following three types of attestation publications and their authority:

® Attestation Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With
Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (ET
sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).
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Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Au-
diting Standards Board; if the practitioner does not apply the at-
testation guidance included in an applicable interpretive publi-
cation, the practitioner should be prepared to explain how he or
she complied with the Statements on Standards for Attestation
Engagements (SSAEs) provisions addressed by such attestation
guidance.

Other Attestation Publications: No authoritative status; however,
other attestation publications may help the practitioner under-
stand and apply the SSAEs.

Preparation, Compilation and Review Publications

AR-C section 60, General Principles for Engagements Performing in Accordance
With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services, sets forth
the following three types of preparation, compilation and review publications
and their authority:

Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
(SSARSs: Authoritative per the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (ET sec.
1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Ac-
counting and Review Services Committee; the accountant should
consider applicable interpretive publications in the performance
of a preparation, compilation, or review service.

Other Preparation, Compilation and Review Publications: No au-
thoritative status; however, other compilation and review publica-
tions may help the accountant understand and apply the SSARSs.
In applying the guidance included in an other preparation, com-
pilation and review publication, the accountant should, exercising
professional judgment, assess the relevance and appropriateness
of such guidance to the circumstances of the engagement. Other
preparation, compilation and review publications that have not
been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff that
contradict an other preparation, compilation and review publica-
tion that has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Stan-
dards staff is inappropriate.
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Applicability of AICPA Professional Standards

Part |

Applicability of AICPA Professional Standards
to Audits of Financial Statements

Who Is a Nonissuer?

Appendix A, "Council Resolution Designating Bodies to Promulgate Technical
Standards," of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct recognizes both the
Auditing Standards Board (ASB) and the PCAOB as standard setting bodies
designated to promulgate auditing, attestation, and quality control standards.
Paragraph .01 of the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001 and
2.310.001) requires an AICPA member who performs an audit to comply with
the applicable standards.

Audits of the financial statements of those entities subject to the oversight au-
thority of the PCAOB (that is, those audit reports within the PCAOB's juris-
diction as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended), are to be
conducted in accordance with standards established by the PCAOB, a private
sector, nonprofit corporation created by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The
SEC has oversight authority over the PCAOB, including the approval of its
rules, standards, and budget.

Audits of the financial statements of those entities not subject to the oversight
authority of the PCAOB (that is, those audit reports not within the PCAOB's
jurisdiction as defined by the Act, as amended—hereinafter referred to as non-
issuers 1) are to be conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards (GAAS) as issued by the ASB, a senior committee of the AICPA.

Standards Applicable to the Audits of Entities as
Defined by the Act, as Amended

Rule 3100, Compliance with Auditing and Related Professional Practice Stan-
dards (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules), issued by the PCAOB,
generally requires all registered public accounting firms to adhere to the
PCAOB's standards in connection with the preparation or issuance of any au-
dit report on the financial statements of an entity as defined by the Act, as
amended. Rule 3100 requires registered public accounting firms and their as-
sociated persons to comply with all applicable standards. Accordingly, if the
PCAOB's standards do not apply to an engagement or other activity of the firm,
Rule 3100, by its own terms, does not apply to that engagement or activity.

Rule 3101, Certain Terms Used in Auditing and Related Professional Prac-
tice Standards (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules), issued by the
PCAOB, defines the degree of responsibility imposed on the auditor by the use of
certain terms in the PCAOB's auditing and related professional practice stan-
dards, including the interim standards adopted in Rule 3200, Auditing Stan-
dards; Rule 3300T, Interim Attestation Standards; Rule 3400T, Interim Quality
Control Standards; and Rule 3500T, Interim Ethics and Independence Stan-
dards.

1 See the definition of the term nonissuer in the AU-C Glossary.
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Standards Applicable to the Audits of Nonissuers

The ASB is the body authorized to promulgate auditing, attestation and quality
control standards for nonissuers. The ASB develops and issues standards in
the form of Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) through a due process
that includes deliberation in meetings open to the public, public exposure of
proposed SASs, and a formal vote.

Pursuant to AU-C section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Audi-
tor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Au-
diting Standards, professional requirements under GAAS are categorized as
either "unconditional requirements" or "presumptively mandatory require-
ments," each of which is identified by specific terms. Unconditional require-
ments are stated with "must." Presumptively mandatory requirements are
stated with "should." In the clarified auditing standards, application and ex-
planatory guidance does not create or impose requirements; rather, it is rele-
vant to the proper application of the requirements of an AU-C section.

As a caution to readers, pursuant to AU-C section 200, interpretive publications
are recommendations on the application of GAAS in specific circumstances, in-
cluding engagements for entities in specialized industries. Interpretive publi-
cations, which include auditing interpretations, auditing guidance in AICPA
Audit and Accounting Guides, and auditing guidance found in Statements of
Position, are issued under the authority of the ASB. Although interpretive pub-
lications are not auditing standards, AU-C section 200 requires the auditor to
consider applicable interpretive publications in planning and performing the
audit because interpretive publications are relevant to the proper application
of GAAS in specific circumstances. If the auditor does not apply the auditing
guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication, the auditor should
document how the requirements of GAAS were complied with in the circum-
stances addressed by such auditing guidance.

Failure to follow ASB standards in the audit of a nonissuer would be considered
a violation of the "General Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.300.001 and 2.300.001)
and the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 2.310.001) of the AICPA
Code of Professional Conduct, as applicable.

The ASB continues to issue SASs and interpretive publications that relate to
audits of nonissuers, and auditors should be alert to those issuances.

Audits of a Nonissuer’s Financial Statements Audited in
Accordance With Both GAAS and PCAOB Auditing

Standards

AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements,
addresses the auditor's report for audits conducted in accordance with both
GAAS and another set of auditing standards. Paragraph .42 of AU-C section
700 explains that the auditor may indicate that the audit was conducted in
accordance with GAAS and also conducted in accordance with another set of
auditing standards (for example, the standards of the PCAOB). Paragraph .42
also states that the auditor should not refer to having conducted an audit in
accordance with another set of auditing standards in addition to GAAS, un-
less the audit was conducted in accordance with both sets of standards in their
entirety. Paragraph .43 of AU-C section 700 goes on to state that when the au-
ditor's report refers to both GAAS and another set of auditing standards, the
auditor's report should identify the other set of auditing standards, as well as
their origin.
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Integrated Audit of a Nonissuer’s Financial Statements

AU-C section 940, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That
Is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements, establishes requirements
and provides guidance that applies only when an auditor is engaged to perform
an audit of internal control over financial reporting that is integrated with an
audit of financial statements (integrated audit).

AICPA Standards and the Audits of Entities as Defined
by the Act, as Amended

If a registered public accounting firm performs an audit of an entity as defined
by the Act, as amended, in accordance with PCAOB standards, the auditor does
not need to follow standards promulgated by the ASB. However, AICPA mem-
bers are required to comply with the AICPA Code in addition to the ethics and
independence rules and standards required by the SEC and PCAOB.

©2017, AICPA
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AU-C Cross-References to SASs

AU-C Cross-References to SASs

Part |—Statements on Auditing Standards and Sources
of Sections in Current Text

Statements on Auditing Standards’

No. | Date Issued Title AU-C Section
122 | Oct. 2011 Statements on Auditing Standards:
Clarification and Recodification®
123 | Oct. 2011 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—2011?
124 | Oct. 2011 Financial Statements Prepared in 910
Accordance With a Financial
Reporting Framework Generally
Accepted in Another Country
125 | Dec. 2011 Alert That Restricts the Use of the 905
Auditor's Written Communication
126 | June 2012 The Auditor's Consideration of An 570
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going
Concern (Redrafted)
127 | Jan. 2013 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—2013°
128 | Feb. 2014 Using the Work of Internal Auditors 610
129 | July 2014 Amendment to Statement on Auditing 920
Standards No. 122 Section 920,
Letters for Underwriters and Certain
Other Requesting Parties, as Amended
130 | October An Audit of Internal Control Over 940
2015 Financial Reporting That Is Integrated
With an Audit of Financial Statements
131 | January Amendment to Statement on Auditing 700
2016 Standards No. 122 Section 700,
Forming an Opinion and Reporting on
Financial Statements
132 | February The Auditor's Consideration of an 570
2017 Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going
Concern

* This table lists Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) issued subsequent to SAS No. 122,
Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and Recodification, which was issued in October
2011. Refer to part II, "List of Statements on Auditing Standards Nos. 1-121 and List of Statements

on Auditing Procedure Nos. 1-54," of this section for SASs issued prior to SAS No. 122.

1 SAS No. 122 created various sections throughout U.S. Auditing Standards—AICPA (Clarified).

See the following section, "Sources of Sections in Current Text," for a full list.

2 SAS No. 123 has been integrated within sections 200.03, 200.15, 200.A17, 230.19, 260.12,

260.A27, 705.16, 705.A19, 720.10—.11, 720.A4, 915.09, 915.14, 935.30—.31, and 935.A41.

3 SAS No. 127 has been integrated within sections 600.25-.26, 600.28, 600.32, 600.50, 600.A53—
.A57, 600.A60, 600.A97, 800.01, 800.07, 800.11, 800.18, 800.20, 800.A4—.A5, 800.A8, 800.A24, and
800.A33.
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Sources of Sections in Current Text

AU-C
Section Contents Source
200-299 | General Principles and Responsibilities
200 Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor SAS No. 122
and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
210 Terms of Engagement SAS No. 122
220 Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted SAS No. 122
in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards
230 Audit Documentation SAS No. 122
240 Consideration of Fraud in a Financial SAS No. 122
Statement Audit
250 Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an SAS No. 122
Audit of Financial Statements
260 The Auditor's Communication With Those SAS No. 122
Charged With Governance
265 Communicating Internal Control Related SAS No. 122

Matters Identified in an Audit

300-499 | Risk Assessment and Response to Assessed
Risks

300 Planning an Audit SAS No. 122

315 Understanding the Entity and Its Environment SAS No. 122
and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement

320 Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit | SAS No. 122

330 Performing Audit Procedures in Response to SAS No. 122
Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit
Evidence Obtained

402 Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity SAS No. 122
Using a Service Organization

450 Evaluation of Misstatements Identified During SAS No. 122

the Audit
500-599 | Audit Evidence
500 Audit Evidence SAS No. 122
501 Audit Evidence—Specific Considerations for SAS No. 122
Selected Items
505 External Confirmations SAS No. 122

510 Opening Balances—Initial Audit Engagements, SAS No. 122
Including Reaudit Engagements

520 Analytical Procedures SAS No. 122
530 Audit Sampling SAS No. 122

540 Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair SAS No. 122
Value Accounting Estimates, and Related

Disclosures
550 Related Parties SAS No. 122
560 Subsequent Events and Subsequently SAS No. 122

Discovered Facts
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AU-C
Section Contents Source
570 The Auditor's Consideration of An Entity's Ability | SAS No. 132
to Continue as a Going Concern
570A | The Auditor's Consideration of An Entity's Ability | SAS No. 126
to Continue as a Going Concern
580 Written Representations SAS No. 122
585 Consideration of Omitted Procedures After the SAS No. 122
Report Release Date
600-699 | Using the Work of Others
600 Special Considerations—Audits of Group SAS No. 122
Financial Statements (Including the Work of
Component Auditors)
610 Using the Work of Internal Auditors SAS No. 128
620 Using the Work of an Auditor's Specialist SAS No. 122
700-799 | Audit Conclusions and Reporting
700 Forming an Opinion and Reporting on SAS No. 122;
Financial Statements SAS No. 131
705 Modifications to the Opinion in the SAS No. 122
Independent Auditor's Report
706 Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and SAS No. 122
Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Independent
Auditor's Report
708 Consistency of Financial Statements SAS No. 122
720 Other Information in Documents Containing SAS No. 1184
Audited Financial Statements
725 Supplementary Information in Relation to the SAS No. 119°
Financial Statements as a Whole
730 Required Supplementary Information SAS No. 1208
(continued)

4 To address practice issues, SAS No. 118, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited
Financial Statements, was issued in February 2010 as a SAS resulting from the Clarification and
Convergence Project of the ASB, and became effective for audits of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2010. SAS No. 118 was previously codified as AU section 550 until
December 2013, when all AU sections were deleted from AICPA Professional Standards, as described
in the AU-C Foreword. SAS No. 122 redesignated AU section 550 as AU-C section 720 but did not
supersede SAS No. 118. AU-C section 720 contains conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SAS No. 122.

5 To address practice issues, SAS No. 119, Supplementary Information in Relation to the Finan-
cial Statements as a Whole, was issued in February 2010 as a SAS resulting from the Clarification and
Convergence Project of the ASB, and became effective for audits of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2010. SAS No. 119 was previously codified as AU section 551 until
December 2013, when all AU sections were deleted from AICPA Professional Standards, as described
in the AU-C Foreword. SAS No. 122 redesignated AU section 551 as AU-C section 725 but did not
supersede SAS No. 119. AU-C section 725 contains conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SAS No. 122.

6 To address practice issues, SAS No. 120, Required Supplementary Information, was issued in
February 2010 as a SAS resulting from the Clarification and Convergence Project of the ASB, and
became effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15,
2010. SAS No. 120 was previously codified as AU section 558 until December 2013, when all AU
sections were deleted from AICPA Professional Standards, as described in the AU-C Foreword. SAS
No. 122 redesignated AU section 558 as AU-C section 730 but did not supersede SAS No. 120. AU-C
section 730 contains conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS No. 122.
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AU-C
Section Contents Source
800-899 | Special Considerations
800 Special Considerations—Audits of Financial SAS No. 122

Statements Prepared in Accordance With
Special Purpose Frameworks

805 Special Considerations—Audits of Single SAS No. 122
Financial Statements and Specific Elements,
Accounts, or Items of a Financial Statement
806 Reporting on Compliance With Aspects of SAS No. 122
Contractual Agreements or Regulatory
Requirements in Connection With Audited
Financial Statements

810 Engagements to Report on Summary Financial SAS No. 122

Statements
900-999 | Special Considerations in the United States
905 Alert That Restricts the Use of the Auditor's SAS No. 125
Written Communication
910 Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance SAS No. 124

With a Financial Reporting Framework
Generally Accepted in Another Country

915 Reports on Application of Requirements of an SAS No. 122
Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

920 Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other SAS No. 122;
Requesting Parties SAS No. 129

925 Filings With the U.S. Securities and Exchange SAS No. 122
Commission Under the Securities Act of 1933

930 Interim Financial Information SAS No. 122

935 Compliance Audits SAS No. 1177

940 An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial SAS No. 130

Reporting That Is Integrated With an Audit of
Financial Statements

7 To address practice issues, SAS No. 117, Compliance Audits, was issued in December 2009 as
a SAS resulting from the Clarification and Convergence Project of the ASB, and became effective for
compliance audits for fiscal periods ending on or after June 15, 2010. SAS No. 117 was previously
codified as AU section 801 until December 2013, when all AU sections were deleted from AICPA
Professional Standards, as described in the AU-C Foreword. SAS No. 122 redesignated AU section
801 as AU-C section 935 but did not supersede SAS No. 117. AU-C section 935 contains conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS No. 122.
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Part ll—List of Statement on Auditing Standards
Nos. 1-121 and List of Statement on Auditing
Procedure Nos. 1-54

Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 1-121

No. Date Issued Title

1 Nov. 1972 Codification of Auditing Standards and
Procedures
2 Oct. 1974 | Reports on Audited Financial Statements

3 Dec. 1974 The Effects of EDP on the Auditor's Study and
Evaluation of Internal Control

4 Dec. 1974 Quality Control Considerations for a Firm of
Independent Auditors

5 July 1975 The Meaning of "Present Fairly in Conformity
With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles"
in the Independent Auditor's Report

6 July 1975 | Related Party Transactions

7 Oct. 1975 Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Auditors
8 Dec. 1975 Other Information in Documents Containing

Audited Financial Statements

9 Dec. 1975 The Effect of an Internal Audit Function on the
Scope of the Independent Auditor's Examination

10 Dec. 1975 Limited Review of Interim Financial Information
11 Dec. 1975 Using the Work of a Specialist

12 Jan. 1976 | Inquiry of a Client's Lawyer Concerning
Litigation, Claims, and Assessments

13 May 1976 | Reports on a Limited Review of Interim Financial
Information

14 Dec. 1976 Special Reports
15 Dec. 1976 | Reports on Comparative Financial Statements

16 Jan. 1977 The Independent Auditor's Responsibility for the
Detection of Errors or Irregularities

17 Jan. 1977 Illegal Acts by Clients
18 May 1977 Unaudited Replacement Cost Information
19 June 1977 | Client Representations

20 Aug. 1977 | Required Communication of Material Weaknesses
in Internal Accounting Control

21 Dec. 1977 Segment Information

22 Mar. 1978 | Planning and Supervision

23 Oct. 1978 Analytical Review Procedures

24 Mar. 1979 | Review of Interim Financial Information

25 Nov. 1979 The Relationship of Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards to Quality Control Standards

26 Nov. 1979 Association With Financial Statements

(continued)
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No. Date Issued Title

27 Dec. 1979 Supplementary Information Required by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board

28 June 1980 | Supplementary Information on the Effects of
Changing Prices

29 July 1980 | Reporting on Information Accompanying the
Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted
Documents

30 July 1980 | Reporting on Internal Accounting Control

31 Aug. 1980 | Evidential Matter

32 Oct. 1980 Adequacy of Disclosure of Financial Statements

33 Oct. 1980 Supplementary Oil and Gas Reserve Information

34 Mar. 1981 The Auditor's Considerations When a Question
Arises About an Entity's Continued Existence

35 April 1981 | Special Reports—Applying Agreed-Upon
Procedures to Specified Elements, Accounts, or
Items of a Financial Statement

36 April 1981 | Review of Interim Financial Information

37 April 1981 | Filings Under Federal Securities Statutes

38 April 1981 | Letters for Underwriters

39 June 1981 | Audit Sampling

40 Feb. 1982 Supplementary Mineral Reserve Information

41 April 1982 | Working Papers

42 Sept. 1982 | Reporting on Condensed Financial Statements
and Selected Financial Data

43 Aug. 1982 | Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards

44 Dec. 1982 Special-Purpose Reports on Internal Accounting
Control at Service Organizations

45 Aug. 1983 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—1983

46 Sept. 1983 | Consideration of Omitted Procedures After the
Report Date

47 Dec. 1983 | Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit

48 July 1984 The Effects of Computer Processing on the Audit
of Financial Statements

49 Sept. 1984 | Letters for Underwriters

50 July 1986 | Reports on the Application of Accounting Principles

51 July 1986 | Reporting on Financial Statements Prepared for
Use in Other Countries

52 April 1988 | Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—1987

53 April 1988 | The Auditor's Responsibility to Detect and Report
Errors and Irregularities

54 April 1988 | Illegal Acts by Clients

55 April 1988 | Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial
Statement Audit

56 April 1988 | Analytical Procedures

57 April 1988 | Auditing Accounting Estimates
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No. Date Issued Title

58 April 1988 | Reports on Audited Financial Statements

59 April 1988 | The Auditor's Consideration of an Entity's Ability
to Continue as a Going Concern

60 April 1988 | Communication of Internal Control Related
Matters Noted in an Audit

61 April 1988 | Communication With Audit Committees

62 April 1989 | Special Reports

63 April 1989 | Compliance Auditing Applicable to Governmental
Entities and Other Recipients of Governmental
Financial Assistance

64 Dec. 1990 Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards—1990

65 April 1991 | The Auditor's Consideration of the Internal Audit
Function in an Audit of Financial Statements

66 June 1991 | Commaunication of Matters About Interim
Financial Information Filed or to Be Filed With
Specified Regulatory Agencies—An Amendment to
SAS No. 36, Review of Interim Financial
Information

67 Nov. 1991 The Confirmation Process

68 Dec. 1991 Compliance Auditing Applicable to Governmental
Entities and Other Recipients of Governmental
Financial Assistance

69 Jan. 1992 The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity
With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

70 April 1992 | Service Organizations

71 May 1992 | Interim Financial Information

72 Feb. 1993 Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other
Requesting Parties

73 July 1994 Using the Work of a Specialist

74 Feb. 1995 Compliance Auditing Considerations in Audits of
Governmental Entities and Recipients of
Governmental Financial Assistance

75 Sept. 1995 | Engagements to Apply Agreed-Upon Procedures to
Specified Elements, Accounts, or Items of a
Financial Statement

76 Sept. 1995 | Amendments to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 72, Letters for Underwriters and Certain
Other Requesting Parties

77 Nov. 1995 | Amendments to Statements on Auditing
Standards No. 22, Planning and Supervision,
No. 59, The Auditor's Consideration of an Entity's
Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, and
No. 62, Special Reports

78 Dec. 1995 Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial
Statement Audit: An Amendment to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 55

79 Dec. 1995 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards

No. 58, Reports on Audited Financial Statements
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No. Date Issued Title
80 Dec. 1996 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 31, Evidential Matter
81 Dec. 1996 | Auditing Investments
82 Feb. 1997 Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement
Audit
83 Oct. 1997 Establishing an Understanding With the Client
84 Oct. 1997 Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Auditors
85 Nov. 1997 Management Representations
86 Mar. 1998 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 72, Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other
Requesting Parties
87 Sept. 1998 | Restricting the Use of an Auditor's Report
88 Dec. 1999 Service Organizations and Reporting on
Consistency
89 Dec. 1999 | Audit Adjustments
90 Dec. 1999 | Audit Committee Communications
91 Apr. 2000 Federal GAAP Hierarchy
92 Sept. 2000 | Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging
Activities, and Investments in Securities
93 Oct. 2000 Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards—2000
94 May 2001 The Effect of Information Technology on the
Auditor's Consideration of Internal Control in a
Financial Statement Audit
95 Dec. 2001 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
96 Jan. 2002 | Audit Documentation
97 June 2002 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 50, Reports on the Application of Accounting
Principles
98 Sept. 2002 | Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—2002
929 Oct. 2002 Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement
Audit
100 Nov. 2002 Interim Financial Information
101 Jan. 2003 | Auditing Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures
102 Dec. 2005 Defining Professional Requirements in Statements
on Auditing Standards
103 Dec. 2005 | Audit Documentation
104 Mar. 2006 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 1, Codification of Auditing Standards and
Procedures ("Due Professional Care in the
Performance of Work")
105 Mar. 2006 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 95, Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
106 Mar. 2006 | Audit Evidence
107 Mar. 2006 | Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit
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No. Date Issued Title

108 Mar. 2006 | Planning and Supervision

109 Mar. 2006 Understanding the Entity and Its Environment
and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement

110 Mar. 2006 | Performing Audit Procedures in Response to
Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit
Evidence Obtained

111 Mar. 2006 | Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 39, Audit Sampling

112 May 2006 Communicating Internal Control Related Matters
Identified in an Audit

113 Nov. 2006 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—2006

114 Dec. 2006 The Auditor's Communication With Those
Charged With Governance

115 Sept. 2008 | Communicating Internal Control Related Matters
Identified in an Audit

116 Feb. 2009 Interim Financial Information

117 Dec. 2009 Compliance Audits

118 Feb. 2010 Other Information in Documents Containing
Audited Financial Statements

119 Feb. 2010 Supplementary Information in Relation to the
Financial Statements as a Whole

120 Feb. 2010 Required Supplementary Information

121 Feb. 2011 Revised Applicability of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 100, Interim Financial
Information
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Statement on Auditing Procedure Nos. 1-54

No. Date Issued Title
1 Oct. 1939 Extensions of Auditing Procedure
2 Dec. 1939 The Auditor's Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination
3 Feb. 1940 Inventories and Receivables of Department Stores,
Installment Houses, Chain Stores, and Other
Retailers
4 Mar. 1941 Clients' Written Representations Regarding
Inventories, Liabilities, and Other Matters
5 Feb. 1941 The Revised SEC Rule on "Accountants'
Certificates"
6 Mar. 1941 The Revised SEC Rule on "Accountants'
Certificates"
7 Mar. 1941 Contingent Liability Under Policies With Mutual
Insurance Companies
8 Sept. 1941 | Interim Financial Statements and the Auditor's
Report Thereon
9 Dec. 1941 | Accountants' Reports on Examinations of Securities
and Similar Investments Under the Investment
Company Act
10 June 1942 | Auditing Under Wartime Conditions
11 Sept. 1942 | The Auditor's Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination (No. 2)
12 Oct. 1942 | Amendment to Extensions of Auditing Procedure
13 Dec. 1942 The Auditor's Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination (No. 3) Face-Amount Certificate
Companies
14 Dec. 1942 Confirmation of Public Utility Accounts Receivable
15 Dec. 1942 Disclosure of the Effect of Wartime Uncertainties
on Financial Statements
16 Dec. 1942 Case Studies on Inventories
17 Dec. 1942 Physical Inventories in Wartime
18 Jan. 1943 Confirmation of Receivables From the Government
19 Nov. 1943 Confirmation of Receivables (Positive and
Negative Methods)
20 Dec. 1943 Termination of Fixed Price Supply Contracts
21 July 1944 Wartime Government Regulations
22 May 1945 | References to the Independent Accountant in
Securities Registrations
23 Dec. 1949 Clarification of Accountant's Report When
Opinion is Omitted (Revised)
24 Oct. 1948 Revision in Short-Form Accountant's Report or
Certificate
25 Oct. 1954 Events Subsequent to the Date of Financial
Statements
26 Apr. 1956 | Reporting on Use of "Other Procedures"
27 July 1957 Long-Form Reports
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No. Date Issued Title

28 Oct. 1957 Special Reports

29 Oct. 1958 Scope of the Independent Auditor's Review of
Internal Control

30 Sept. 1960 | Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent
Auditor in the Examination of Financial
Statements

31 Oct. 1961 Consistency

32 Sept. 1962 | Qualifications and Disclaimers

33 Dec. 1963 | Auditing Standards and Procedures (a
codification)

34 Sept. 1965 | Long-Term Investments

35 Nov. 1965 | Letters for Underwriters

36 Aug. 1966 | Revision of "Extensions of Auditing Procedure"
Relating to Inventories

37 Sept. 1966 | Special Report: Public Warehouses Controls and
Auditing Procedures for Goods Held

38 Sept. 1967 | Unaudited Financial Statements

39 Sept. 1967 | Working Papers

40 Oct. 1968 Reports Following a Pooling of Interests

41 Oct. 1969 Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date
of the Auditor's Report

42 Jan. 1970 | Reporting When a Certified Public Accountant Is
Not Independent

43 Sept. 1970 | Confirmation of Receivables and Observation of
Inventories

44 Apr. 1971 Reports Following a Pooling of Interests

45 July 1971 Using the Work and Reports of Other Auditors

46 July 1971 | Piecemeal Opinions

47 Sept. 1971 | Subsequent Events

48 Oct. 1971 Letters for Underwriters

49 Nov. 1971 Reports on Internal Control

50 Nov. 1971 Reporting on the Statement of Changes in Financial
Position

51 July 1972 Long-Term Investments

52 Oct. 1972 Reports on Internal Control Based on Criteria
Established by Governmental Agencies

53 Nov. 1972 | Reporting on Consistency and Accounting
Changes

54 Nov. 1972 The Auditor's Study and Evaluation of Internal

Control
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AU-C Introduction

Foreword

Clarified Statements on Auditing Standards

To address concerns over the clarity, length, and complexity of its standards,
the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) established clarity drafting conventions
and redrafted all its Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) in accordance
with those conventions, which include the following:

® [Establishing objectives for each clarified SAS

® Including a definitions section, where relevant, in each clarified
SAS

® Separating requirements from application and other explanatory
material

® Numbering application and other explanatory material para-
graphs using an A- prefix and presenting them in a separate sec-
tion that follows the requirements section

® Using formatting techniques, such as bulleted lists, to enhance
readability

® Including, when appropriate, special considerations relevant to
audits of smaller, less complex entities within the text of the clar-
ified SAS

® Including, when appropriate, special considerations relevant to
audits of governmental entities within the text of the clarified
SAS

This section contains "AU-C" section numbers instead of "AU" section numbers.
As part of the clarification of the SASs, the AU section numbers as designated
by SAS Nos. 1-121 were recodified and "AU-C" was selected as an identifier in
order to avoid confusion with references to superseded "AU" sections. Super-
seded "AU" sections were deleted from AICPA Professional Standards in De-
cember 2013, by which time substantially all engagements for which the "AU"
sections were still effective were expected to be completed. The superseded "AU"
sections can be accessed at www.aicpa.org/Research/Standards/AuditAttest/
Pages/SAS.aspx.

Authority of the SASs

SASs are issued by the ASB, the senior committee of the AICPA designated to
issue pronouncements on auditing matters applicable to the preparation and
issuance of audit reports for entities not subject to the oversight authority of
the PCAOB (that is, those entities whose audits are not within the PCAOB's
jurisdiction as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended). The
"Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of
Professional Conduct requires an AICPA member who performs an audit (the
auditor) of the financial statements of a nonissuer! to comply with standards

1 See the definition of the term nonissuer in the AU-C Glossary.
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promulgated by the ASB. An auditor must comply with an unconditional re-
quirement in all cases in which such requirement is relevant. An auditor also
must comply with a presumptively mandatory requirement in all cases in which
such a requirement is relevant. However, if, in rare circumstances, an auditor
judges it necessary to depart from a relevant presumptively mandatory require-
ment, the auditor must document the justification for the departure and how
the alternative audit procedures performed in the circumstances were suffi-
cient to achieve the intent of that requirement.

Exhibits and interpretations to SASs are interpretive publications, as defined
in section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct
of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. Sec-
tion 200 requires the auditor to consider applicable interpretive publications
in planning and performing the audit. Interpretive publications are not audit-
ing standards. Interpretive publications are recommendations on the applica-
tion of the SASs in specific circumstances, including engagements for entities
in specialized industries. An interpretive publication is issued under the au-
thority of the ASB after all ASB members have been provided an opportunity
to consider and comment on whether the proposed interpretive publication is
consistent with the SASs. Auditing interpretations of the generally accepted
auditing standards are included in AU-C sections. AICPA Audit and Account-
ing Guides and Auditing Statements of Position are listed in AU-C appendix D,
"AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and Statements of Position."

AUDITING STANDARDS BOARD
Michael J. Santay, Chair

Charles E. Landes, Vice President—
Professional Standards and Services
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AU-C Preface

Principles Underlying an Audit Conducted in
Accordance With Generally Accepted
Auditing Standards

This preface contains the principles underlying an audit conducted in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (the principles).
These principles are not requirements and do not carry any authority.

The Auditing Standards Board has developed the principles to provide
a framework that is helpful in understanding and explaining an audit.
The principles are organized to provide a structure for the codification
of Statements on Auditing Standards. This structure addresses the pur-
pose of an audit (purpose), personal responsibilities of the auditor (re-
sponsibilities), auditor actions in performing the audit (performance),
and reporting (reporting).

Purpose of an Audit and Premise Upon Which an Audit
Is Conducted

.01 The purpose of an audit is to provide financial statement users with
an opinion by the auditor on whether the financial statements are presented
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial re-
porting framework. An auditor's opinion enhances the degree of confidence that
intended users can place in the financial statements.

.02 An audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
is conducted on the premise that management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance, have responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework;

b. for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; and

c. to provide the auditor with

i. access to all information of which management and, when
appropriate, those charged with governance are aware
that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements such as records, documentation,
and other matters;

ii. additional information that the auditor may request from
management and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and
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iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity from
whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.

Responsibilities

.03 Auditors are responsible for having appropriate competence and ca-
pabilities to perform the audit; complying with relevant ethical requirements;
and maintaining professional skepticism and exercising professional judgment
throughout the planning and performance of the audit.

Performance

.04 To express an opinion, the auditor obtains reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error.

.05 To obtain reasonable assurance, which is a high, but not absolute, level
of assurance, the auditor

® plans the work and properly supervises any assistants.

® determines and applies appropriate materiality level or levels
throughout the audit.

® jdentifies and assesses risks of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, based on an understanding of the entity and
its environment, including the entity's internal control.

® obtains sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether ma-
terial misstatements exist, through designing and implementing
appropriate responses to the assessed risks.

.06 The auditor is unable to obtain absolute assurance that the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement because of inherent
limitations, which arise from

® the nature of financial reporting;
® the nature of audit procedures; and

® the need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period
of time and so as to achieve a balance between benefit and cost.

Reporting

.07 Based on an evaluation of the audit evidence obtained, the auditor ex-
presses, in the form of a written report, an opinion in accordance with the audi-
tor's findings, or states that an opinion cannot be expressed. The opinion states
whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects,
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

AU-C §.02 ©2017, AICPA
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AU-C Glossary
Glossary of Terms -

accounting and auditing practice.? A practice that performs engagements
covered by QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control, which are
audit, attestation, compilation, review, and any other services for which
standards have been promulgated by the AICPA Auditing Standards Board
(ASB) or the AICPA Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC)
under the "General Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.300.001) or the "Compli-
ance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Pro-
fessional Conduct. Although standards for other engagements may be pro-
mulgated by other AICPA technical committees, engagements performed
in accordance with those standards are not encompassed in the definition
of an accounting and auditing practice.

2

accounting estimate. An approximation of a monetary amount in the absence
of a precise means of measurement. This term is used for an amount mea-
sured at fair value when there is estimation uncertainty, as well as for other
amounts that require estimation. When section 540, Auditing Accounting
Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclo-
sures, addresses only accounting estimates involving measurement at fair
value, the term fair value accounting estimates is used.

In the context of section 540, the term accounting estimates refers to
those financial statement items that cannot be measured precisely but
can only be estimated. Also see auditor's point estimate or auditor's
range, critical accounting estimates, fair value accounting esti-
mates, management's point estimate, and outcome of an account-
ing estimate.

accounting records. The records of initial accounting entries and supporting
records, such as checks and records of electronic fund transfers; invoices;
contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers; journal entries and other
adjustments to the financial statements that are not reflected in journal
entries; and records, such as work sheets and spreadsheets, supporting cost
allocations, computations, reconciliations, and disclosures.

accounts receivable (in the context of section 330, Performing Audit
Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Au-
dit Evidence Obtained). The entity's claims against customers that have
arisen from the sale of goods or services in the normal course of business,
and a financial institution's loans.

acknowledgment letter. See awareness letter.

1 Unless otherwise indicated, this glossary lists the terms defined for purposes of generally ac-
cepted auditing standards (GAAS) in AU-C sections as designated by Statement on Auditing Stan-
dards No. 122, Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and Recodification, and also lists
certain terms included by the Auditing Standards Board. Terms defined for purposes of a specific AU-
C section or for purposes of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit (section 935, Compliance Audits)
are denoted as such. Terms may appear in more than one AU-C section.

2 This glossary also lists terms defined in clarified QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality
Control, for purposes of the Statements on Quality Control Standards (SQCSs). Terms defined in AU-
C sections and in QC section 10 are denoted as such.

3 Term defined in paragraph .13 of QC section 10 for purposes of SQCSs.
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advisory accountant. See reporting accountant.

analytical procedures. Evaluations of financial information through analy-
sis of plausible relationships among both financial and nonfinancial data.
Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation, as is necessary,
of identified fluctuations or relationships that are inconsistent with other
relevant information or that differ from expected values by a significant
amount.

The use of analytical procedures as risk assessment procedures may be
referred to as analytical procedures used to plan the audit. The auditor's
use of analytical procedures as substantive procedures is referred to as
substantive analytical procedures. Also see risk assessment procedures,
scanning, and substantive procedure.

analytical procedures used to plan the audit. See analytical proce-
dures.

applicable compliance requirements (in the context of adapting gen-
erally accepted auditing standards [GAAS] to a compliance audit).
Compliance requirements that are subject to the compliance audit.

applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting frame-
work adopted by management and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance in the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the objec-
tive of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation.
The term also means the financial reporting framework that applies to the
group financial statements. Also see financial reporting framework.

applied criteria (in the context of section 810, Engagements to Report
on Summary Financial Statements). The criteria applied by manage-
ment in the preparation of the summary financial statements.

appropriateness (of audit evidence). The measure of the quality of audit
evidence (that is, its relevance and reliability in providing support for the
conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based). Also see audit evi-
dence.

arm's length transaction. A transaction conducted on such terms and condi-
tions between a willing buyer and a willing seller who are unrelated and are
acting independently of each other and pursuing their own best interests.

assertions. Representations by management, explicit or otherwise, that are
embodied in the financial statements as used by the auditor to consider
the different types of potential misstatements that may occur.

audit documentation. The record of audit procedures performed, relevant
audit evidence obtained, and conclusions the auditor reached (terms such
as working papers or workpapers are also sometimes used). Also see en-
gagement documentation.

audit evidence. Information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclu-
sions on which the auditor's opinion is based. Audit evidence includes both
information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial
statements and other information. Sufficiency of audit evidence is the mea-
sure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence
needed is affected by the auditor's assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement and also by the quality of such audit evidence. Appropriateness
of audit evidence is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is,
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its relevance and its reliability in providing support for the conclusions on
which the auditor's opinion is based.

audit file. One or more folders or other storage media, in physical or electronic
form, containing the records that constitute the audit documentation for a
specific engagement.

audit findings (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit).
The matters that are required to be reported by the auditor in accordance
with the governmental audit requirement.

audit risk. The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion
when the financial statements are materially misstated. Audit risk is a
function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk.

Audit risk does not include the risk that the auditor might express an opin-
ion that the financial statements are materially misstated when they are
not. This risk is ordinarily insignificant. Further, audit risk is a techni-
cal term related to the process of auditing; it does not refer to the audi-
tor's business risks, such as loss from litigation, adverse publicity, or other
events arising in connection with the audit of financial statements. Also
see detection risk and risk of material misstatement.

audit risk of noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to a com-
pliance audit). The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate au-
dit opinion on the entity's compliance when material noncompliance exists.
Audit risk of noncompliance is a function of the risks of material noncom-
pliance and detection risk of noncompliance. Also see detection risk of
noncompliance and risk of material noncompliance.

audit sampling (sampling). The selection and evaluation of less than 100
percent of the population of audit relevance such that the auditor expects
the items selected (the sample) to be representative of the population and,
thus, likely to provide a reasonable basis for conclusions about the popu-
lation. In this context, representative means that evaluation of the sample
will result in conclusions that, subject to the limitations of sampling risk,
are similar to those that would be drawn if the same procedures were ap-
plied to the entire population.

audited financial statements. In the context of section 560, Subsequent
Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts, reference to audited financial
statements means the financial statements, together with the auditor's re-
port thereon. In the context of section 810, the term audited financial state-
ments refers to those financial statements audited by the auditor in accor-
dance with GAAS and from which the summary financial statements are
derived. Also see financial statements.

audit of internal control over financial reporting. An audit of the design
and operating effectiveness of an entity's internal control over financial
reporting (ICFR).

auditor. The term used to refer to the person or persons conducting the au-
dit, usually the engagement partner or other members of the engagement
team, or, as applicable, the firm. When an AU-C section expressly intends
that a requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement part-
ner, the term engagement partner rather than auditor is used. Engagement
partner and firm are to be read as referring to their governmental equiv-
alents when relevant. Also see component auditor, engagement part-
ner, experienced auditor, firm, predecessor auditor, service audi-
tor, and user auditor.
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auditor's consent (in the context of section 925, Filings With the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission Under the Securities Act of
1933). A statement signed and dated by the auditor that indicates that
the auditor consents to the use of the auditor's report, and other references
to the auditor, in a registration statement filed under the Securities Act of
1933 (the 1933 Act).

auditor's external specialist. See auditor's specialist.

auditor's inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. See
limitation on the scope of an audit.

auditor's internal specialist. See auditor's specialist.

auditor's point estimate or auditor's range. The amount or range of
amounts, respectively, derived from audit evidence for use in evaluating
the recorded or disclosed amount(s). Also see accounting estimate.

auditor's specialist. An individual or organization possessing expertise in a
field other than accounting or auditing, whose work in that field is used
by the auditor to assist the auditor in obtaining sufficient appropriate au-
dit evidence. An auditor's specialist may be either an auditor's internal
specialist (who is a partner or staff, including temporary staff, of the audi-
tor's firm or a network firm) or an auditor's external specialist. Partner and
firm should be read as referring to their governmental equivalents when
relevant.

In the context of section 620, Using the Work of an Auditor's Specialist, an
individual with expertise in applying methods of accounting for deferred
income tax is not a specialist because this constitutes accounting expertise;
a specialist in taxation law is a specialist because this constitutes legal
expertise. Also see engagement team and management's specialist.

awareness letter (in the context of section 925). A letter signed and dated
by the auditor to acknowledge the auditor's awareness that the auditor's
review report on unaudited interim financial information is being used in
a registration statement filed under the 1933 Act. This letter is not consid-
ered to be part of the registration statement and is also commonly referred
to as an acknowledgment letter.

basic financial statements (in the context of section 730, Required Sup-
plementary Information). Financial statements presented in accordance
with an applicable financial reporting framework as established by a des-
ignated accounting standards setter, excluding required supplementary in-
formation. Also see financial statements.

business risk. A risk resulting from significant conditions, events, circum-
stances, actions, or inactions that could adversely affect an entity's ability
to achieve its objectives and execute its strategies or from the setting of
inappropriate objectives and strategies.

by-product report. An auditor's written communication that is based solely
on matters identified by the auditor during the course of the audit engage-
ment when identification of such matters is not the primary objective of
the audit engagement.

capsule financial information (in the context of section 920, Letters
for Underuwriters and Certain Other Requesting Parties). Unaudited
summarized interim financial information for periods subsequent to the pe-
riods covered by the audited financial statements or unaudited condensed
interim financial information included in the securities offering. Capsule
financial information may be presented in narrative or tabular form and is
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often provided for the most recent interim period and for the corresponding
period of the prior year.

carve-out method. A method of reporting that excludes from the service au-
ditor's report, when a service organization uses a subservice organization,
the subservice organization's relevant control objectives and related con-
trols in the service organization's description of its system and in the scope
of the service auditor's engagement. Also see inclusive method.

cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record cash receipts
and disbursements and modifications of the cash basis having substantial
support (for example, recording depreciation on fixed assets).

The cash basis of accounting is commonly referred to as an other com-
prehensive basis of accounting. In the context of section 800, Special
Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
With Special Purpose Frameworks, the cash basis of accounting is not a
regulatory basis of accounting. Also see other comprehensive bases of
accounting and special purpose framework.

change period (in the context of section 920). The period ending on the
cut-off date and ordinarily beginning, for balance sheet items, immediately
after the date of the latest balance sheet in the securities offering and, for
income statement items, immediately after the latest period for which such
items are presented in the securities offering.

closing date (in the context of section 920). The date on which the issuer
of the securities or selling security holder delivers the securities to the un-
derwriter in exchange for the proceeds of the offering.

comfort letter (in the context of section 920). A letter issued by an auditor
in accordance with section 920 to requesting parties in connection with an
entity's financial statements included in a securities offering.

comparative financial statements. A complete set of financial statements
for one or more prior periods included for comparison with the financial
statements of the current period. Also see financial statements.

comparative information. Prior period information presented for purposes
of comparison with current period amounts or disclosures that is not in the
form of a complete set of financial statements. Comparative information
includes prior period information presented as condensed financial state-
ments or summarized financial information. Also see condensed finan-
cial statements and summary financial statements.

comparison date and comparison period (in the context of section 920).
The date as of which, and period for which, data at the cut-off date and data
for the change period are to be compared.

competencies and capabilities.* The knowledge, skills, and abilities that
qualify personnel to perform an engagement covered by QC section 10.
Competencies and capabilities are not measured by periods of time because
such a quantitative measurement may not accurately reflect the kinds of
experiences gained by personnel in any given time period. Accordingly, for
purposes of QC section 10, a measure of overall competency is qualitative
rather than quantitative.

complementary user entity controls. Controls that management of the ser-
vice organization assumes, in the design of its service, will be implemented

4 Term defined in paragraph .A18 of QC section 10 for purposes of SQCSs.
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by user entities, and which, if necessary to achieve the control objectives
stated in management's description of the service organization's system,
are identified as such in that description.

completion of the engagement quality control review. The completion
by the engagement quality control reviewer of the requirements in section
220, Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance With
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.? Also see engagement quality
control review.

compliance audit (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance au-
dit). A program-specific audit or an organization-wide audit of an entity's
compliance with applicable compliance requirements.

compliance requirements (in the context of adapting GAAS to a com-
pliance audit). Laws, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or
grant agreements applicable to government programs with which the en-
tity is required to comply.

component. An entity or business activity for which group or component man-
agement prepares financial information that is required by the applicable
financial reporting framework to be included in the group financial state-
ments.

In the context of section 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Fi-
nancial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors), an in-
vestment accounted for under the equity method constitutes a component.
Investments accounted for under the cost method may be analogous to a
component when the work and reports of other auditors constitute a major
element of evidence for such investments. Also see group and significant
component.

component auditor. An auditor who performs work on the financial informa-
tion of a component that will be used as audit evidence for the group audit.
A component auditor may be part of the group engagement partner's firm,
a network firm of the group engagement partner's firm, or another firm.

In the context of section 600, auditors who do not meet the definition of
a member of the group engagement team are considered to be component
auditors. However, an auditor who performs work on a component when the
group engagement team will not use that work to provide audit evidence for
the group audit is not considered a component auditor. Also see auditor.

component management. Management responsible for preparing the finan-
cial information of a component. Also see management.

component materiality. The materiality for a component determined by the
group engagement team for the purposes of the group audit.

components of internal control. The following five components, which pro-
vide a useful framework for auditors when considering how different as-
pects of an entity's internal control may affect the audit:
a. The control environment
b. The entity's risk assessment process

¢.  The information system, including the related business processes
relevant to financial reporting and communication

5 Paragraph .22 and, when applicable, compliance with paragraph .23 of section 220, Quality
Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.
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d. Control activities
e.  Monitoring of controls

Also see internal control.

condensed financial statements. Historical financial information that is
presented in less detail than a complete set of financial statements, in ac-
cordance with an appropriate financial reporting framework. Condensed
financial statements may be separately presented as unaudited financial
information or may be presented as comparative information. Also see
comparative information and financial statements.

consolidation process. Reference to the consolidation process includes the
following:

a. The recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of
the financial information of the components in the group finan-
cial statements by way of inclusion, consolidation, proportionate
consolidation, or the equity or cost methods of accounting

b. The aggregation in combined financial statements of the financial
information of components that are under common control

continuing accountant (in the context of section 915, Reports on Ap-
plication of Requirements of an Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework). An accountant who has been engaged to report on the finan-
cial statements of a specific entity or entities of which the specific entity is
a component.

contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with
an agreement between the entity and one or more third parties other than
the auditor. Also see special purpose framework.

control objective. The aim or purpose of specified controls. Control objectives
address the risks that the controls are intended to mitigate. In the context
of ICFR, a control objective generally relates to a relevant assertion for
a significant class of transactions, account balance, or disclosure and ad-
dresses the risk that the controls in a specific area will not provide reason-
able assurance that a misstatement or omission in that relevant assertion
is prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

control risk. The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an assertion
about a class of transaction, account balance, or disclosure and that could
be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstate-
ments, will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis
by the entity's internal control. Also see risk of material misstatement.

control risk of noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to a
compliance audit). The risk that noncompliance with a compliance re-
quirement that could occur and that could be material, either individually
or when aggregated with other instances of noncompliance, will not be pre-
vented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity's internal
control over compliance. Also see risk of material noncompliance.

criteria. The benchmarks used to measure or evaluate the subject matter.

critical accounting estimates. Key assumptions and other sources of esti-
mation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material ad-
justment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Also may be
referred to as key sources of estimation uncertainty. Also see accounting
estimate.
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current period. The most recent period upon which the auditor is reporting.

cut-off date (in the context of section 920). The date through which certain
procedures described in the comfort letter are to relate.

date of approval of the financial statements. In some circumstances, final
approval of the financial statements by governmental legislative bodies
(or subsets of such legislative bodies) is required before the financial state-
ments are issued. In these circumstances, final approval by such legislative
bodies (or subsets of such legislative bodies) is not necessary for the auditor
to conclude that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained.
The date of approval of the financial statements is the earlier date on which
those with the recognized authority determine that all the statements that
the financial statements comprise, including the related notes, have been
prepared and that those with the recognized authority have asserted that
they have taken responsibility for them. Also see financial statements.

date of the auditor's report. The date that the auditor dates the report on the
financial statements, in accordance with section 700, Forming an Opinion
and Reporting on Financial Statements.

date of the financial statements. The date of the end of the latest period
covered by the financial statements. Also see financial statements.

deficiency in design. A deficiency in design exists when a control necessary
to meet the control objective is missing or an existing control is not prop-
erly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control
objective would not be met. Also see deficiency in internal control and
deficiency in internal control over compliance.

deficiency in internal control. A deficiency in internal control exists when
the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employ-
ees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A deficiency in de-
sign exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is
missing, or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if
the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met.
A deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not
operate as designed or when the person performing the control does not
possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control ef-
fectively. Also see internal control.

deficiency in internal control over compliance (in the context of adapt-
ing GAAS to a compliance audit). A deficiency in internal control over
compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of perform-
ing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompli-
ance on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control nec-
essary to meet the control objective is missing, or (b) an existing control is
not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the
control objective would not be met. A deficiency in operation exists when a
properly designed control does not operate as designed or the person per-
forming the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence
to perform the control effectively. Also see material weakness in inter-
nal control over compliance and significant deficiency in internal
control over compliance.

deficiency in operation. A deficiency in operation exists when a properly
designed control does not operate as designed or the person performing
the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to
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perform the control effectively. Also see deficiency in internal control
and deficiency in internal control over compliance.

degree of interaction. The extent to which a user entity is able to and elects to
implement effective controls over the processing performed by the service
organization.

designated accounting standards setter. A body designated by the Coun-
cil of the AICPA to promulgate generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) pursuant to the "Compliance With Standards Rule" and the "Ac-
counting Principles Rule" (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Profes-
sional Conduct.

detection risk. The risk that the procedures performed by the auditor to re-
duce audit risk to an acceptably low level will not detect a misstatement
that exists and that could be material, either individually or when aggre-
gated with other misstatements. Also see audit risk and risk of material
misstatement.

detection risk of noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to a
compliance audit). The risk that the procedures performed by the audi-
tor to reduce audit risk of noncompliance to an acceptably low level will not
detect noncompliance that exists and that could be material, either individ-
ually or when aggregated with other instances of noncompliance. Also see
audit risk of noncompliance and risk of material noncompliance.

detective control. A control that has the objective of detecting and correcting
errors or fraud that have already occurred that could result in a misstate-
ment of the financial statements.

direct assistance. The use of internal auditors to perform audit procedures
under the direction, supervision, and review of the external auditor.

disagreements with management (in the context of section 260, The
Auditor’s Communication With Those Charged With Governance).
Disagreements that do not include differences of opinion based on incom-
plete facts or preliminary information that are later resolved.

documentation. See audit documentation.

documentation completion date. The date, no later than 60 days following
the report release date, on which the auditor has assembled for retention
a complete and final set of documentation in an audit file.

documents containing audited financial statements (in the context of
section 720, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited
Financial Statements). Refers to annual reports (or similar documents)
that are issued to owners (or similar stakeholders) and annual reports of
governments and organizations for charitable or philanthropic purposes
that are available to the public that contain audited financial statements
and the auditor's report thereon.

dual purpose test. Performing a test of controls and a test of details on the
same transaction. Also see substantive procedure and test of controls.

effective date (in the context of section 920). The date on which the secu-
rities offering becomes effective.

effective date of the registration statement (in the context of section
925). The date on which the registration statement filed under the 1933 Act
becomes effective for purposes of evaluating the auditor's liability under
Section 11 of the 1933 Act.

45
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element of a financial statement or element (in the context of sec-
tion 805, Special Considerations—Audits of Single Financial State-
ments and Specific Elements, Accounts, or Items of a Financial
Statement). Reference to this term means an element, account, or item
of a financial statement.

emphasis-of-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the auditor's re-
port that is required by GAAS, or is included at the auditor's discretion,
and that refers to a matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the fi-
nancial statements that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is of such
importance that it is fundamental to users' understanding of the financial
statements. Also see other-matter paragraph.

engagement documentation.® The record of the work performed, results ob-
tained, and conclusions that the practitioner reached (also known as work-
ing papers or workpapers). Also see audit documentation.

engagement partner.” The partner or other person in the firm who is respon-
sible for the audit engagement and its performance and for the auditor's
report that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has
the appropriate authority from a professional, legal, or regulatory body.
Engagement partner, partner, and firm refer to their governmental equiv-
alents where relevant. Also see auditor, firm, group engagement part-
ner, and partner.

engagement quality control review.® A process designed to provide an ob-
jective evaluation, before the report is released, of the significant judg-
ments the engagement team made and the conclusions it reached in for-
mulating the auditor's report. The engagement quality control review pro-
cess is only for those audit engagements, if any, for which the firm has
determined that an engagement quality control review is required, in ac-
cordance with its policies and procedures. Also see completion of the en-
gagement quality control review.

engagement quality control reviewer.? A partner, other person in the firm,
suitably qualified external person, or team made up of such individuals,
none of whom is part of the engagement team, with sufficient and appro-
priate experience and authority to objectively evaluate the significant judg-
ments that the engagement team made and the conclusions it reached in
formulating the auditor's report.

engagement team.'? All partners and staff performing the engagement and
any individuals engaged by the firm or a network firm who perform audit
procedures on the engagement. This excludes an auditor's external special-
ist engaged by the firm or a network firm. Also see auditor's specialist
and group engagement team.

entity (in the context of section 920). The party whose financial statements
are the subject of the engagement.

entity's risk assessment process. The entity's process for

a. identifying business risks relevant to financial reporting
objectives,

6 See footnote 3.

7 Term also defined in paragraph .13 of QC section 10 for purposes of SQCSs. Refer to QC section
10 for specific language.

8 See footnote 7.
9 See footnote 7.
10 See footnote 7.
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b. estimating the significance of the risks,
c. assessing the likelihood of their occurrence, and
d. deciding about actions to address those risks.

estimation uncertainty. The susceptibility of an accounting estimate and re-
lated disclosures to an inherent lack of precision in its measurement.

evidence. See audit evidence.

exception. A response that indicates a difference between information re-
quested to be confirmed, or contained in the entity's records, and informa-
tion provided by the confirming party.

experienced auditor. An individual (whether internal or external to the firm)
who has practical audit experience, and a reasonable understanding of

a. audit processes;
b. GAAS and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
c¢. the business environment in which the entity operates; and

d. auditing and financial reporting issues relevant to the entity's in-
dustry.

Also see auditor and practical audit experience.
expertise. Skills, knowledge, and experience in a particular field.

extent of an audit procedure. Refers to the quantity of audit procedures to
be performed (for example, a sample size or the number of observations of
a control activity). Also see nature of an audit procedure and timing
of an audit procedure.

external confirmation. Audit evidence obtained as a direct written response
to the auditor from a third party (the confirming party), either in paper
form or by electronic or other medium (for example, through the auditor's
direct access to information held by a third party).

factual misstatements. Misstatements about which there is no doubt. Also
see judgmental misstatements, misstatement, and projected mis-
statements.

fair presentation framework. See financial reporting framework.

fair value accounting estimates (in the context of section 540). Account-
ing estimates involving measurement at fair value. Also see accounting
estimate.

financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine mea-
surement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material items
appearing in the financial statements; for example, U.S. GAAP, Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board, or a special purpose framework.

The term fair presentation framework is used to refer to a financial re-
porting framework that requires compliance with the requirements of the
framework and
a. acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presen-
tation of the financial statements, it may be necessary for man-
agement to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required
by the framework; or
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b. acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management
to depart from a requirement of the framework to achieve fair
presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are ex-
pected to be necessary only in extremely rare circumstances.

A financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the require-
ments of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgments in a or
b is not a fair presentation framework. Also see applicable financial re-
porting framework, general purpose framework, and special pur-
pose framework.

financial statements. A structured representation of historical financial in-
formation, including related notes, intended to communicate an entity's
economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the changes
therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial reporting frame-
work. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary of significant ac-
counting policies and other explanatory information. The term financial
statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as de-
termined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting frame-
work, but can also refer to a single financial statement.

In the context of section 700, reference to financial statements means a
complete set of general purpose financial statements, including the re-
lated notes. In the context of section 800, reference to financial statements
means a complete set of special purpose financial statements, including the
related notes. Also see audited financial statements, basic financial
statements, comparative financial statements, condensed financial
statements, date of approval of the financial statements, date of the
financial statements, general purpose financial statements, group
financial statements, historical financial information, special pur-
pose financial statements, and summary financial statements.

firm.'! A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose charac-
teristics conform to resolutions of the Council of the AICPA and that is
engaged in public practice. Also see auditor and engagement partner.

fraud. An intentional act by one or more individuals among management,
those charged with governance, employees, or third parties, involving the
use of deception that results in a misstatement in financial statements that
are the subject of an audit.

Although fraud is a broad legal concept, the auditor is primarily concerned
with fraud that causes a material misstatement in the financial state-
ments.

fraud risk factors. Events or conditions that indicate an incentive or pressure
to perpetrate fraud, provide an opportunity to commit fraud, or indicate
attitudes or rationalizations to justify a fraudulent action.

GAGAS. See Government Auditing Standards.

general purpose financial statements. Financial statements prepared in
accordance with a general purpose framework.

For audits of governmental entities, the term general purpose financial
statements, in the context of section 700, would be considered or referred
to as basic financial statements using the terms in the government's appli-
cable financial reporting framework. Also see financial statements.

11 See footnote 7.
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general purpose framework. A financial reporting framework designed to
meet the common financial information needs of a wide range of users. Also
see financial reporting framework.

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Reference to gener-
ally accepted accounting principles in GAAS means generally accepted ac-
counting principles promulgated by bodies designated by the Council of
the AICPA pursuant to the "Compliance With Standards Rule" and the
"Accounting Principles Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS). Statements on Auditing
Standards issued by the ASB, the senior committee of the AICPA desig-
nated to issue pronouncements on auditing matter for nonissuers. The
"Compliance With Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Con-
duct requires an AICPA member who performs an audit of a nonissuer to
comply with standards promulgated by the ASB. Also see nonissuer.

generally accepted government auditing standards. See Government
Auditing Standards.

Government Auditing Standards. Standards and guidance issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, U.S. Government Accountability
Office for financial audits, attestation engagements, and performance au-
dits. Government Auditing Standards also is known as generally accepted
government auditing standards (GAGAS) or the Yellow Book.

government program (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compli-
ance audit). The means by which governmental entities achieve their
objectives. For example, one of the objectives of the U.S. Department of
Agriculture is to provide nutrition to individuals in need. Examples of gov-
ernment programs designed to achieve that objective are the Supplemen-
tal Nutrition Assistance Program and the National School Lunch Program.
Government programs that are relevant to section 935, Compliance Audits,
are those in which a grantor or pass-through entity provides an award to
another entity, usually in the form of a grant, contract, or other agreement.
Not all government programs provide cash assistance; sometimes non-
cash assistance is provided (for example, a loan guarantee, commodities, or
property).

governmental audit organization. A governmental entity, agency, or other
department that is required or permitted by law or other authorization to
audit other governmental entities, agencies, or departments.

governmental audit requirement (in the context of adapting GAAS to
a compliance audit). A government requirement established by law, reg-
ulation, rule, or provision of contracts or grant agreements requiring that
an entity undergo an audit of its compliance with applicable compliance
requirements related to one or more government programs that the entity
administers.

grantor (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit). A
government agency from which funding for the government program orig-
inates.

group. All the components whose financial information is included in the group
financial statements. A group always has more than one component. Also
see component and significant component.

group audit. The audit of group financial statements. Also see initial audit
engagement, reaudit, and recurring audit.
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group audit opinion. The audit opinion on the group financial statements.
Also see modified opinion and unmodified opinion.

group engagement partner. The partner or other person in the firm who is
responsible for the group audit engagement and its performance and for
the auditor's report on the group financial statements that is issued on
behalf of the firm. When joint auditors conduct the group audit, the joint
engagement partners and their engagement teams collectively constitute
the group engagement partner and the group engagement team. Group
engagement partner and firm refer to their governmental equivalents when
relevant. Also see engagement partner and partner.

group engagement team. Partners, including the group engagement part-
ner, and staff who establish the overall group audit strategy, communicate
with component auditors, perform work on the consolidation process, and
evaluate the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence as the basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. Also see engage-
ment team.

group financial statements. Financial statements that include the financial
information of more than one component. The term group financial state-
ments also refers to combined financial statements aggregating the finan-
cial information prepared by components that are under common control.
Also see financial statements.

group management. Management responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the group financial statements. Also see management.

group-wide controls. Controls designed, implemented, and maintained by
group management over group financial reporting.

historical financial information. Information expressed in financial terms
regarding a particular entity, derived primarily from that entity's account-
ing system, about economic events occurring in past time periods or about
economic conditions or circumstances at points in time in the past. Also see
financial statements and interim financial information.

hypothetical transaction (in the context of section 915). A transaction or
financial reporting issue that does not involve facts or circumstances of a
specific entity.

included (in the context of section 920). References to information that is
included in a document are to be read to also encompass information that
is incorporated by reference in that document.

included or the inclusion of (in the context of section 925). References to
included or the inclusion of in a registration statement means included or
incorporated by reference in a registration statement filed under the 1933
Act.

inclusive method. A method of reporting that includes in the service audi-
tor's report, when a service organization uses a subservice organization,
the subservice organization's relevant control objectives and related con-
trols in the service organization's description of its system and in the scope
of the service auditor's engagement. Also see carve-out method.

inconsistency. Other information that conflicts with information contained
in the audited financial statements. A material inconsistency may raise
doubt about the audit conclusions drawn from audit evidence previously
obtained and, possibly, about the basis for the auditor's opinion on the fi-
nancial statements.
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incorporated by reference. See included and included or the inclusion
of.

independence.'? Consists of two elements, defined as follows:

a. Independence of mind is the state of mind that permits a member
to perform an attest service without being affected by influences
that compromise professional judgment, thereby allowing an in-
dividual to act with integrity and exercise objectivity and profes-
sional skepticism.

b. Independence in appearance is the avoidance of circumstances
that would cause a reasonable and informed third party who has
knowledge of all relevant information, including the safeguards
applied, to reasonably conclude that the integrity, objectivity, or
professional skepticism of a firm or member of the attest engage-
ment team is compromised.

This definition should not be interpreted as an absolute. For example, the
phrase "without being affected by influences that compromise professional
judgment" is not intended to convey that the member must be free of any
and all influences that might compromise objective judgment. Instead, the
member should determine whether such influences, if present, create a
threat that is not at an acceptable level that a member would not act with
integrity and exercise objectivity and professional skepticism in the con-
duct of a particular engagement or would be perceived as not being able
to do so by a reasonable and in-formed third party with knowledge of all
relevant information.

inherent risk. The susceptibility of an assertion about a class of transaction,
account balance, or disclosure to a misstatement that could be material,
either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, before
consideration of any related controls. Also see risk of material misstate-
ment.

inherent risk of noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to
a compliance audit). The susceptibility of a compliance requirement to
noncompliance that could be material, either individually or when aggre-
gated with other instances of noncompliance, before consideration of any
related controls over compliance. Also see risk of material noncompli-
ance.

initial audit engagement. An engagement in which either (a) the financial
statements for the prior period were not audited, or (b) the financial state-
ments for the prior period were audited by a predecessor auditor. Also see
group audit, reaudit, and recurring audit.

inputs. Refers, in some cases, to assumptions that may be made or identified by
a specialist to assist management in making accounting estimates. Inputs
may also refer to the underlying data to which specific assumptions are
applied. Also see observable inputs (or equivalent) and unobservable
inputs (or equivalent).

inspection.!?® A retrospective evaluation of the adequacy of the firm's qual-
ity control policies and procedures, its personnel's understanding of those
policies and procedures, and the extent of the firm's compliance with them.
Inspection includes a review of completed engagements.

12 Term defined in ET section 0.400, Definitions.
13 See footnote 3.
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interim financial information (in the context of section 930, Interim
Financial Information). Financial information prepared and presented
in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework that com-
prises either a complete or condensed set of financial statements covering
a period or periods less than one full year or covering a 12-month period
ending on a date other than the entity's fiscal year end. Also see historical
financial information.

internal audit function. A function of an entity that performs assurance and
consulting activities designed to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
the entity's governance, risk management, and internal control processes.

internal control. A process effected by those charged with governance, man-
agement, and other personnel that is designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance about the achievement of the entity's objectives with regard to the reli-
ability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Also see components of
internal control and deficiency in internal control.

internal control over financial reporting. A process effected by those
charged with governance, management, and other personnel, designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of reliable fi-
nancial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework and includes those policies and procedures that

i. pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the entity;

ii. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework, and that
receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in ac-
cordance with authorizations of management and those charged
with governance; and

iii. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely de-
tection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispo-
sition of the entity's assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

ICFR has inherent limitations. ICFR is a process that involves human diligence
and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting
from human failures. ICFR also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material
misstatements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely
basis by ICFR.

interpretive publications. Auditing interpretations of GAAS, auditing guid-
ance included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides, and AICPA Audit-
ing Statements of Position.

issuer. Section 3(a)(8) of the Securities Act of 1934 defines the term as follows:

The term "issuer" means any person who issues or proposes to issue any secu-
rity; except that with respect to certificates of deposit for securities, voting-trust
certificates, or collateral-trust certificates, or with respect to certificates of in-
terest or shares in an unincorporated investment trust not having a board of
directors or of the fixed, restricted management, or unit type, the term "issuer"
means the person or persons performing the acts and assuming the duties of
depositor or manager pursuant to the provisions of the trust or other agree-
ment or instrument under which such securities are issued; and except that
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with respect to equipment-trust certificates or like securities, the term "issuer"
means the person by whom the equipment or property is, or is to be, used. Also
see nonissuer.

judgmental misstatements. Differences arising from the judgments of man-
agement concerning accounting estimates that the auditor considers un-
reasonable or the selection or application of accounting policies that the
auditor considers inappropriate. Also see factual misstatements, mis-
statement, and projected misstatements.

key sources of estimation uncertainty. See critical accounting esti-
mates.

known questioned costs (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compli-
ance audit). Questioned costs specifically identified by the auditor. Known
questioned costs are a subset of likely questioned costs. Also see likely
questioned costs.

legal counsel (in the context of section 501, Audit Evidence—Specific
Considerations for Selected Items). The entity's in-house legal counsel
and external legal counsel.

likely questioned costs (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compli-
ance audit). The auditor's best estimate of total questioned costs, not just
the known questioned costs. Likely questioned costs are developed by ex-
trapolating from audit evidence obtained, for example, by projecting known
questioned costs identified in an audit sample to the entire population from
which the sample was drawn. Also see known questioned costs.

limitation on the scope of an audit. The auditor's inability to obtain suffi-
cient appropriate audit evidence, which may arise from the following:

a. Circumstances beyond the control of the entity

b. Circumstances relating to the nature or timing of the auditor's
work

c¢. Limitations imposed by management
Also may be referred to as a scope limitation.

management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of
the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes some or
all of those charged with governance; for example, executive members of a
governance board or an owner-manager.

In the context of section 210, Terms of Engagement, and section 580, Writ-
ten Representations, references to management are to be read as "manage-
ment and, when appropriate, those charged with governance" unless the
context suggests otherwise. Also see component management, group
management, and those charged with governance.

management bias. A lack of neutrality by management in the preparation
and fair presentation of information.

management's assessment about ICFR. Management's conclusion about
the effectiveness of the entity's ICFR, based on suitable and available cri-
teria. Management's assessment is included in management's report on
ICFR.

management's point estimate. The amount selected by management for
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements as an accounting es-
timate. Also see accounting estimate.
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management's specialist. An individual or organization possessing expertise
in a field other than accounting or auditing, whose work in that field is used
by the entity to assist the entity in preparing the financial statements. Also
see auditor's specialist.

material noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to a com-
pliance audit). In the absence of a definition of material noncompliance
in the governmental audit requirement, a failure to follow compliance re-
quirements or a violation of prohibitions included in the applicable compli-
ance requirements that results in noncompliance that is quantitatively or
qualitatively material, either individually or when aggregated with other
noncompliance, to the affected government program.

material weakness. A deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibil-
ity that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A reason-
ably possibility exists when the likelihood of an event occurring is either
reasonably possible or probably as defined as follows:

reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events oc-
curring is more than remote but less than likely.

probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

material weakness in internal control over compliance (in the context
of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit). A deficiency, or combina-
tion of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a compliance
requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely
basis. In section 935, a reasonable possibility exists when the likelihood of
an event occurring is either reasonably possible or probable as defined as
follows:

reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events oc-
curring is more than remote but less than likely.

probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

Also see deficiency in internal control over compliance and signifi-
cant deficiency in internal control over compliance.

misstatement. A difference between the amount, classification, presentation,
or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the amount, classi-
fication, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be pre-
sented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial reporting frame-
work. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error.

Misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifications,
presentations, or disclosures that, in the auditor's professional judgment,
are necessary for the financial statements to be presented fairly, in all ma-
terial respects. Also see factual misstatements, judgmental misstate-
ments, projected misstatements, and uncorrected misstatements.

misstatement of fact. Other information that is unrelated to matters appear-
ing in the audited financial statements that is incorrectly stated or pre-
sented. A material misstatement of fact may undermine the credibility of
the document containing audited financial statements.

modified opinion. A qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of
opinion. Also see group audit opinion and unmodified opinion.
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monitoring.'* A process comprising an ongoing consideration and evaluation
of the firm's system of quality control, including inspection or a periodic
review of engagement documentation, reports, and clients' financial state-
ments for a selection of completed engagements, designed to provide the
firm with reasonable assurance that its system of quality control is de-
signed appropriately and operating effectively.

nature of an audit procedure. Refers to the purpose (test of controls or sub-
stantive procedure) and type (inspection, observation, inquiry, confirma-
tion, recalculation, reperformance, or analytical procedure) of an audit pro-
cedure. Also see extent of an audit procedure and timing of an audit
procedure.

negative assurance (in the context of section 920). A statement that,
based on the procedures performed, nothing has come to the auditor's at-
tention that caused the auditor to believe that specified matters do not
meet specified criteria (for example, that nothing came to the auditor's at-
tention that caused the auditor to believe that any material modifications
should be made to the unaudited interim financial information for it to be
in accordance with GAAP).

negative confirmation request. A request that the confirming party re-
spond directly to the auditor only if the confirming party disagrees with
the information provided in the request. Also see positive confirmation
request.

network.'® An association of entities, as defined in ET section 0.400, Defini-
tions.

network firm.!® A firm or other entity that belongs to a network, as defined
in ET section 0.400.

noncompliance (in the context of section 250, Consideration of Laws
and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements). Acts of omis-
sion or commission by the entity, either intentional or unintentional, which
are contrary to the prevailing laws or regulations. Such acts include trans-
actions entered into by, or in the name of, the entity or on its behalf by those
charged with governance, management, or employees. Noncompliance does
not include personal misconduct (unrelated to the business activities of the
entity) by those charged with governance, management, or employees of
the entity.

nonissuer. Any entity not subject to the oversight authority of the PCAOB
(that is, those entities whose audits are not within the PCAOB's jurisdic-
tion as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended). Also see
generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) and issuer.

nonresponse. A failure of the confirming party to respond, or fully respond, to
a positive confirmation request or a confirmation request returned unde-
livered.

nonroutine transactions. Transactions that are unusual, either due to size
or nature, and that, therefore, occur infrequently.

nonsampling risk. The risk that the auditor reaches an erroneous conclusion
for any reason not related to sampling risk.

14 See footnote 7.
15 See footnote 7.
16 See footnote 7.
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nonstatistical sampling. See statistical sampling.
notes to financial statements. See financial statements.

observable. In the context of a fair value accounting estimate, the term ob-
servable refers to data that is readily available, such as published interest
rate data or exchange-traded prices of securities.

observable inputs (or equivalent). With respect to fair value accounting esti-
mates, assumptions or inputs that reflect what market participants would
use in pricing an asset or a liability, developed based on market data ob-
tained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Also see inputs
and unobservable inputs (or equivalent).

omitted procedure. An auditing procedure that the auditor considered neces-
sary in the circumstances existing at the time of the audit of the financial
statements but which was not performed.

opening balances. Those account balances that exist at the beginning of the
period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior
period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods
and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also
include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the
period, such as contingencies and commitments.

organization-wide audit (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compli-
ance audit). An audit of an entity's financial statements and an audit of
its compliance with the applicable compliance requirements as they relate
to one or more government programs that the entity administers. Also see
program-specific audit.

other auditing publications. Publications other than interpretive publi-
cations; these include AICPA auditing publications not defined as inter-
pretive publications; auditing articles in the Journal of Accountancy and
other professional journals; continuing professional education programs
and other instruction materials, textbooks, guide books, audit programs,
and checklists; and other auditing publications from state CPA societies,
other organizations, and individuals.

other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of logical, reason-
able criteria that is applied to all material items appearing in financial
statements. Also see other comprehensive bases of accounting and
special purpose framework.

other comprehensive bases of accounting. The cash basis, tax basis, reg-
ulatory basis, and other basis of accounting. Also see cash basis, regula-
tory basis, tax basis, and other basis.

other information. Financial and nonfinancial information (other than the
financial statements and the auditor's report thereon) that is included in a
document containing audited financial statements and the auditor's report
thereon, excluding required supplementary information.

Other information does not encompass, for example, the following:

® A press release or similar memorandum or cover letter accompa-
nying the document containing audited financial statements and
the auditor's report thereon

® Information contained in analyst briefings

® Information contained on the entity's website
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other-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the auditor's report that is
required by GAAS, or is included at the auditor's discretion, and that refers
to a matter other than those presented or disclosed in the financial state-
ments that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is relevant to users'
understanding of the audit, the auditor's responsibilities, or the auditor's
report. Also see emphasis-of-matter paragraph.

outcome of an accounting estimate. The actual monetary amount that re-
sults from the resolution of the underlying transaction(s), event(s), or con-
dition(s) addressed by the accounting estimate. Also see accounting esti-
mate.

owner-manager. The proprietor of a smaller entity who is involved in running
the entity on a day-to-day basis.

partner.'” Any individual with authority to bind the firm with respect to the
performance of a professional services engagement. For purposes of this
definition, partner may include an employee with this authority who has
not assumed the risks and benefits of ownership. Firms may use differ-
ent titles to refer to individuals with this authority. Also see engagement
partner and group engagement partner.

pass-through entity (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance
audit). An entity that receives an award from a grantor or other entity and
distributes all or part of it to another entity to administer a government
program.

performance materiality. The amount or amounts set by the auditor at less
than materiality for the financial statements as a whole to reduce to an ap-
propriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements
as a whole. If applicable, the term performance materiality also refers to
the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than the materiality
level or levels for particular classes of transactions, account balances, or
disclosures. Performance materiality is to be distinguished from tolerable
misstatement. Also see tolerable misstatement.

performing initial procedures. On both client continuance and evaluation
of relevant ethical requirements (including independence) at the beginning
of the current audit engagement, performing initial procedures means that
the procedures are completed prior to the performance of other significant
activities for the current audit engagement. For continuing audit engage-
ments, such initial procedures often begin shortly after (or in connection
with) the completion of the previous audit.

personnel.!® Partners and staff.

pervasive. A term used in the context of misstatements to describe the effects
on the financial statements of misstatements or the possible effects on the
financial statements of misstatements, if any, that are undetected due to an
inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Pervasive effects
on the financial statements are those that, in the auditor's professional
judgment

® are not confined to specific elements, accounts, or items of the fi-
nancial statements;

17 See footnote 7.
18 See footnote 7.
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® if so confined, represent or could represent a substantial propor-
tion of the financial statements; or

® with regard to disclosures, are fundamental to users' understand-
ing of the financial statements.

population. The entire set of data from which a sample is selected and about
which the auditor wishes to draw conclusions.

positive confirmation request. A request that the confirming party respond
directly to the auditor by providing the requested information or indicating
whether the confirming party agrees or disagrees with the information in
the request. Also see negative confirmation request.

practicable (in the context of section 705, Modifications to the Opinion
in the Independent Auditor’s Report). The term practicable'® means
that omitted information is reasonably obtainable from management's ac-
counts and records and that providing the information in the auditor's re-
port does not require the auditor to assume the position of a preparer of
financial information.

practical audit experience. Possessing the competencies and skills that
would have enabled the auditor to perform the audit but does not mean
that the auditor is required to have performed comparable audits. Also see
experienced auditor.

preconditions for an audit. The use by management of an acceptable finan-
cial reporting framework in the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements and the agreement of management and, when appro-
priate, those charged with governance, to the premise on which an audit is
conducted.

predecessor auditor. The auditor from a different audit firm who has reported
on the most recent audited financial statements or was engaged to perform
but did not complete an audit of the financial statements. Also see auditor.

premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, when
appropriate, those charged with governance, on which an audit
is conducted (the premise). Management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance have acknowledged and understand that they
have the following responsibilities that are fundamental to the conduct of
an audit in accordance with GAAS; that is, responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework;

b.  for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; and

c. to provide the auditor with

i. access to all information of which management and, when
appropriate, those charged with governance are aware
that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements, such as records, documentation,
and other matters;

19 As used in the context of paragraphs .18 and .20c of section 705, Modifications to the Opinion
in the Independent Auditor's Report.
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ii. additional information that the auditor may request from
management and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity from
whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.

The premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, when ap-
propriate, those charged with governance, on which an audit is conducted
may also be referred to as the premise.

prescribed guidelines. The authoritative guidelines established by the des-
ignated accounting standards setter for the methods of measurement and
presentation of the required supplementary information.

presumptively mandatory requirements.?’ The category of professional
requirements with which the auditor must comply in all cases in which
such a requirement is relevant, except in rare circumstances discussed in
section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct
of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.
GAAS use the word "should" to indicate a presumptively mandatory re-
quirement. Also see generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS)
and unconditional requirements.

preventive control. A control that has the objective of preventing errors or
fraud that could result in a misstatement of the financial statements.

private equity exchanges. Refers to entities that trade unregistered private
equity securities on electronic trading platforms.

probable (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit). The
future event or events are likely to occur. Also see material weakness in
internal control over compliance.

professional judgment. The application of relevant training, knowledge, and
experience, within the context provided by auditing, accounting, and eth-
ical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action
that are appropriate in the circumstances of the audit engagement.

professional skepticism. An attitude that includes a questioning mind, being
alert to conditions that may indicate possible misstatement due to fraud
or error, and a critical assessment of audit evidence.

professional standards.?! Standards promulgated by the ASB or the ARSC
under the "General Standards Rule" or the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, or other standards-
setting bodies that set auditing and attest standards applicable to the en-
gagement being performed and relevant ethical requirements.

program-specific audit (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compli-
ance audit). An audit of an entity's compliance with applicable compliance
requirements as they relate to one government program that the entity ad-
ministers. The compliance audit portion of a program-specific audit is per-
formed in conjunction with either an audit of the entity's or the program's
financial statements. Also see organization-wide audit.

20 Term also defined in paragraph .08 of QC section 10 for purposes of SQCSs. Refer to QC section
10 for specific language.

21 See footnote 7.
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projected misstatements. The auditor's best estimate of misstatements in
populations, involving the projection of misstatements identified in au-
dit samples to the entire population from which the samples were drawn.
Also see factual misstatements, judgmental misstatements, and mis-
statement.

purchase agreement. See underwriter.
purpose of an audit procedure. See nature of an audit procedure.

questioned costs (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance au-
dit). Costs that are questioned by the auditor because (a) of a violation or
possible violation of the applicable compliance requirements, (b) the costs
are not supported by adequate documentation, or (¢) the incurred costs ap-
pear unreasonable and do not reflect the actions that a prudent person
would take in the circumstances.

readily available. Obtainable by a third-party user without any further action
by the entity (for example, financial statements on an entity's website may
be considered readily available, but being available upon request is not
considered readily available).

reasonable assurance.?? In the context of an audit of financial statements, a
high, but not absolute, level of assurance.

reasonable period of time. The period of time required by the applicable
financial reporting framework or, if no such requirement exists, within one
year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or within one
year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued,
when applicable).

reasonably possible (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance
audit). The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than re-
mote but less than likely. Also see material weakness in internal con-
trol over compliance.

reaudit. An initial audit engagement to audit financial statements that have
been previously audited by a predecessor auditor. Also see group audit,
initial audit engagement, and recurring audit.

recurring audit. An audit engagement for an existing audit client for whom
the auditor performed the preceding audit. Also see group audit, initial
audit engagement, and reaudit.

reference to GAAP in GAAS. See generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP).

regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with
the requirements or financial reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to
whose jurisdiction the entity is subject (for example, a basis of accounting
that insurance companies use pursuant to the accounting practices pre-
scribed or permitted by a state insurance commission).

The regulatory basis of accounting is commonly referred to as other com-
prehensive bases of accounting. Also see other comprehensive bases of
accounting and special purpose framework.

related notes. See financial statements.

related party. A party defined as a related party in GAAP.

22 See footnote 7.
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relevant assertion. A financial statement assertion that has a reasonable pos-
sibility of containing a misstatement or misstatements that would cause
the financial statements to be materially misstated. The determination of
whether an assertion is a relevant assertion is made without regard to the
effect of internal controls.

relevant ethical requirements.?? Ethical requirements to which the engage-
ment team and engagement quality control reviewer are subject, which
consist of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct together with rules of
applicable state boards of accountancy and applicable regulatory agencies
that are more restrictive.

remote (in the context of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit). The
chance of the future event or events occurring is slight. Also see material
weakness in internal control over compliance.

report on compliance. An auditor's report on an entity's compliance with
aspects of contractual agreements or regulatory requirements, insofar as
they relate to accounting matters, in connection with an audit of finan-
cial statements (commonly referred to as a by-product report). Also see by-
product report.

report on management's description of a service organization's system
and the suitability of the design of controls (referred to in section 402,
Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization,
as a type 1 report). A report that comprises the following:

a. Management's description of the service organization's system

b. A written assertion by management of the service organization
about whether, in all material respects, and based on suitable cri-
teria

i. management's description of the service organization's
system fairly presents the service organization's system
that was designed and implemented as of a specified date

ii. the controls related to the control objectives stated in man-
agement's description of the service organization's system
were suitably designed to achieve those control objectives
as of the specified date

c. A service auditor's report that expresses an opinion on the mat-
ters in b(i—ii)
report on management's description of a service organization's sys-
tem and the suitability of the design and operating effectiveness
of controls (referred to in section 402 as a type 2 report). A report that
comprises the following:

a. Management's description of the service organization's system

b. A written assertion by management of the service organization
about whether in all material respects and, based on suitable cri-
teria

i. management's description of the service organization's
system fairly presents the service organization's system
that was designed and implemented throughout the spec-
ified period

23 See footnote 7.
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ii. the controls related to the control objectives stated in man-
agement's description of the service organization's system
were suitably designed throughout the specified period to
achieve those control objectives

iii. the controls related to the control objectives stated in man-
agement's description of the service organization's sys-
tem operated effectively throughout the specified period
to achieve those control objectives

c. A service auditor's report that
i. expresses an opinion on the matters in b(i—iii)

ii. includes a description of the service auditor's tests of con-
trols and the results thereof

report release date. The date the auditor grants the entity permission to use
the auditor's report in connection with the financial statements.

reporting accountant (in the context of section 915). An accountant,
other than a continuing accountant, in public practice, as described in ET
section 0.400, who prepares a written report or provides oral advice on
the application of the requirements of an applicable financial reporting
framework to a specific transaction or on the type of report that may be
issued on a specific entity's financial statements. (A reporting accountant
who is also engaged to provide accounting and reporting advice to a spe-
cific entity on a recurring basis is commonly referred to as an advisory
accountant.)

representative sample. See audit sampling (sampling).

requesting party (in the context of section 920). One of the following speci-
fied parties requesting a comfort letter, which has negotiated an agreement
with the entity:

An underwriter

Other parties that are conducting a review process that is, or will
be, substantially consistent with the due diligence process per-
formed when the securities offering is, or if the securities offering
was, being registered pursuant to the 1933 Act, as follows:

— A selling shareholder, sales agent, or other party with a
statutory due diligence defense under Section 11 of the
1933 Act

— A broker-dealer or other financial intermediary acting as
principal or agent in a securities offering in connection
with the following types of securities offerings:

® Foreign offerings, including Regulation S, Eu-
rodollar, and other offshore offerings

® Transactions that are exempt from the registra-
tion requirements of Section 5 of the 1933 Act,
including those pursuant to Regulation A, Regu-
lation D, and Rule 144A

® Offerings of securities issued or backed by gov-
ernmental, municipal, banking, tax-exempt, or
other entities that are exempt from registration
under the 1933 Act
— The buyer or seller in connection with acquisition transac-
tions in which there is an exchange of stock
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required supplementary information. Information that a designated ac-
counting standards setter requires to accompany an entity's basic financial
statements. Required supplementary information is not part of the basic
financial statements; however, a designated accounting standards setter
considers the information to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, eco-
nomic, or historical context. In addition, authoritative guidelines for the
methods of measurement and presentation of the information have been
established. Also see supplementary information.

retrospective application. An entity's application of a change in account-
ing principle to one or more prior periods that were included in previously
issued financial statements, as if that principle had always been used.

risk assessment procedures. The audit procedures performed to obtain an
understanding of the entity and its environment, including the entity's in-
ternal control, to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and relevant as-
sertion levels. Also see analytical procedures.

risk assessment process. See entity's risk assessment process.

risk of material misstatement. The risk that the financial statements are
materially misstated prior to the audit. This consists of two components,
described as follows at the assertion level:

inherent risk. The susceptibility of an assertion about a class of
transaction, account balance, or disclosure to a misstatement that
could be material, either individually or when aggregated with
other misstatements, before consideration of any related controls.

control risk. The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an
assertion about a class of transaction, account balance, or dis-
closure and that could be material, either individually or when
aggregated with other misstatements, will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity's internal
control.

Also see audit risk and detection risk.

risk of material misstatement at the overall financial statement level.
Refers to risks of material misstatement that relate pervasively to the fi-
nancial statements as a whole and potentially affect many assertions.

risk of material noncompliance (in the context of adapting GAAS to a
compliance audit). The risk that material noncompliance exists prior to
the audit. This consists of two components, described as follows:

inherent risk of noncompliance. The susceptibility of a compli-
ance requirement to noncompliance that could be material, either
individually or when aggregated with other instances of noncom-
pliance, before consideration of any related controls over compli-
ance.

control risk of noncompliance. The risk that noncompliance with
a compliance requirement that could occur and that could be
material, either individually or when aggregated with other in-
stances of noncompliance, will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis by the entity's internal control over
compliance.
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Also see audit risk of noncompliance and detection risk of noncom-
pliance.

sampling. See audit sampling (sampling).

sampling risk. The risk that the auditor's conclusion based on a sample may
be different from the conclusion if the entire population were subjected to
the same audit procedure. Sampling risk can lead to two types of erroneous
conclusions:

a. In the case of a test of controls, that controls are more effective
than they actually are, or in the case of a test of details, that a
material misstatement does not exist when, in fact, it does. The
auditor is primarily concerned with this type of erroneous con-
clusion because it affects audit effectiveness and is more likely to
lead to an inappropriate audit opinion.

b. Inthe case of a test of controls, that controls are less effective than
they actually are, or in the case of a test of details, that a material
misstatement exists when, in fact, it does not. This type of erro-
neous conclusion affects audit efficiency because it would usually
lead to additional work to establish that initial conclusions were
incorrect.

sampling unit. The individual items constituting a population.

scanning. A type of analytical procedure involving the auditor's exercise of
professional judgment to review accounting data to identify significant or
unusual items to test. Also see analytical procedures.

scope limitation. See limitation on the scope of an audit.

securities offerings (in the context of section 920). One of the following
types of securities offerings:

® Registration of securities with the SEC under the 1933 Act

® Foreign offerings, including Regulation S, Eurodollar, and other
offshore offerings

® Transactions that are exempt from the registration requirements
of Section 5 of the 1933 Act, including those pursuant to Regula-
tion A, Regulation D, and Rule 144A

® Offerings of securities issued or backed by governmental, munic-
ipal, banking, tax-exempt, or other entities that are exempt from
registration under the 1933 Act

® Acquisition transactions in which there is an exchange of stock

service auditor. A practitioner who reports on controls at a service organiza-
tion. Also see auditor.

service organization. An organization or segment of an organization that
provides services to user entities that are relevant to those user entities'
internal control over financial reporting. Also see subservice organiza-
tion and user entity.

service organization's system. The policies and procedures designed, im-
plemented, and documented by management of the service organization to
provide user entities with the services covered by the service auditor's re-
port. Management's description of the service organization's system iden-
tifies the services covered, the period to which the description relates (or
in the case of a type 1 report, the date to which the description relates), the

AU-C GLO ©2017, AICPA



Glossary of Terms 65

control objectives specified by management or an outside party, the party
specifying the control objectives (if not specified by management), and the
related controls.

significant component. A component identified by the group engagement
team (a) that is of individual financial significance to the group, or (b) that,
due to its specific nature or circumstances, is likely to include significant
risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements. Also see
component and group.

significant deficiency. A deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in in-
ternal control over financial reporting that is less severe than a material
weakness yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance. Also see material weakness.

significant deficiency in internal control over compliance (in the con-
text of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit). A deficiency, or a com-
bination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance that is less se-
vere than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Also see deficiency in internal control over compliance and mate-
rial weakness in internal control over compliance.

significant risk. An identified and assessed risk of material misstatement
that, in the auditor's professional judgment, requires special audit consid-
eration.

single financial statement or specific element of a financial statement
(in the context of section 805). Reference to this term includes the re-
lated notes. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies and other explanatory information relevant to the
financial statement or the specific element.

smaller, less complex entity. For purposes of specifying additional considera-
tions to audits of smaller, less complex entities, this term refers to an entity
that typically possesses qualitative characteristics, such as the following:

a. Concentration of ownership and management in a small number
of individuals; and

b.  One or more of the following:
i. Straightforward or uncomplicated transactions
ii. Simple record keeping

iii. Few lines of business and few products within business
lines

iv. Few internal controls
v. Few levels of management with responsibility for a broad
range of controls
vi. Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties
These qualitative characteristics are not exhaustive, they are not exclusive
to smaller, less complex entities, and smaller, less complex entities do not
necessarily display all of these characteristics.
special purpose financial statements. Financial statements prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework. Also see financial state-
ments.

special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework other than
GAAP that is one of the following bases of accounting:
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a. cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record
cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording depreci-
ation on fixed assets).

b. tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its tax
return for the period covered by the financial statements.

c¢. regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to
comply with the requirements or financial reporting provisions
of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject
(for example, a basis of accounting that insurance companies use
pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by
a state insurance commission).

d. contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to
comply with an agreement between the entity and one or more
third parties other than the auditor.

e. other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of log-
ical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items ap-
pearing in financial statements.

The cash basis, tax basis, regulatory basis, and other basis of accounting
are commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of accounting. Also
see financial reporting framework.

specialist. See auditor's specialist.

specific element of a financial statement. See single financial state-
ment.

specific transaction (in the context of section 915). A completed or pro-
posed transaction or group of related transactions or a financial reporting
issue involving facts and circumstances of a specific entity.

specified parties. The intended users of the auditor's written communication.

staff.?* Professionals, other than partners, including any specialists that the
firm employs.

statistical sampling. An approach to sampling that has the following charac-
teristics:

a. Random selection of the sample items

b. Theuse of an appropriate statistical technique to evaluate sample
results, including measurement of sampling risk

A sampling approach that does not have characteristics @ and b is consid-
ered nonstatistical sampling.

stratification. The process of dividing a population into subpopulations, each
of which is a group of sampling units that have similar characteristics.

subsequent events. Events occurring between the date of the financial state-
ments and the date of the auditor's report.

subsequently discovered facts. Facts that become known to the auditor af-
ter the date of the auditor's report that, had they been known to the auditor
at that date, may have caused the auditor to revise the auditor's report.

subservice organization. A service organization used by another service or-
ganization to perform some of the services provided to user entities that

24 See footnote 7.
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are relevant to those user entities' internal control over financial report-
ing. Also see service organization and user entity.

substantive analytical procedures. See analytical procedures and sub-
stantive procedure.

substantive procedure. An audit procedure designed to detect material mis-
statements at the assertion level. Substantive procedures comprise

a. tests of details (classes of transactions, account balances, and dis-
closures) and

b. substantive analytical procedures.

Also see analytical procedures, dual purpose test, and test of con-
trols.

successor auditor. See auditor.

sufficiency (of audit evidence). The measure of the quantity of audit evi-
dence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor's
assessment of the risks of material misstatement and also by the quality
of such audit evidence. Also see audit evidence.

suitably qualified external person.?® An individual outside the firm with
the competence and capabilities to act as an engagement partner (for ex-
ample, a partner of another firm).

summary financial statements (in the context of section 810). Historical
financial information that is derived from financial statements but that
contains less detail than the financial statements, while still providing a
structured representation consistent with that provided by the financial
statements of the entity's economic resources or obligations at a point in
time or the changes therein for a period of time. Summary financial state-
ments are separately presented and are not presented as comparative infor-
mation. Also see comparative information and financial statements.

supplementary information. Information presented outside the basic finan-
cial statements, excluding required supplementary information that is not
considered necessary for the financial statements to be fairly presented in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Such infor-
mation may be presented in a document containing the audited financial
statements or separate from the financial statements. Also see required
supplementary information.

tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its tax return for
the period covered by the financial statements.

The tax basis of accounting is commonly referred to as an other compre-
hensive basis of accounting. In the context of section 800, the tax basis of
accounting is not a regulatory basis of accounting. Also see other compre-
hensive bases of accounting and special purpose framework.

test of controls. An audit procedure designed to evaluate the operating ef-
fectiveness of controls in preventing, or detecting and correcting, material
misstatements at the assertion level. Also see dual purpose test and sub-
stantive procedure.

those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for ex-
ample, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the strategic
direction of the entity and the obligations related to the accountability of

25 See footnote 7.
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the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those
charged with governance may include management personnel; for exam-
ple, executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager. Also
see management.

threatened legal proceeding. A potential claimant has manifested to the
auditor an awareness of, and a present intention to assert, a possible claim.

timing of an audit procedure. Refers to when an audit procedure is per-
formed or the period or date to which the audit evidence applies. Also see
extent of an audit procedure and nature of an audit procedure.

tolerable misstatement. A monetary amount set by the auditor in respect of
which the auditor seeks to obtain an appropriate level of assurance that
the monetary amount set by the auditor is not exceeded by the actual mis-
statement in the population.

Tolerable misstatement is also the application of performance materiality
to a particular sampling procedure. Also see performance materiality.

tolerable rate of deviation. A rate of deviation set by the auditor in respect
of which the auditor seeks to obtain an appropriate level of assurance that
the rate of deviation set by the auditor is not exceeded by the actual rate
of deviation in the population.

type 1 report. See report on management's description of a service or-
ganization's system and the suitability of the design of controls.

type 2 report. See report on management's description of a service or-
ganization's system and the suitability of the design and operating
effectiveness of controls.

type of an audit procedure. See nature of an audit procedure.

unconditional requirements.?® The category of professional requirements
with which the auditor must comply in all cases in which such a require-
ment is relevant. GAAS use the word "must" to indicate an unconditional
requirement. Also see generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS)
and presumptively mandatory requirements.

uncorrected misstatements. Misstatements that the auditor has accumu-
lated during the audit and that have not been corrected. Also see mis-
statement.

understanding of the entity. Obtaining an understanding of the entity and
its environment, including the entity's internal control.

underwriter (in the context of section 920). As defined in the 1933 Act

any person who has purchased from an issuer with a view to, or offers or
sells for an issuer in connection with, the distribution of any security, or
participates or has a direct or indirect participation in any such undertak-
ing, or participates or has a participation in the direct or indirect under-
writing of any such undertaking; but such term shall not include a person
whose interest is limited to a commission from an underwriter or dealer
not in excess of the usual and customary distributors' or sellers' commis-
sion. As used in this paragraph, the term "issuer" shall include, in addition
to an issuer, any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by
the issuer, or any person under direct or indirect common control with the
issuer.

26 See footnote 20.
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Except when the context otherwise requires, the word underwriter as used
in section 920, refers to the managing, or lead, underwriter, who typically
negotiates the underwriting agreement or purchase agreement (hereafter
referred to as the underwriting agreement) for a group of underwriters
whose exact composition is not determined until shortly before a securi-
ties offering becomes effective.

underwriting agreement. See underwriter.

unmodified opinion. The opinion expressed by the auditor when the auditor
concludes that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
Also see group audit opinion and modified opinion.

unobservable inputs (or equivalent). With respect to fair value accounting
estimates, assumptions or inputs that reflect the entity's own judgments
about what assumptions market participants would use in pricing the as-
set or liability, developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances. Also see inputs and observable inputs (or equivalent).

user auditor. An auditor who audits and reports on the financial statements
of a user entity. Also see auditor.

user entity. An entity that uses a service organization and whose financial
statements are being audited. Also see service organization and sub-
service organization.

working papers or workpapers. See audit documentation and engage-
ment documentation.

written report (in the context of section 915). Any written communication
that provides a conclusion on the appropriate application of the require-
ments of an applicable financial reporting framework to a specific trans-
action or on the type of report that may be issued on a specific entity's
financial statements.

written representation. A written statement by management provided to
the auditor to confirm certain matters or to support other audit evidence.
Written representations in this context do not include financial statements,
the assertions therein, or supporting books and records.

Yellow Book. See Government Auditing Standards.
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AU-C Sections 200-299
GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The following is a Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards
(SASs) resulting from the Clarification and Convergence Project of the
Auditing Standards Board (ASB), and related Auditing Interpretations.
SASs are issued by the ASB, the senior committee of the AICPA desig-
nated to issue pronouncements on auditing matters. The "Compliance
With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Pro-
fessional Conduct requires adherence to the applicable generally ac-
cepted auditing standards (GAAS) promulgated by the ASB. An auditor
is required to comply with an unconditional requirement in all cases in
which the circumstances exist to which the unconditional requirement
applies. An auditor is also required to comply with a presumptively
mandatory requirement in all cases in which the circumstances exist
to which the presumptively mandatory requirement applies; however,
in rare circumstances, an auditor may depart from a presumptively
mandatory requirement provided the auditor documents justification
for the departure and how the alternative procedures performed in the
circumstances were sufficient to achieve the objectives of the presump-
tively mandatory requirement.

Auditing interpretations of GAAS are interpretive publications, as de-
fined in section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and
the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Au-
diting Standards. Section 200 requires the auditor to consider appli-
cable interpretive publications in planning and performing the audit.
Interpretive publications are not auditing standards. Interpretive pub-
lications are recommendations on the application of GAAS in specific
circumstances, including engagements for entities in specialized indus-
tries. An interpretive publication is issued under the authority of the
ASB after all ASB members have been provided an opportunity to con-
sider and comment on whether the proposed interpretive publication is
consistent with GAAS. Auditing interpretations of GAAS are included
in AU-C sections. AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and Auditing
Statements of Position are listed in AU-C appendix D, AICPA Audit
and Accounting Guides and Statements of Position.
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AU-C Section 200

Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor

and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance
With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

Source: SAS No. 122; SAS No. 123; SAS No. 128; SAS No. 130.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the independent auditor's overall responsibili-
ties when conducting an audit of financial statements in accordance with gen-
erally accepted auditing standards (GAAS). Specifically, it sets out the overall
objectives of the independent auditor (the auditor) and explains the nature and
scope of an audit designed to enable the auditor to meet those objectives. It also
explains the scope, authority, and structure of GAAS and includes requirements
establishing the general responsibilities of the auditor applicable in all engage-
ments conducted in accordance with GAAS, including the obligation to comply
with GAAS. [As amended, effective for integrated audits for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2016, by SAS No. 130.]

.02 GAAS are developed and issued in the form of Statements on Audit-
ing Standards (SASs) and are codified into AU-C sections. GAAS are written
in the context of an audit of financial statements by an auditor. They are to be
adapted as necessary in the circumstances when applied to other engagements
conducted in accordance with GAAS, such as audits of other historical financial
information, compliance audits, and audits of internal control over financial re-
porting that are integrated with audits of financial statements. GAAS do not
address the responsibilities of the auditor that may exist in legislation, regu-
lation, or otherwise, in connection with, for example, the offering of securities
to the public. Such responsibilities may differ from those established in GAAS.
Accordingly, although the auditor may find aspects of GAAS helpful in such
circumstances, it is the responsibility of the auditor to ensure compliance with
all relevant legal, regulatory, or professional obligations. [As amended, effective
for integrated audits for periods ending on or after December 15, 2016, by SAS
No. 130.]

Association With Financial Statements

.03 An auditor is associated with financial information when the au-
ditor has applied procedures sufficient to permit the auditor to report in
accordance with GAAS. Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services address the accountant's considerations when the accountant prepares
and presents financial statements to the entity or to third parties.
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An Audit of Financial Statements

.04 The purpose of an audit is to provide financial statement users with an
opinion by the auditor on whether the financial statements are presented fairly,
in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting
framework, which enhances the degree of confidence that intended users can
place in the financial statements. An audit conducted in accordance with GAAS
and relevant ethical requirements enables the auditor to form that opinion.
(Ref: par. .A1)

.05 The financial statements subject to audit are those of the entity, pre-
pared and presented by management of the entity with oversight from those
charged with governance. GAAS do not impose responsibilities on management
or those charged with governance and do not override laws and regulations
that govern their responsibilities. However, an audit in accordance with GAAS
is conducted on the premise that management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance have acknowledged certain responsibilities that are
fundamental to the conduct of the audit. The audit of the financial statements
does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their respon-
sibilities. (Ref: par. .A2-.A13)

.06 As the basis for the auditor's opinion, GAAS require the auditor to ob-
tain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Reason-
able assurance is a high, but not absolute, level of assurance. It is obtained
when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce
audit risk (that is, the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate opinion
when the financial statements are materially misstated) to an acceptably low
level. Reasonable assurance is not an absolute level of assurance because there
are inherent limitations of an audit that result in most of the audit evidence,
on which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the auditor's opinion, being
persuasive rather than conclusive. (Ref: par. .A32—.A56)

.07 The concept of materiality is applied by the auditor when both plan-
ning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the effect of identified mis-
statements on the audit and uncorrected misstatements, if any, on the finan-
cial statements.! In general, misstatements, including omissions, are consid-
ered to be material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users that are taken based
on the financial statements. Judgments about materiality are made in light of
surrounding circumstances, and involve both qualitative and quantitative con-
siderations. These judgments are affected by the auditor's perception of the fi-
nancial information needs of users of the financial statements, and by the size
or nature of a misstatement, or both. The auditor's opinion addresses the fi-
nancial statements as a whole. Therefore, the auditor has no responsibility to
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that misstatements,
whether caused by fraud or error, that are not material to the financial state-
ments as a whole, are detected. (Ref: par. .A14)

.08 GAAS contain objectives, requirements, and application and other
explanatory material that are designed to support the auditor in obtaining
reasonable assurance. GAAS require that the auditor exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and
performance of the audit and, among other things,

1 See section 320, Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit, and section 450, Evaluation
of Misstatements Identified During the Audit.
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® identify and assess risks of material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, based on an understanding of the entity and its
environment, including the entity's internal control.

® obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether ma-
terial misstatements exist, through designing and implementing
appropriate responses to the assessed risks.

® form an opinion on the financial statements, or determine that
an opinion cannot be formed, based on an evaluation of the audit
evidence obtained.

.09 The form of opinion expressed by the auditor will depend upon the
applicable financial reporting framework and any applicable law or regulation.

.10 The auditor also may have certain other communication and report-
ing responsibilities to users, management, those charged with governance, or
parties outside the entity, regarding matters arising from the audit. These re-
sponsibilities may be established by GAAS or by applicable law or regulation.?

Effective Date

.11 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Overall Objectives of the Auditor

.12 The overall objectives of the auditor, in conducting an audit of financial
statements, are to

a. obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, thereby enabling the auditor to express an
opinion on whether the financial statements are presented fairly,
in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial
reporting framework; and

b. report on the financial statements, and communicate as required
by GAAS, in accordance with the auditor's findings.

.13 In all cases when reasonable assurance cannot be obtained and a qual-
ified opinion in the auditor's report is insufficient in the circumstances for pur-
poses of reporting to the intended users of the financial statements, GAAS re-
quire that the auditor disclaim an opinion or withdraw from the engagement,
when withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation.

Definitions

.14 For purposes of GAAS, the following terms have the meanings at-
tributed as follows:

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial report-
ing framework adopted by management and, when appropriate,
those charged with governance in the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements that is acceptable in view of
the nature of the entity and the objective of the financial state-
ments, or that is required by law or regulation.

2 For examples, see section 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Gov-
ernance; section 265, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit; and
paragraph .42 of section 240, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit.
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Audit evidence. Information used by the auditor in arriving at
the conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based. Audit
evidence includes both information contained in the accounting
records underlying the financial statements and other informa-
tion. Sufficiency of audit evidence is the measure of the quantity
of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is
affected by the auditor's assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement and also by the quality of such audit evidence. Appro-
priateness of audit evidence is the measure of the quality of audit
evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing sup-
port for the conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based.

Audit risk. The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate
audit opinion when the financial statements are materially mis-
stated. Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstate-
ment and detection risk.

Auditor. The term used to refer to the person or persons conducting
the audit, usually the engagement partner or other members of
the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm. When an AU-C
section expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be
fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term engagement pariner
rather than auditor is used. Engagement partner and firm are to
be read as referring to their governmental equivalents when rel-
evant.

Detection risk. The risk that the procedures performed by the au-
ditor to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level will not detect
a misstatement that exists and that could be material, either in-
dividually or when aggregated with other misstatements.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to deter-
mine measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of
all material items appearing in the financial statements; for ex-
ample, U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), or a special
purpose framework.?

The term fair presentation framework is used to refer to a finan-
cial reporting framework that requires compliance with the re-
quirements of the framework and

a. acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair
presentation of the financial statements, it may be neces-
sary for management to provide disclosures beyond those
specifically required by the framework; or

b. acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for man-
agement to depart from a requirement of the framework to
achieve fair presentation of the financial statements. Such
departures are expected to be necessary only in extremely
rare circumstances.

A financial reporting framework that requires compliance with
the requirements of the framework, but does not contain the ac-
knowledgments in (a) or (b) is not a fair presentation framework.

3 See section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accor-
dance With Special Purpose Frameworks.
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Financial statements. A structured representation of historical fi-
nancial information, including related notes, intended to commu-
nicate an entity's economic resources and obligations at a point
in time or the changes therein for a period of time in accordance
with a financial reporting framework. The related notes ordinar-
ily comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information. The term financial statements or-
dinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as deter-
mined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework, but can also refer to a single financial statement.

Historical financial information. Information expressed in finan-
cial terms regarding a particular entity, derived primarily from
that entity's accounting system, about economic events occur-
ring in past time periods or about economic conditions or circum-
stances at points in time in the past.

Interpretive publications. Auditing interpretations of GAAS, au-
diting guidance included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides,
and AICPA Auditing Statements of Position (SOP).

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the
conduct of the entity's operations. For some entities, management
includes some or all of those charged with governance; for ex-
ample, executive members of a governance board or an owner-
manager.

Misstatement. A difference between the amount, classification, pre-
sentation, or disclosure of a reported financial statement item
and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is
required for the item to be presented fairly in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error.

Other auditing publications. Publications other than interpretive
publications; these include AICPA auditing publications not de-
fined as interpretive publications; auditing articles in the Jour-
nal of Accountancy and other professional journals; continuing
professional education programs and other instruction materials,
textbooks, guide books, audit programs, and checklists; and other
auditing publications from state CPA societies, other organiza-
tions, and individuals.

Premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and,
when appropriate, those charged with governance, on
which an audit is conducted (the premise). Management and,
when appropriate, those charged with governance have acknowl-
edged and understand that they have the following responsibili-
ties that are fundamental to the conduct of an audit in accordance
with GAAS; that is, responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable financial re-
porting framework;

b. for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

c. to provide the auditor with
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i. access to all information of which manage-
ment and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance are aware that is relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements, such as records, documentation, and
other matters;

ii. additional information that the auditor may re-
quest from management and, when appropriate,
those charged with governance for the purpose of
the audit; and

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity
from whom the auditor determines it necessary
to obtain audit evidence.

The premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and,
when appropriate, those charged with governance, on which an
audit is conducted may also be referred to as the premise.

Professional judgment. The application of relevant training,
knowledge, and experience, within the context provided by au-
diting, accounting, and ethical standards, in making informed de-
cisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances of the audit engagement.

Professional skepticism. An attitude that includes a questioning
mind, being alert to conditions that may indicate possible mis-
statement due to fraud or error, and a critical assessment of audit
evidence.

Reasonable assurance. In the context of an audit of financial state-
ments, a high, but not absolute, level of assurance.

Risk of material misstatement. The risk that the financial state-
ments are materially misstated prior to the audit. This consists
of two components, described as follows at the assertion level:

Inherent risk. The susceptibility of an assertion about a
class of transaction, account balance, or disclosure to a
misstatement that could be material, either individually
or when aggregated with other misstatements, before con-
sideration of any related controls.

Control risk. The risk that a misstatement that could occur
in an assertion about a class of transaction, account bal-
ance, or disclosure and that could be material, either in-
dividually or when aggregated with other misstatements,
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis by the entity's internal control.

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s)
(for example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for oversee-
ing the strategic direction of the entity and the obligations related
to the accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the fi-
nancial reporting process. Those charged with governance may
include management personnel; for example, executive members
of a governance board or an owner-manager.
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Requirements

Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial
Statements

.15 The auditor must be independent of the entity when performing an
engagement in accordance with GAAS unless (a) GAAS provides otherwise or
(b) the auditor is required by law or regulation to accept the engagement and
report on the financial statements. When the auditor is not independent and
neither (a) nor (b) are applicable, the auditor is precluded from issuing a report
under GAAS.

.16 The auditor should comply with relevant ethical requirements relating
to financial statement audit engagements. (Ref: par. .A15-.A21)

Professional Skepticism

.17 The auditor should plan and perform an audit with professional skep-
ticism, recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause the financial state-
ments to be materially misstated. (Ref: par. .A22—-.A26)

Professional Judgment

.18 The auditor should exercise professional judgment in planning and
performing an audit of financial statements. (Ref: par. .A27-.A31)

Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence and Audit Risk

.19 To obtain reasonable assurance, the auditor should obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level and
thereby enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the
auditor's opinion. (Ref: par. .A32—-.A56)

Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With GAAS

Complying With AU-C Sections Relevant to the Audit

.20 The auditor should comply with all AU-C sections relevant to the audit.
An AU-C section is relevant to the audit when the AU-C section is in effect and
the circumstances addressed by the AU-C section exist. (Ref: par. .A57—-.A62)

.21 The auditor should have an understanding of the entire text of an AU-C
section, including its application and other explanatory material, to understand
its objectives and to apply its requirements properly. (Ref: par. . A63—.A71)

.22 The auditor should not represent compliance with GAAS in the au-
ditor's report unless the auditor has complied with the requirements of this
section and all other AU-C sections relevant to the audit.

Objectives Stated in Individual AU-C Sections

.23 To achieve the overall objectives of the auditor, the auditor should use
the objectives stated in individual AU-C sections in planning and performing
the audit considering the interrelationships within GAAS to (Ref: par. .A72—
AT4)
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a. determine whether any audit procedures in addition to those re-
quired by individual AU-C sections are necessary in pursuance of
the objectives stated in each AU-C section; and (Ref: par. .A75)

b. evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been
obtained. (Ref: par. .A76)

Complying With Relevant Requirements

.24 Subject to paragraph .26, the auditor should comply with each require-
ment of an AU-C section unless, in the circumstances of the audit,

a. the entire AU-C section is not relevant; or

b. the requirement is not relevant because it is conditional and the
condition does not exist. (Ref: par. . A77-.A78)

Defining Professional Responsibilities in GAAS

.25 GAAS use the following two categories of professional requirements,
identified by specific terms, to describe the degree of responsibility it imposes
on auditors:

® Unconditional requirements. The auditor must comply with an
unconditional requirement in all cases in which such requirement
is relevant. GAAS use the word "must" to indicate an uncondi-
tional requirement.

® Presumptively mandatory requirements. The auditor must com-
ply with a presumptively mandatory requirement in all cases in
which such a requirement is relevant except in rare circumstances
discussed in paragraph .26. GAAS use the word "should" to indi-
cate a presumptively mandatory requirement. (Ref: par. .A79)

.26 In rare circumstances, the auditor may judge it necessary to depart
from a relevant presumptively mandatory requirement. In such circumstances,
the auditor should perform alternative audit procedures to achieve the intent of
that requirement. The need for the auditor to depart from a relevant presump-
tively mandatory requirement is expected to arise only when the requirement
is for a specific procedure to be performed and, in the specific circumstances
of the audit, that procedure would be ineffective in achieving the intent of the
requirement. (Ref: par. .A80)

Interpretive Publications

.27 The auditor should consider applicable interpretive publications in
planning and performing the audit. (Ref: par. .A81)

Other Auditing Publications

.28 In applying the auditing guidance included in an other auditing pub-
lication, the auditor should, exercising professional judgment, assess the rele-
vance and appropriateness of such guidance to the circumstances of the audit.
(Ref: par. .A82—-.A84)

Failure to Achieve an Objective

.29 If an objective in a relevant AU-C section cannot be achieved, the audi-
tor should evaluate whether this prevents the auditor from achieving the over-
all objectives of the auditor and thereby requires the auditor, in accordance with
GAAS, to modify the auditor's opinion or withdraw from the engagement (when
withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation). Failure to achieve
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an objective represents a significant finding or issue requiring documentation
in accordance with section 230, Audit Documentation.* (Ref: par. .A85—.A86)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

An Audit of Financial Statements
Scope of the Audit (Ref: par. .04)

.Al The auditor's opinion on the financial statements addresses whether
the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Such an opinion is
common to all audits of financial statements. The auditor's opinion, therefore,
does not assure, for example, the future viability of the entity nor the efficiency
or effectiveness with which management has conducted the affairs of the en-
tity. In some circumstances, however, applicable law or regulation may require
auditors to provide opinions on other specific matters, such as the effectiveness
of internal control. Although GAAS include requirements and regarding such
matters to the extent that they are relevant to forming an opinion on the finan-
cial statements, the auditor would be required to undertake further work if the
auditor had additional responsibilities to provide such opinions.

Preparation and Fair Presentation of the Financial Statements
(Ref: par. .05)

A2 An audit in accordance with GAAS is conducted on the premise that
management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance have ac-
knowledged and understand that they have responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework;

b.  for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; and

c¢. to provide the auditor with

i. access to all information of which management and, when
appropriate, those charged with governance are aware
that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements, such as records, documentation,
and other matters;

ii. additional information that the auditor may request from
management and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity from

whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.

.A3 The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements by
management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance require

® the identification of the applicable financial reporting framework,
in the context of any relevant laws or regulations.

4 Paragraph .08c of section 230, Audit Documentation.
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® the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with that framework.

® the inclusion of an adequate description of that framework in the
financial statements.

The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements require man-
agement to exercise judgment in making accounting estimates that are rea-
sonable in the circumstances, as well as in selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies. These judgments are made in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

.A4 The auditor may make suggestions about the form or content of the
financial statements, or assist management by preparing them, in whole or in
part, based on information provided to the auditor by management during the
performance of the audit.” However, the auditor's responsibility for the audited
financial statements is confined to the expression of the auditor's opinion on
them.

[Revised, October 2013, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the re-
vision of Ethics Interpretation No. 101-3.]

A5 The financial statements may be prepared in accordance with the fol-
lowing:

® A general purpose framework (a financial reporting framework
designed to meet the common financial information needs of a
wide range of users); or

® A special purpose framework (a financial reporting framework,
other than generally accepted accounting principles, which is a
cash, tax, regulatory, contractual basis of accounting, or other ba-
sis of accounting; an other basis of accounting uses a definite set
of logical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items
appearing in financial statements).

[Revised, July 2013, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SAS No. 127.]

.A6 The applicable financial reporting framework often encompasses fi-
nancial accounting standards promulgated by an authorized or recognized
standards-setting organization, or legislative or regulatory requirements. In
some cases, the financial reporting framework may encompass both financial
accounting standards promulgated by an authorized or recognized standards-
setting organization and legislative or regulatory requirements. Other sources
may provide direction on the application of the applicable financial reporting
framework. In some cases, the applicable financial reporting framework may
encompass such other sources, or may even consist only of such sources. Such
other sources may include the following:

* In January 2013, the Professional Ethics Executive Committee adopted a provision in the
"Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services" interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.010) under the "Inde-
pendence Rule" (ET sec. 1.200.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. This provision pro-
vides, among other things, that financial statement preparation is considered outside the scope of the
attest engagement and, therefore, constitutes a nonattest service subject to the requirements of the
"Nonattest Services" subtopic (ET sec. 1.295). The provision is effective for engagements covering pe-
riods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. [Footnote added, October 2013, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the revision of Ethics Interpretation No. 101-3. Footnote revised, January
2015, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of the revised AICPA Code of Pro-
fessional Conduct, effective December 15, 2014.]
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® The legal and ethical environment, including statutes, regula-
tions, court decisions, and professional ethical obligations regard-
ing accounting matters;

® Published accounting interpretations of varying authority issued
by standards-setting, professional, or regulatory organizations;

® Published views of varying authority on emerging accounting is-
sues issued by standards-setting, professional, or regulatory orga-
nizations;

® General and industry practices widely recognized and prevalent;
and

®  Accounting literature.

When conflicts exist between the financial reporting framework and the sources
from which direction on its application may be obtained, or among the sources
that encompass the financial reporting framework, the source with the highest
authority prevails.

.A7 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework de-
termine the form and content of the financial statements. Although the frame-
work may not specify how to account for or disclose all transactions or events,
it ordinarily embodies sufficiently broad principles that can serve as a basis
for developing and applying accounting policies that are consistent with the
concepts underlying the requirements of the framework.

.A8 The financial accounting standards promulgated by organizations that
are authorized or recognized to promulgate standards to be used by entities for
preparing financial statements in accordance with a general purpose frame-
work include Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification, issued by FASB; IFRSs, issued by the IASB; Statements
of Federal Financial Accounting Standards, issued by the Federal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board for U.S. federal government entities; and Statements
of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, issued by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board for U.S. state and local governmental entities.

.A9 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework also
determine what constitutes a complete set of financial statements. In the case
of many frameworks, financial statements are intended to provide information
about the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of an entity.
For example, a complete set of financial statements might include a balance
sheet, an income statement, a statement of changes in equity, a cash flow state-
ment, and related notes. For some other financial reporting frameworks, a sin-
gle financial statement and the related notes might constitute a complete set of
financial statements. Examples of a single financial statement, each of which
would include related notes, include the following:

Balance sheet

Statement of income or statement of operations
Statement of retained earnings

Statement of cash flows

Statement of assets and liabilities

Statement of changes in owners' equity

Statement of revenue and expenses

Statement of operations by product lines
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A10 Section 210, Terms of Engagement, establishes requirements and pro-
vides guidance on determining the acceptability of the applicable financial
reporting framework.? Section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Finan-
cial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks, ad-
dresses engagements in which the auditor issues a report in connection with
financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework.

.A11 Because of the significance of the premise to the conduct of an au-
dit, the auditor is required to obtain the agreement of management and, when
appropriate, those charged with governance, that they acknowledge and under-
stand that they have the responsibilities set out in paragraph .A2 as a precon-
dition for accepting the audit engagement.®

Considerations Specific to Audits of Governmental Entities

.Al12 The requirements for audits of the financial statements of govern-
mental entities may be broader than those of other entities. As a result, the
premise, relating to management's responsibilities, on which an audit of the
financial statements of a governmental entity is conducted, may include ad-
ditional responsibilities, such as the responsibility for the execution of trans-
actions and events in accordance with law, regulation, or other authority. (See
paragraph .A63.)

.A13 In audits of governmental entities, auditors may have a responsibil-
ity under law, regulation, contract, or grant agreement to report to third parties,
such as funding agencies or oversight bodies.

Materiality (Ref: par. .07)

Considerations Specific to Audits of Governmental Entities

.Al14 For most state or local governmental entities, the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework is based on multiple reporting units, and therefore
requires the presentation of financial statements for its activities in various re-
porting units. Consequently, a reporting unit, or aggregation of reporting units,
of the governmental entity represents an opinion unit to the auditor. Gener-
ally, the auditor expresses or disclaims an opinion on a government's financial
statements as a whole by expressing an opinion or disclaiming an opinion on
each opinion unit. In this context, the auditor is responsible for the detection
of misstatements that are material to an opinion unit within a governmental
entity, but is not responsible for the detection of misstatements that are not
material to an opinion unit.

Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial
Statements (Ref: par. .16)

.A15 The auditor is subject to relevant ethical requirements relating to
financial statement audit engagements. Ethical requirements consist of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct together with rules of state boards of ac-
countancy and applicable regulatory agencies that are more restrictive.

.A16 The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct establishes the fundamen-
tal principles of professional ethics, which include the following:

® Responsibilities
® The public interest

5 Paragraph .06a of section 210, Terms of Engagement.
6 Paragraph .06b of section 210.
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Integrity

Objectivity and independence
Due care

Scope and nature of services

.A17 In the case of an audit engagement, it is in the public interest and,
therefore, required by this section, that the auditor be independent of the entity
subject to the audit. The concept of independence refers to both independence
in fact and independence in appearance. The auditor's independence from the
entity safeguards the auditor's ability to form an audit opinion without being
affected by influences that might compromise that opinion. Independence en-
hances the auditor's ability to act with integrity, to be objective, and to main-
tain an attitude of professional skepticism. Independence implies an impartial-
ity that recognizes an obligation to be fair not only to management and those
charged with governance of an entity but also users of the financial statements
who may rely upon the independent auditor's report. Guidance on threats to
independence is set forth in the AICPA's "Conceptual Framework for Inde-
pendence" (ET sec. 1.210.010). [Revised, January 2015, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of the revised AICPA Code of Profes-
sional Conduct, effective December 15, 2014.]

.A18 When the auditor is not independent but is required by law or reg-
ulation to report on the financial statements, section 705, Modifications to the
Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report, applies.

.A19 Due care requires the auditor to discharge professional responsibil-
ities with competence and to have the appropriate capabilities to perform the
audit and enable an appropriate auditor's report to be issued.

A20 QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control, sets out the firm's
responsibilities to establish and maintain its system of quality control for au-
dit engagements, and to establish policies and procedures designed to provide it
with reasonable assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with relevant
ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence.” Section 220,
Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance With Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards, addresses the engagement partner's responsi-
bilities regarding relevant ethical requirements. These include remaining alert
for evidence of noncompliance with relevant ethical requirements by members
of the engagement team, determining, in consultation with others in the firm
as appropriate, the appropriate action if matters come to the engagement part-
ner's attention, through the firm's system of quality control or otherwise, that
indicate that members of the engagement team have not complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements, and forming a conclusion on compliance with in-
dependence requirements that apply to the audit engagement.® Section 220
recognizes that the engagement team is entitled to rely on a firm's system of
quality control in meeting its responsibilities with respect to quality control
procedures applicable to the individual audit engagement, unless the engage-
ment partner determines that it is inappropriate to do so based on information
provided by the firm or other parties.

Considerations Specific to Audits of Governmental Entities

.A21 In addition to the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct and GAAS,
Government Auditing Standards, which may be required by law, regulation,

7 Paragraphs .21-.25 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control.

8 Paragraphs .11-.13 of section 220, Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance
With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.
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contract, or grant agreement in audits of governmental entities and entities
that receive government awards, set forth relevant ethical principles and au-
diting standards, including standards on auditor independence, professional
judgment, competence, and audit quality control and assurance.

Professional Skepticism (Ref: par. .17)

.A22 Professional skepticism includes being alert to the following, for ex-
ample,

Audit evidence that contradicts other audit evidence obtained.

Information that brings into question the reliability of documents
and responses to inquiries to be used as audit evidence.

Conditions that may indicate possible fraud.

Circumstances that suggest the need for audit procedures in ad-
dition to those required by GAAS.

.A23 Maintaining professional skepticism throughout the audit is neces-
sary if the auditor is, for example, to reduce the risks of

® overlooking unusual circumstances.

® over-generalizing when drawing conclusions from audit observa-
tions.

® using inappropriate assumptions in determining the nature, tim-
ing, and extent of the audit procedures and evaluating the results
thereof.

.A24 Professional skepticism is necessary to the critical assessment of au-
dit evidence. This includes questioning contradictory audit evidence and the
reliability of documents and responses to inquiries and other information ob-
tained from management and those charged with governance. It also includes
consideration of the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained
in light of the circumstances; for example, in the case when fraud risk factors
exist and a single document, of a nature that is susceptible to fraud, is the sole
supporting evidence for a material financial statement amount.

.A25 The auditor may accept records and documents as genuine unless
the auditor has reason to believe the contrary. Nevertheless, the auditor is re-
quired to consider the reliability of information to be used as audit evidence.®
In cases of doubt about the reliability of information or indications of possible
fraud (for example, if conditions identified during the audit cause the auditor to
believe that a document may not be authentic or that terms in a document may
have been falsified), GAAS require that the auditor investigate further and de-
termine what modifications or additions to audit procedures are necessary to
resolve the matter.1°

.A26 The auditor neither assumes that management is dishonest nor as-
sumes unquestioned honesty. The auditor cannot be expected to disregard past
experience of the honesty and integrity of the entity's management and those
charged with governance. Nevertheless, a belief that management and those
charged with governance are honest and have integrity does not relieve the au-
ditor of the need to maintain professional skepticism or allow the auditor to be

9 Paragraphs .07—.09 of section 500, Audit Evidence.

10 Paragraph .10 of section 500 and paragraphs .10—.11 and .16 of section 505, External Confir-
mations.
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satisfied with less than persuasive audit evidence when obtaining reasonable
assurance.

Professional Judgment (Ref: par. .18)

.A27 Professional judgment is essential to the proper conduct of an audit.
This is because interpretation of relevant ethical requirements and GAAS and
the informed decisions required throughout the audit cannot be made without
the application of relevant knowledge and experience to the facts and circum-
stances. In particular, professional judgment is necessary regarding decisions
about the following:

® Materiality and audit risk

® The nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures used to meet
the requirements of GAAS and gather audit evidence

® Evaluating whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has
been obtained, and whether more needs to be done to achieve
the objectives of GAAS and thereby, the overall objectives of the
auditor

® The evaluation of management's judgments in applying the
entity's applicable financial reporting framework

® The drawing of conclusions based on the audit evidence obtained;
for example, assessing the reasonableness of the estimates made
by management in preparing the financial statements

A28 The distinguishing feature of professional judgment expected of an
auditor is that such judgment is exercised based on competencies necessary
to achieve reasonable judgments, developed by the auditor through relevant
training, knowledge, and experience.

.A29 The exercise of professional judgment in any particular case is based
on the facts and circumstances that are known by the auditor. Consultation
on difficult or contentious matters during the course of the audit, both within
the engagement team and between the engagement team and others at the
appropriate level within or outside the firm, such as those required by section
220, assists the auditor in making informed and reasonable judgments.!!

.A30 Professional judgment can be evaluated based on whether the judg-
ment reached reflects a competent application of auditing standards and ac-
counting principles and is appropriate in light of, and consistent with, the facts
and circumstances that were known to the auditor up to the date of the auditor's
report.

.A31 Professional judgment needs to be exercised throughout the audit.
It also needs to be appropriately documented. In this regard, the auditor is
required to prepare audit documentation sufficient to enable an experienced
auditor, having no previous connection with the audit, to understand the sig-
nificant professional judgments made in reaching conclusions on significant
findings or issues arising during the audit.!? Professional judgment is not to be
used as the justification for decisions that are not otherwise supported by the
facts and circumstances of the engagement or by sufficient appropriate audit
evidence.

1 Paragraph .20 of section 220.
12 Paragraph .08 of section 230.
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Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence and Audit Risk
(Ref: par. .19)

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence

.A32 Audit evidence is necessary to support the auditor's opinion and re-
port. It is cumulative in nature and is primarily obtained from audit procedures
performed during the course of the audit. It may, however, also include informa-
tion obtained from other sources such as previous audits (provided the auditor
has determined whether changes have occurred since the previous audit that
may affect its relevance to the current audit'?) or a firm's quality control proce-
dures for client acceptance and continuance. In addition to other sources inside
and outside the entity, the entity's accounting records are an important source
of audit evidence. Also, information that may be used as audit evidence may
have been prepared by a specialist employed or engaged by the entity. Audit
evidence comprises both information that supports and corroborates manage-
ment's assertions and any information that contradicts such assertions. In ad-
dition, in some cases, the absence of information (for example, management's
refusal to provide a requested representation) is used by the auditor, and, there-
fore, also constitutes audit evidence. Most of the auditor's work in forming the
auditor's opinion consists of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence.

.A33 The sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence are interre-
lated. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity
of audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor's assessment of the risks of
misstatement (the higher the assessed risks, the more audit evidence is likely
to be required) and also by the quality of such audit evidence (the higher the
quality, the less may be required). Obtaining more audit evidence, however, may
not compensate for its poor quality.

.A34 Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that
is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support for the conclusions on
which the auditor's opinion is based. The reliability of evidence is influenced by
its source and by its nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances
under which it is obtained.

.A35 Whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to
reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level, and thereby to enable the auditor
to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor's opinion, is a mat-
ter of professional judgment. Section 500, Audit Evidence, and other relevant
AU-C sections, establish additional requirements and provide further guidance
applicable throughout the audit regarding the auditor's considerations in ob-
taining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

Audit Risk

.A36 Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and
detection risk. The assessment of risks is based on audit procedures to obtain
information necessary for that purpose and evidence obtained throughout the
audit. The assessment of risks is a matter of professional judgment, rather than
a matter capable of precise measurement.

.A37 For purposes of GAAS, audit risk does not include the risk that the
auditor might express an opinion that the financial statements are materially
misstated when they are not. This risk is ordinarily insignificant. Further, audit

13 Paragraph .10 of section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing
the Risks of Material Misstatement.
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risk is a technical term related to the process of auditing; it does not refer to
the auditor's business risks, such as loss from litigation, adverse publicity, or
other events arising in connection with the audit of financial statements.

Risks of Material Misstatement
.A38 The risks of material misstatement exist at two levels:

® The overall financial statement level

® The assertion level for classes of transactions, account balances,
and disclosures

.A39 Risks of material misstatement at the overall financial statement
level refer to risks of material misstatement that relate pervasively to the fi-
nancial statements as a whole and potentially affect many assertions.

.A40 Risks of material misstatement at the assertion level are assessed
in order to determine the nature, timing, and extent of further audit proce-
dures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. This evidence
enables the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements at an ac-
ceptably low level of audit risk. Auditors use various approaches to accomplish
the objective of assessing the risks of material misstatement. For example, the
auditor may make use of a model that expresses the general relationship of the
components of audit risk in mathematical terms to arrive at an acceptable level
of detection risk. Some auditors find such a model to be useful when planning
audit procedures.

.A41 The risks of material misstatement at the assertion level consist of
two components: inherent risk and control risk. Inherent risk and control risk
are the entity's risks; they exist independently of the audit of the financial
statements.

.A42 Inherent risk is higher for some assertions and related classes of
transactions, account balances, and disclosures than for others. For example,
it may be higher for complex calculations or for accounts consisting of amounts
derived from accounting estimates that are subject to significant estimation
uncertainty. External circumstances giving rise to business risks may also in-
fluence inherent risk. For example, technological developments might make a
particular product obsolete, thereby causing inventory to be more susceptible
to overstatement. Factors in the entity and its environment that relate to sev-
eral or all of the classes of transactions, account balances, or disclosures may
also influence the inherent risk related to a specific assertion. Such factors may
include, for example, a lack of sufficient working capital to continue operations
or a declining industry characterized by a large number of business failures.

.A43 Control risk is a function of the effectiveness of the design, imple-
mentation, and maintenance of internal control by management to address
identified risks that threaten the achievement of the entity's objectives rele-
vant to preparation and fair presentation of the entity's financial statements.
However, internal control, no matter how well designed and operated, can only
reduce, but not eliminate, risks of material misstatement in the financial state-
ments, because of the inherent limitations of internal control. These include,
for example, the possibility of human errors or mistakes, or of controls being
circumvented by collusion or inappropriate management override. Accordingly,
some control risk will always exist. GAAS provide the conditions under which
the auditor is required to, or may choose to, test the operating effectiveness
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of controls in determining the nature, timing, and extent of substantive proce-
dures to be performed.!*

.A44 GAAS do not ordinarily refer to inherent risk and control risk sepa-
rately, but rather to a combined assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment. However, the auditor may make separate or combined assessments of
inherent and control risk depending on preferred audit techniques or method-
ologies and practical considerations. The assessment of the risks of material
misstatement may be expressed in quantitative terms, such as in percentages
or in nonquantitative terms. In any case, the need for the auditor to make ap-
propriate risk assessments is more important than the different approaches by
which they may be made.

.A45 Section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and As-
sessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, establishes requirements and pro-
vides guidance on identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement
at the financial statement and assertion levels.

Detection Risk

.A46 For a given level of audit risk, the acceptable level of detection risk
bears an inverse relationship to the assessed risks of material misstatement at
the assertion level. For example, the greater the risks of material misstatement
the auditor believes exists, the less the detection risk that can be accepted and,
accordingly, the more persuasive the audit evidence required by the auditor.

.A47 Detection risk relates to the nature, timing, and extent of the audi-
tor's procedures that are determined by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an ac-
ceptably low level. It is therefore a function of the effectiveness of an audit pro-
cedure and of its application by the auditor. The following matters assist to en-
hance the effectiveness of an audit procedure and of its application and reduce
the possibility that an auditor might select an inappropriate audit procedure,
misapply an appropriate audit procedure, or misinterpret the audit results:

® Adequate planning

® Proper assignment of personnel to the engagement team
® The application of professional skepticism

® Supervision and review of the audit work performed

.A48 Section 300, Planning an Audit, and section 330, Performing Audit
Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence
Obtained, establish requirements and provide guidance on planning an audit
of financial statements and the auditor's responses to assessed risks. Detec-
tion risk, however, can only be reduced, not eliminated, because of the inherent
limitations of an audit. Accordingly, some detection risk will always exist.

Inherent Limitations of an Audit

.A49 The auditor is not expected to, and cannot, reduce audit risk to zero
and cannot, therefore, obtain absolute assurance that the financial statements
are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. This is because in-
herent limitations of an audit exist, which result in most of the audit evidence
on which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the auditor's opinion be-
ing persuasive rather than conclusive. The principal inherent limitations of an
audit arise from

14 Paragraph .08 of section 330, Performing Audit Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and
Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained.
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® the nature of financial reporting;
® the nature of audit procedures; and

® the need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period
of time and so as to achieve a balance between benefit and cost.

The Nature of Financial Reporting

.A50 The preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in-
volves judgment by management in applying the requirements of the entity's
applicable financial reporting framework to the facts and circumstances of the
entity. In addition, many financial statement items involve subjective decisions
or assessments or a degree of uncertainty, and a range exists of acceptable inter-
pretations or judgments that may be made. Consequently, some financial state-
ment items are subject to an inherent level of variability that cannot be elim-
inated by the application of additional auditing procedures. For example, this
is often the case with respect to certain accounting estimates that are depen-
dent on predictions of future events. Nevertheless, GAAS require the auditor
to give specific consideration to whether accounting estimates are reasonable
in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework and to related
disclosures, and to the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices,
including indicators of possible bias in management's judgments.!?

The Nature of Audit Procedures

.A51 There are practical and legal limitations on the auditor's ability to
obtain audit evidence. For example:

® There is the possibility that management or others may not pro-
vide, intentionally or unintentionally, the complete information
that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements or that has been requested by the auditor.
Accordingly, the auditor cannot be certain of the completeness of
information, even though the auditor has performed audit proce-
dures to obtain assurance that all relevant information has been
obtained.

® Fraud may involve sophisticated and carefully organized schemes
designed to conceal it. Therefore, audit procedures used to gather
audit evidence may be ineffective for detecting an intentional mis-
statement that involves, for example, collusion to falsify documen-
tation that may cause the auditor to believe that audit evidence is
valid when it is not. The auditor is neither trained as nor expected
to be an expert in the authentication of documents.

® An audit is not an official investigation into alleged wrongdoing.
Accordingly, the auditor is not given specific legal powers, such as
the power of search, which may be necessary for such an investi-
gation.

Timeliness of Financial Reporting and the Balance Between Benefit and Cost

.A52 The matter of difficulty, time, or cost involved is not in itself a valid
basis for the auditor to omit an audit procedure for which there is no alterna-
tive or to be satisfied with audit evidence that is less than persuasive. Appro-
priate planning assists in making sufficient time and resources available for
the conduct of the audit. Notwithstanding this, the relevance of information,
and thereby its value, tends to diminish over time, and there is a balance to be

15 See section 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates,
and Related Disclosures, and section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements.
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struck between the reliability of information and its cost. This is recognized in
certain financial reporting frameworks (see, for example, FASB's Statements
of Financial Accounting Concepts). Therefore, there is an expectation by users
of financial statements that the auditor will form an opinion on the financial
statements within a reasonable period of time and so as to achieve a balance
between benefit and cost, recognizing that it is impracticable to address all
information that may exist or to pursue every matter exhaustively on the as-
sumption that information is fraudulent or erroneous until proved otherwise.

.A53 Consequently, it is necessary for the auditor to
® plan the audit so that it will be performed in an effective manner;

® direct audit effort to areas most expected to contain risks of mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, with correspond-
ingly less effort directed at other areas; and

® use testing and other means of examining populations for mis-
statements.

.A54 Inlight of the approaches described in paragraph .A53, GAAS contain
requirements for the planning and performance of the audit and requires the
auditor, among other things, to

® have a basis for the identification and assessment of risks of
material misstatement at the financial statement and assertion
levels by performing risk assessment procedures and related
activities;'® and

® use testing and other means of examining populations in a man-
ner that provides a reasonable basis for the auditor to draw con-
clusions about the population.!”

Other Matters That Affect the Inherent Limitations of an Audit

.A55 In the case of certain assertions or subject matters, the potential ef-
fects of the inherent limitations on the auditor's ability to detect material mis-
statements are particularly significant. Such assertions or subject matters in-
clude the following:

® Fraud, particularly fraud involving senior management or collu-
sion. See section 240, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial State-
ment Audit, for further discussion.

® The existence and completeness of related party relationships and
transactions. See section 550, Related Parties, for further discus-
sion.

® The occurrence of noncompliance with laws and regulations. See
section 250, Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit
of Financial Statements, for further discussion.

® Future events or conditions that may cause an entity to cease to
continue as a going concern. See section 570, The Auditor's Con-
sideration of an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern.

Relevant AU-C sections identify specific audit procedures to assist in lessening
the effect of the inherent limitations. [Revised, August 2012, to reflect conform-
ing changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS No. 126.]

16 See section 315.

17 See section 330, section 500, section 520, Analytical Procedures, and section 530, Audit
Sampling.
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.A56 Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoid-
able risk that some material misstatements of the financial statements may
not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed
in accordance with GAAS. Accordingly, the subsequent discovery of a mate-
rial misstatement of the financial statements resulting from fraud or error
does not by itself indicate a failure to conduct an audit in accordance with
GAAS. However, the inherent limitations of an audit are not a justification for
the auditor to be satisfied with less than persuasive audit evidence. Whether
the auditor has performed an audit in accordance with GAAS is determined
by the audit procedures performed in the circumstances, the sufficiency and
appropriateness of the audit evidence obtained as a result thereof, and the suit-
ability of the auditor's report based on an evaluation of that evidence in light
of the overall objectives of the auditor.

Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With GAAS

Nature of GAAS (Ref: par. .20)

.A57 The "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires an AICPA member who performs
an audit to comply with standards promulgated by the Auditing Standards
Board (ASB). The ASB develops and issues standards in the form of SASs
through a process that includes deliberation in meetings open to the public,
public exposure of proposed SASs, and a formal vote. The SASs are codified in
AU-C sections. [Revised, January 2015, to reflect conforming changes neces-
sary due to the issuance of the revised AICPA Code of Professional Conduct,
effective December 15, 2014.]

A58 GAAS provide the standards for the auditor's work in fulfilling the
overall objectives of the auditor. GAAS address the general responsibilities of
the auditor, as well as the auditor's further considerations relevant to the ap-
plication of those responsibilities to specific topics.

.A59 The scope, effective date, and any specific limitation of the applica-
bility of a specific AU-C section are made clear in the AU-C section. Unless
otherwise stated in the AU-C section, the auditor is permitted to apply an AU-
C section before the effective date specified therein.

.A60 In certain audit engagements, the auditor also may be required to
comply with other auditing requirements in addition to GAAS. GAAS do not
override law or regulation that governs an audit of financial statements. In the
event that such law or regulation differs from GAAS, an audit conducted only
in accordance with law or regulation will not necessarily comply with GAAS.

.A61 The auditor may also conduct the audit in accordance with both
GAAS and

® auditing standards promulgated by the Public Company Account-
ing Oversight Board,
® International Standards on Auditing,
®  Government Auditing Standards, or
® auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction or country.
In such cases, in addition to complying with each of the AU-C sections relevant

to the audit, it may be necessary for the auditor to perform additional audit
procedures in order to comply with the other auditing standards.
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Considerations Specific to Audits of Governmental Entities

.A62 GAAS are relevant to financial statement audits of governmental en-
tities. The auditor's responsibilities, however, may be affected by law, regula-
tion, or other authority (such as government policy requirements or resolutions
of the legislature), which may encompass a broader scope than an audit of fi-
nancial statements in accordance with GAAS. These additional responsibilities
are not addressed in GAAS. Government Auditing Standards are relevant for
engagements to audit U.S. government entities, and when required by law, reg-
ulation, contract, or grant agreement. The appendix to Government Auditing
Standards includes a listing of some of the laws, regulations, and guidelines
that require use of Government Auditing Standards.

Contents of GAAS (Ref: par. .21)

.A63 In addition to objectives and requirements, an AU-C section contains
related guidance in the form of application and other explanatory material.
It may also contain introductory material that provides context relevant to a
proper understanding of the AU-C section and definitions. The entire text of an
AU-C section, therefore, is relevant to an understanding of the objectives stated
in an AU-C section and the proper application of the requirements of an AU-C
section.

.A64 When necessary, the application and other explanatory material pro-
vides further explanation of the requirements of an AU-C section and guidance
for carrying them out. In particular, it may

® explain more precisely what a requirement means or is intended
to cover.

® include examples of procedures that may be appropriate in the
circumstances.

Although such guidance does not in itself impose a requirement, it is relevant
to the proper application of the requirements of an AU-C section. The auditor is
required by paragraph .21 to understand the application and other explanatory
material; how the auditor applies the guidance in the engagement depends on
the exercise of professional judgment in the circumstances consistent with the
objective of the AU-C section. The words "may," "might," and "could" are used to
describe these actions and procedures. The application and other explanatory
material may also provide background information on matters addressed in an
AU-C section.

.A65 Appendixes form part of the application and other explanatory ma-
terial. The purpose and intended use of an appendix are explained in the body
of the related AU-C section or within the title and introduction of the appendix
itself.

.A66 Introductory material may include, as needed, such matters as ex-
planation of the following:

® The purpose and scope of the AU-C section, including how the AU-
C section relates to other AU-C sections.

® The subject matter of the AU-C section.

® The respective responsibilities of the auditor and others regarding
the subject matter of the AU-C section.

® The context in which the AU-C section is set.

.A67 An AU-C section may include, in a separate section under the head-
ing "Definitions," a description of the meanings attributed to certain terms for
purposes of GAAS. These are provided to assist in the consistent application
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and interpretation of GAAS, and are not intended to override definitions that
may be established for other purposes, whether in law, regulation, or otherwise.
Unless otherwise indicated, those terms will carry the same meanings through-

out GAAS.

.A68 When appropriate, additional considerations specific to audits of
smaller, less complex entities and governmental entities are included within
the application and other explanatory material of an AU-C section. These ad-
ditional considerations assist in the application of the requirements of GAAS
in the audit of such entities. They do not, however, limit or reduce the respon-
sibility of the auditor to apply and comply with the requirements of GAAS.

Considerations Specific to Audits of Smaller, Less Complex Entities

.A69 For purposes of specifying additional considerations to audits of
smaller, less complex entities, a smaller, less complex entity refers to an entity
that typically possesses qualitative characteristics, such as the following:

a. Concentration of ownership and management in a small number
of individuals; and

b.  One or more of the following:
i. Straightforward or uncomplicated transactions
ii. Simple record keeping

iii. Few lines of business and few products within business
lines

iv. Few internal controls

v. Few levels of management with responsibility for a broad
range of controls

vi. Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties

These qualitative characteristics are not exhaustive, they are not exclusive to
smaller, less complex entities, and smaller, less complex entities do not neces-
sarily display all of these characteristics.

A70 GAAS refer to the proprietor of a smaller entity who is involved in
running the entity on a day-to-day basis as the owner-manager.

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities

.A71 Considerations specific to governmental entities may also be applica-
ble to nongovernmental entities that receive government awards. In audits of
governmental entities, the considerations specific to audits of smaller, less com-
plex entities may not apply, even if the governmental entity has few employees,
simple operations, or a relatively small budget, because small governmental en-
tities (1) may have complex transactions with federal and state governments,
(2) are required to comply with laws, regulations, policies, and systems deter-
mined by a higher level of government, and (3) are subject to additional public
expectations of accountability and transparency.

Objectives Stated in Individual AU-C Sections (Ref: par. .23)

A72 Each AU-C section contains one or more objectives that provide a
link between the requirements and the overall objectives of the auditor. The
objectives in individual AU-C sections serve to focus the auditor on the desired
outcome of the AU-C section, while being specific enough to assist the auditor
m

® understanding what needs to be accomplished and, when neces-
sary, the appropriate means of doing so; and
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® deciding whether more needs to be done to achieve the objectives
in the particular circumstances of the audit.

.A73 Objectives are to be understood in the context of the overall objectives
of the auditor stated in paragraph .12. As with the overall objectives of the
auditor, the ability to achieve an individual objective is equally subject to the
inherent limitations of an audit.

.A74 In using the objectives, the auditor is required to consider the inter-
relationships among the AU-C sections. This is because, as indicated in para-
graph .A58, the AU-C sections in some cases address general responsibilities
and in others address the application of those responsibilities to specific topics.
For example, this section requires the auditor to adopt an attitude of profes-
sional skepticism; this is necessary in all aspects of planning and performing
an audit but is not repeated as a requirement of each AU-C section. At a more
detailed level, section 315 and section 330 contain, among other things, objec-
tives and requirements that address the auditor's responsibilities to identify
and assess the risks of material misstatement and to design and perform fur-
ther audit procedures to respond to those assessed risks, respectively; these
objectives and requirements apply throughout the audit. An AU-C section ad-
dressing specific aspects of the audit may expand on how the objectives and
requirements of other AU-C sections are to be applied regarding the subject
of that AU-C section, but does not repeat those objectives and requirements.
For example, section 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value
Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures, expands on how the objectives
and requirements of section 315 and section 330 are to be applied regarding
the subject of section 540, but section 540 does not repeat those objectives and
requirements. Thus, in achieving the objective stated in section 540, the auditor
considers the objectives and requirements of other relevant AU-C sections.

Use of Objectives to Determine Need for Additional Audit Procedures (Ref: par.
.23a)

.A75 The requirements of GAAS are designed to enable the auditor to
achieve the objectives specified in GAAS, and thereby the overall objectives of
the auditor. The proper application of the requirements of GAAS by the auditor
is therefore expected to provide a sufficient basis for the auditor's achievement
of the objectives. However, because the circumstances of audit engagements
vary widely and all such circumstances cannot be anticipated in GAAS, the
auditor is responsible for determining the audit procedures necessary to fulfill
the requirements of GAAS and to achieve the objectives. In the circumstances
of an engagement, there may be particular matters that require the auditor to
perform audit procedures in addition to those required by GAAS to meet the
objectives specified in GAAS.

Use of Objectives to Evaluate Whether Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence
Has Been Obtained (Ref: par. .23b)

.A76 The auditor is required by paragraph .23b to use the objectives stated
in the relevant AU-C sections to evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit
evidence has been obtained in the context of the overall objectives of the audi-
tor. If, as a result, the auditor concludes that the audit evidence is not sufficient
and appropriate, then the auditor may follow one or more of the following ap-
proaches to meeting the requirement of paragraph .23b:

® Evaluate whether further relevant audit evidence has been, or
will be, obtained as a result of complying with other AU-C sections

® [Extend the work performed in applying one or more requirements
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®  Perform other procedures judged by the auditor to be necessary in
the circumstances

When none of the preceding is expected to be practical or possible in the cir-
cumstances, the auditor will not be able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence and is required by GAAS to determine the effect on the auditor's report
or on the auditor's ability to complete the engagement.

Complying With Relevant Requirements

Relevant Requirements (Ref: par. .24)

.A77 In some cases, an AU-C section (and therefore all of its requirements)
may not be relevant in the circumstances. For example, if an entity does not
have an internal audit function, nothing in section 610, Using the Work of In-
ternal Auditors, is relevant. [As amended, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128.]

.A78 Within a relevant AU-C section, there may be conditional require-
ments. Such a requirement is relevant when the circumstances envisioned in
the requirement apply and the condition exists. In general, the conditionality
of a requirement will either be explicit or implicit, for example:

® The requirement to modify the auditor's opinion if there is a lim-
itation of scope!® represents an explicit conditional requirement.

® The requirement to communicate significant deficiencies and ma-
terial weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit
to management and those charged with governance,® which de-
pends on the existence and identification of such deficiencies, rep-
resents an implicit conditional requirement.

In some cases, a requirement may be expressed as being conditional on appli-
cable law or regulation. For example, the auditor may be required to withdraw
from the audit engagement, when withdrawal is possible under applicable law
or regulation, or the auditor may be required to perform a certain action, un-
less prohibited by law or regulation. Depending on the jurisdiction, the legal or
regulatory permission or prohibition may be explicit or implicit.

Presumptively Mandatory Requirements (Ref: par. .25)

.A79 If an AU-C section provides that a procedure or action is one that the
auditor should consider, consideration of the procedure or action is presump-
tively required. Whether the auditor performs the procedure or action is based
upon the outcome of the auditor's consideration and the auditor's professional
judgment.

Departure From a Requirement (Ref: par. .26)

.A80 Section 230 establishes documentation requirements in those excep-
tional circumstances when the auditor departs from a relevant requirement.?°
GAAS do not call for compliance with a requirement that is not relevant in the
circumstances of the audit.

Interpretive Publications (Ref: par. .27)

.A81 Interpretive publications are not auditing standards. Interpretive
publications are recommendations on the application of GAAS in specific cir-
cumstances, including engagements for entities in specialized industries. An

18 See section 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report.
19 Paragraph .11 of section 265.
20 Paragraph .13 of section 230.
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interpretive publication is issued under the authority of the ASB after all
ASB members have been provided an opportunity to consider and comment on
whether the proposed interpretive publication is consistent with GAAS. Audit-
ing interpretations of GAAS are included in AU-C sections. AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guides and auditing SOPs are listed in AU-C appendix D, AICPA
Audit and Accounting Guides and Statements of Position.

Other Auditing Publications (Ref: par. .28)

.A82 Other auditing publications have no authoritative status; however,
they may help the auditor understand and apply GAAS. The auditor is not
expected to be aware of the full body of other auditing publications.

.A83 Although the auditor determines the relevance of these publications
in accordance with paragraph .28, the auditor may presume that other auditing
publications published by the AICPA that have been reviewed by the AICPA
Audit and Attest Standards staff are appropriate. These other auditing publi-
cations are listed in AU-C appendix F, Other Auditing Publications.

.A84 In determining whether an other auditing publication that has not
been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff'is appropriate to
the circumstances of the audit, the auditor may consider the degree to which the
publication is recognized as being helpful in understanding and applying GAAS
and the degree to which the publisher or author is recognized as an authority in
auditing matters. [Revised, February 2017, to better reflect the AICPA Council
Resolution designating the PCAOB to promulgate technical standards.]

Failure to Achieve an Objective (Ref: par. .29)

.A85 Whether an objective has been achieved is a matter for the auditor's
professional judgment. That judgment takes account of the results of audit pro-
cedures performed in complying with the requirements of GAAS, and the au-
ditor's evaluation of whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been
obtained and whether more needs to be done in the particular circumstances of
the audit to achieve the objectives stated in GAAS. Accordingly, circumstances
that may give rise to a failure to achieve an objective include those that

® prevent the auditor from complying with the relevant require-
ments of an AU-C section.

® resultin it not being practicable or possible for the auditor to carry
out the additional audit procedures or obtain further audit evi-
dence as determined necessary from the use of the objectives in
accordance with paragraph .23; for example, due to a limitation in
the available audit evidence.

.A86 Audit documentation that meets the requirements of section 230 and
the specific documentation requirements of other relevant AU-C sections pro-
vides evidence of the auditor's basis for a conclusion about the achievement
of the overall objectives of the auditor. Although it is unnecessary for the au-
ditor to document separately (as in a checklist, for example) that individual
objectives have been achieved, the documentation of a failure to achieve an ob-
jective assists the auditor's evaluation of whether such a failure has prevented
the auditor from achieving the overall objectives of the auditor.
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AU-C Section 210
Terms of Engagement

Source: SAS No. 122.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities in agreeing upon
the terms of the audit engagement with management and, when appropriate,
those charged with governance. This includes establishing that certain pre-
conditions for an audit, for which management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance are responsible, are present. Section 220, Quality Con-
trol for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance With Generally Accepted Au-
diting Standards, addresses those aspects of engagement acceptance that are
within the control of the auditor. (Ref: par. .A1)

Effective Date

.02 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Objective

.03 The objective of the auditor is to accept an audit engagement for a new
or existing audit client only when the basis upon which it is to be performed
has been agreed upon through

a. establishing whether the preconditions for an audit are present
and

b. confirming that a common understanding of the terms of the au-
dit engagement exists between the auditor and management and,
when appropriate, those charged with governance.

Definitions

.04 For purposes of generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS), the fol-
lowing terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Preconditions for an audit. The use by management of an accept-
able financial reporting framework in the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements and the agreement of
management and, when appropriate, those charged with gover-
nance, to the premise! on which an audit is conducted.

1 Paragraphs .05 and .A2 of section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the
Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.
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Recurring audit. An audit engagement for an existing audit client
for whom the auditor performed the preceding audit.

.05 For purposes of this section, references to management are to be read
hereafter as "management and, when appropriate, those charged with gover-
nance" unless the context suggests otherwise.

Requirements

Preconditions for an Audit

.06 Inorder to establish whether the preconditions for an audit are present,
the auditor should

a. determine whether the financial reporting framework to be ap-
plied in the preparation of the financial statements is acceptable
and (Ref: par. .A2—.A8)

b. obtain the agreement of management that it acknowledges and
understands its responsibility (Ref: par. . A9—-.A12 and .A17)

i. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable financial re-
porting framework; (Ref: par. .A13)

ii. for the design, implementation, and maintenance of inter-
nal control relevant to the preparation and fair presen-
tation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and (Ref: par.
.Al14—-.A16)

iii. to provide the auditor with

(1) access to all information of which management is
aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements, such as
records, documentation, and other matters;

(2) additional information that the auditor may re-
quest from management for the purpose of the au-
dit; and

(3) unrestricted access to persons within the entity
from whom the auditor determines it necessary
to obtain audit evidence.

Management-Imposed Limitation on Scope Prior to Audit Engagement
Acceptance That Would Result in a Disclaimer of Opinion

.07 If management or those charged with governance of an entity that is
not required by law or regulation to have an audit impose a limitation on the
scope of the auditor's work in the terms of a proposed audit engagement, such
that the auditor believes the limitation will result in the auditor disclaiming an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, the auditor should not accept
such a limited engagement as an audit engagement. If management or those
charged with governance of an entity that is required by law or regulation to
have an audit imposes such a scope limitation and a disclaimer of opinion is
acceptable under the applicable law or to the regulator, the auditor is permitted,
but not required, to accept the engagement. (Ref: par. .A18—.A19)
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Other Factors Affecting Audit Engagement Acceptance

.08 If the preconditions for an audit are not present, the auditor should
discuss the matter with management. Unless the auditor is required by law or
regulation to do so, the auditor should not accept the proposed audit engage-
ment

a. if the auditor has determined that the financial reporting frame-
work to be applied in the preparation of the financial statements
is unacceptable or

b. if the agreement referred to in paragraph .066 has not been ob-
tained.

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

.09 The auditor should agree upon the terms of the audit engagement with
management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. (Ref: par. .A20—
A21)

.10 The agreed-upon terms of the audit engagement should be documented
in an audit engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement and
should include the following: (Ref: par. .A22—-.A26)

a. The objective and scope of the audit of the financial statements
The responsibilities of the auditor
¢. The responsibilities of management

d. A statement that because of the inherent limitations of an audit,
together with the inherent limitations of internal control, an un-
avoidable risk exists that some material misstatements may not
be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and per-
formed in accordance with GAAS

e. Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for
the preparation of the financial statements

 Reference to the expected form and content of any reports to be
issued by the auditor and a statement that circumstances may
arise in which a report may differ from its expected form and
content

Initial Audits, Including Reaudit Engagements

.11 Before accepting an engagement for an initial audit, including a reau-
dit engagement, the auditor should request management to authorize the pre-
decessor auditor to respond fully to the auditor's inquiries regarding matters
that will assist the auditor in determining whether to accept the engagement.
If management refuses to authorize the predecessor auditor to respond, or lim-
its the response, the auditor should inquire about the reasons and consider the
implications of that refusal in deciding whether to accept the engagement.

.12 The auditor should evaluate the predecessor auditor's response, or con-
sider the implications if the predecessor auditor provides no response or a
limited response, in determining whether to accept the engagement. (Ref: par.
A27-.A32)
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Recurring Audits

.13 On recurring audits, the auditor should assess whether circumstances
require the terms of the audit engagement to be revised. If the auditor con-
cludes that the terms of the preceding engagement need not be revised for the
current engagement, the auditor should remind management of the terms of
the engagement, and the reminder should be documented. (Ref: par. .A33-.A34)

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Audit Engagement

.14 The auditor should not agree to a change in the terms of the audit

engagement when no reasonable justification for doing so exists. (Ref: par. . A35—
A37)

.15 If, prior to completing the audit engagement, the auditor is requested
to change the audit engagement to an engagement for which the auditor obtains
a lower level of assurance, the auditor should determine whether reasonable
justification for doing so exists. (Ref: par. .A38—.A39)

.16 If the terms of the audit engagement are changed, the auditor and
management should agree on and document the new terms of the engagement
in an engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement.

.17 Ifthe auditor concludes that no reasonable justification for a change of
the terms of the audit engagement exists and is not permitted by management
to continue the original audit engagement, the auditor should

a. withdraw from the audit engagement when possible under appli-
cable law or regulation,

b. communicate the circumstances to those charged with gover-
nance, and

c¢. determine whether any obligation, either legal, contractual, or
otherwise, exists to report the circumstances to other parties, such
as owners, or regulators.

Additional Considerations in Engagement Acceptance

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation

.18 Iflaw or regulation prescribes a specific layout, form, or wording of the
auditor's report that significantly differs from the requirements of GAAS, the
auditor should evaluate

a. whether users might misunderstand the auditor's report and, if
S0,

b. whether the auditor would be permitted to reword the prescribed
form to be in accordance with the requirements of GAAS or attach
a separate report.?

If the auditor determines that rewording the prescribed form or attaching a
separate report would not be permitted or would not mitigate the risk of users
misunderstanding the auditor's report, the auditor should not accept the audit
engagement unless the auditor is required by law or regulation to do so. An
audit performed in accordance with such law or regulation does not comply
with GAAS. Accordingly, for such an audit, the auditor should not include any

2 Paragraphs .22—-.23 of section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Pre-
pared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks.
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reference to the audit having been performed in accordance with GAAS within
the auditor's report.? (Ref: par. . A40—.A41)

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01)

.Al The auditor's responsibilities regarding relevant ethical requirements
in the context of the acceptance of an audit engagement, insofar as they are
within the control of the auditor, are addressed in section 220. This section ad-
dresses those matters (or preconditions) that are within the control of the entity
and upon which it is necessary for the auditor and the entity's management to
agree.

Preconditions for an Audit

The Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .06a)

A2 An applicable financial reporting framework provides the criteria for
management to present the financial statements of an entity, including the fair
presentation of those financial statements. The criteria used by the auditor to
evaluate or measure the subject matter, including, when relevant, a basis for
presentation and disclosure, are also provided by the financial reporting frame-
work. These criteria enable reasonably consistent evaluation or measurement
of a subject matter within the context of professional judgment.

A3 Without an acceptable financial reporting framework, management
does not have an appropriate basis for the preparation of the financial state-
ments, and the auditor does not have suitable criteria for auditing the financial
statements. In many cases, the auditor may presume that the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework is acceptable, as described in paragraphs .A6—.A8.

Determining the Acceptability of the Financial Reporting Framework

.A4 Factors that are relevant to the auditor's determination of the accept-
ability of the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of
the financial statements include the following:

® The nature of the entity (for example, whether it is a business
enterprise, a governmental entity, or a not-for-profit organization)

® The purpose of the financial statements (for example, whether
they are prepared to meet the common financial information
needs of a wide range of users)

® The nature of the financial statements (for example, whether the
financial statements are a complete set of financial statements or
a single financial statement)

® Whether law or regulation prescribes the applicable financial re-
porting framework

A5 Many users of financial statements are not in a position to demand
financial statements tailored to meet their specific information needs. Although
all the information needs of specific users cannot be met, financial information
needs that are common to a wide range of users exist. Financial statements
prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework designed to meet

3 Paragraph .22 of section 800.
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the common financial information needs of a wide range of users are referred
to as general purpose financial statements.

A6 General purpose frameworks. The sources of established accounting
principles that are generally accepted are accounting principles promulgated
by a body designated by the Council of the AICPA to establish such princi-
ples, pursuant to the "Accounting Principles Rule" (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Such financial reporting standards of-
ten are identified as the applicable financial reporting framework in law or
regulation governing the preparation of general purpose financial statements.
[Revised, January 2015, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the is-
suance of the revised AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, effective December
15,2014.]

A7 Special purpose frameworks. In some cases, the financial statements
will be prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework. For example,
law or regulation may prescribe the financial reporting framework to be used
in the preparation of financial statements for certain types of entities. Such
financial statements are referred to as special purpose financial statements.
Section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared
in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks, addresses the acceptability
of special purpose frameworks.*

A8 After the audit engagement has been accepted, the auditor may en-
counter deficiencies in the applicable financial reporting framework that in-
dicate that the framework is not acceptable. When use of that framework is
not prescribed by law or regulation, management may decide to adopt an-
other framework that is acceptable. When management does so, the previously
agreed-upon terms will have changed, and the auditor is required by paragraph
.16 to agree upon new terms of the audit engagement that reflect the change in
the framework.

Agreement of the Responsibilities of Management (Ref: par. .06b)

A9 An audit in accordance with GAAS is conducted on the premise that
management has acknowledged and understands that it has the responsibili-
ties set out in paragraph .06b° The auditor may assist in preparing the finan-
cial statements, in whole or in part, based on information provided to the audi-
tor by management during the performance of the audit.” However, the concept
of an independent audit requires that the auditor's role does not involve as-
suming management's responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements or assuming responsibility for the entity's related
internal control and that the auditor has a reasonable expectation of obtain-
ing the information necessary for the audit insofar as management is able to
provide or procure it. Accordingly, the premise is fundamental to the conduct of
an independent audit. To avoid misunderstanding, agreement is reached with

4 Paragraph .10 of section 800.
5 Paragraphs .05 and .A2 of section 200.

* In January 2013, the Professional Ethics Executive Committee adopted a provision in the
"Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services" interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.010) under the "Inde-
pendence Rule" (ET sec. 1.200.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. This provision pro-
vides, among other things, that financial statement preparation is considered outside the scope of the
attest engagement and, therefore, constitutes a nonattest service subject to the requirements of the
"Nonattest Services" subtopic (ET sec. 1.295). The provision is effective for engagements covering pe-
riods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. [Footnote added, October 2013, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the revision of Ethics Interpretation No. 101-3. Footnote revised, January
2015, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of the revised AICPA Code of Pro-
fessional Conduct, effective December 15, 2014.]
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management that it acknowledges and understands that it has such responsi-
bilities as part of agreeing and documenting the terms of the audit engagement
as required by paragraphs .09-.10.

[Revised, October 2013, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the re-
vision of Ethics Interpretation No. 101-3.]

.A10 The way in which the responsibilities for financial reporting are di-
vided between management and those charged with governance will vary ac-
cording to the resources and structure of the entity and any relevant law or
regulation and the respective roles of management and those charged with
governance within the entity. In most cases, management is responsible for
execution and those charged with governance have oversight of management.
In some cases, those charged with governance will have, or will assume, re-
sponsibility for approving the financial statements or monitoring the entity's
internal control related to financial reporting. In larger entities, a subgroup of
those charged with governance, such as an audit committee, may be charged
with certain oversight responsibilities.

A1l Section 580, Written Representations, requires the auditor to request
management to provide written representations that it has fulfilled certain
of its responsibilities.® It may therefore be appropriate to make management
aware that receipt of such written representations will be expected, together
with written representations required by other AU-C sections and, when
necessary, written representations to support other audit evidence relevant
to the financial statements or one or more specific assertions in the financial
statements.

.A12 If management will not acknowledge its responsibilities or indicates
that it will not provide written representations as requested, the auditor will be
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.” In such circumstances,
it would not be appropriate for the auditor to accept the audit engagement
unless law or regulation requires the auditor to do so. In cases when the auditor
is required to accept the audit engagement, the auditor may need to explain
to management the importance of these matters and the implications for the
auditor's report.

Preparation and Fair Presentation of the Financial Statements (Ref: par. .06b(i))

.A13 In an audit of special purpose financial statements, the auditor is re-
quired by section 800 to obtain the agreement of management that it acknowl-
edges and understands its responsibility to include all informative disclosures
that are appropriate for the special purpose framework used to prepare the
entity's financial statements.® This agreement is a precondition of the audit
included in the terms of the engagement.

Internal Control (Ref: par. .06b(ii))

.A14 Management maintains such internal control as it determines is nec-
essary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Inter-
nal control, no matter how effective, can provide an entity with only reasonable
assurance about achieving the entity's financial reporting objectives, due to the
inherent limitations of internal control.

.A15 An independent audit conducted in accordance with GAAS does not
act as a substitute for the maintenance of internal control necessary for the

6 Paragraphs .10-.11 of section 580, Written Representations.
7 Paragraph .A34 of section 580.
8 Paragraph .11 of section 800.
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preparation and fair presentation of financial statements by management. Ac-
cordingly, the auditor is required to obtain the agreement of management that
it acknowledges and understands that it has responsibility for the design, im-
plementation, and maintenance of internal control necessary for this purpose.
However, the agreement required by paragraph .065(ii) does not imply that the
auditor will find that internal control maintained by management has achieved
its purpose or will be free from deficiencies.

.A16 Management has the responsibility to determine what internal con-
trol is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements. The term internal control encompasses a wide range of activities
within components that may be described as the control environment; the en-
tity's risk assessment process; the information system, including the related
business processes relevant to financial reporting, and communication; control
activities; and monitoring of controls. This division, however, does not neces-
sarily reflect how a particular entity may design, implement, and maintain its
internal control or how it may classify any particular component.® An entity's
internal control will reflect the needs of management, the complexity of the
business, the nature of the risks to which the entity is subject, and relevant
laws or regulations.

Considerations Relevant to Smaller Entities (Ref: par. .06b)

.A17 One of the purposes of agreeing upon the terms of the audit engage-
ment is to avoid misunderstanding about the respective responsibilities of man-
agement and the auditor. For example, when the auditor or a third party has
assisted with drafting the financial statements, it may be useful to remind man-
agement that the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework remains its
responsibility.

Management-Imposed Limitation on Scope Prior to Audit Engagement
Acceptance That Would Result in a Disclaimer of Opinion (Ref: par. .07)

.A18 Scope limitations may be imposed by management or by circum-
stances. Examples of scope limitations that would not preclude the auditor from
accepting the engagement include the following:

® A restriction imposed by management that the auditor believes
will result in a qualified opinion

® Arestriction imposed by circumstances beyond the control of man-
agement

.A19 Employee benefit plans are an example of entities that are required to
have an audit by law or regulation and a disclaimer of opinion is acceptable un-
der the applicable law or to the regulator. For such entities, the auditor is neither
precluded from accepting, nor required to accept, the engagement, regardless
of whether management imposes a scope limitation that is expected to result
in the auditor disclaiming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

Agreeing Upon the Terms of the Audit Engagement (Ref: par. .09)

.A20 The roles of management and those charged with governance in
agreeing upon the terms of the audit engagement for the entity depend on

9 Paragraph .A51 and appendix B, "Internal Control Components," of section 315, Understanding
the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement.
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the governance structure of the entity and relevant law or regulation. Depend-
ing on the entity's structure, the agreement may be with management, those
charged with governance, or both. When the agreement on the terms of engage-
ment is only with those charged with governance, nonetheless in accordance
with paragraph .06, the auditor is required to obtain management's agreement
that it acknowledges and understands its responsibilities.

.A21 When a third party has contracted for the audit of the entity's fi-
nancial statements, agreeing the terms of the audit with management of the
entity is necessary in order to establish that the preconditions for an audit are
present.

Audit Engagement Letter or Other Form of Written Agreement 0
(Ref: par. .10)

.A22 Both management and the auditor have an interest in documenting
the agreed-upon terms of the audit engagement before the commencement of
the audit to help avoid misunderstandings with respect to the audit. For ex-
ample, it reduces the risk that management may inappropriately rely on the
auditor to protect management against certain risks or to perform certain func-
tions that are management's responsibility.

Form and Content of the Audit Engagement Letter

.A23 The form and content of the audit engagement letter may vary for
each entity. Information included in the audit engagement letter on the au-
ditor's responsibilities may be based on section 200, Overall Objectives of the
Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Gener-
ally Accepted Auditing Standards.!' Paragraph .06b of this section addresses
the description of the responsibilities of management. In addition to including
the matters required by paragraph .10, an audit engagement letter may make
reference to, for example, the following:

® FElaboration of the scope of the audit, including reference to ap-
plicable legislation, regulations, GAAS, and ethical and other pro-
nouncements of professional bodies to which the auditor adheres

® The form of any other communication of results of the audit en-
gagement

® Arrangements regarding the planning and performance of the au-
dit, including the composition of the audit team

® The expectation that management will provide written represen-
tations (see also paragraph .A11)

® The agreement of management to make available to the auditor
draft financial statements and any accompanying other informa-
tion in time to allow the auditor to complete the audit in accor-
dance with the proposed timetable

® The agreement of management to inform the auditor of events oc-
curring or facts discovered subsequent to the date of the financial
statements, of which management may become aware, that may
affect the financial statements

® The basis on which fees are computed and any billing arrange-
ments

10 In the paragraphs that follow, any reference to an audit engagement letter is to be taken as a
reference to an audit engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement.

11 Paragraphs .04—.10 of section 200.
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® A request for management to acknowledge receipt of the audit
engagement letter and to agree to the terms of the engagement
outlined therein, as may be evidenced by their signature on the
engagement letter

.A24 When relevant, the following points also could be made in the audit
engagement letter:

® Arrangements concerning the involvement of other auditors and
specialists in some aspects of the audit

® Arrangements concerning the involvement of internal auditors
and other staff of the entity

® Arrangements to be made with the predecessor auditor, if any, in
the case of an initial audit

®  Any restriction of the auditor's liability when not prohibited

® Any obligations of the auditor to provide audit documentation to
other parties

® Additional services to be provided, such as those relating to regu-
latory requirements

® A reference to any further agreements between the auditor and
the entity

.A25 Reference to the expected form and content of any reports to be issued
by the auditor may include a description of the types of reports to be issued.
The auditor need not describe the type of opinion expected to be expressed. An
example of an audit engagement letter is set out in the exhibit "Example of an
Audit Engagement Letter."

A26 Audits of components. When the auditor of a parent entity is also the
auditor of a component, the factors that may influence the decision whether
to obtain a separate audit engagement letter from the component include the
following:

®  Who engages the component auditor

®  Whether a separate auditor's report is to be issued on the compo-
nent

® Legal requirements regarding the appointment of the auditor
® Degree of ownership by parent

® Degree of independence of the component management from the
parent entity

Initial Audits, Including Reaudit Engagements (Ref: par. .11-.12)

.A27 An auditor may make a proposal for an audit engagement before be-
ing granted permission to make inquiries of a predecessor auditor. The auditor
may advise management in the proposal or otherwise that the auditor's accep-
tance of the engagement cannot be final until the inquiries have been made and
the responses of the predecessor auditor have been evaluated.

A28 When more than one auditor is considering accepting an engage-
ment, the predecessor auditor is not expected to be available to respond to in-
quiries until an auditor has been selected by the entity and has accepted the
engagement, subject to the evaluation of the communications with the prede-
cessor auditor as provided in paragraph .12.
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A29 Relevant ethical and professional requirements guide the auditor's
communications with the predecessor auditor and management, as well as the
predecessor auditor's response. Such requirements provide that, except as per-
mitted by the rules of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, an auditor is
precluded from disclosing confidential information obtained in the course of
an engagement unless management specifically consents. Such requirements
also provide that both the auditor and the predecessor auditor hold in confi-
dence information obtained from each other. This obligation applies regardless
of whether the auditor accepts the engagement.

.A30 In accordance with the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, which
states that members have a responsibility to cooperate with each other, the pre-
decessor auditor is expected to respond to the auditor's inquiries promptly and,
in the absence of unusual circumstances, fully, on the basis of known facts. If,
due to unusual circumstances, such as pending, threatened, or potential litiga-
tion; disciplinary proceedings; or other unusual circumstances, the predecessor
auditor decides not to respond fully to the inquiries, the predecessor auditor is
expected to clearly state that the response is limited.

.A31 The communication with the predecessor auditor may be either writ-
ten or oral. Matters subject to the auditor's inquiry of the predecessor auditor
may include the following:

® Information that might bear on the integrity of management

® Disagreements with management about accounting policies, au-
diting procedures, or other similarly significant matters

® Communications to those charged with governance regarding
fraud and noncompliance with laws or regulations by the entity

® Communications to management and those charged with gover-
nance regarding significant deficiencies and material weaknesses
in internal control

® The predecessor auditor's understanding about the reasons for the
change of auditors

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities

.A32 When the auditor is required by law or regulation to audit a govern-
mental entity, inquiries of the predecessor auditor for the purpose of obtaining
information about whether to accept the engagement may not be relevant. How-
ever, inquiries of the predecessor auditor may still be relevant for the purpose
of obtaining information that is used by the auditor in planning and performing
the audit.!?

Recurring Audits (Ref: par. .13)

.A33 The following factors may make it appropriate to revise the terms of
the audit engagement:

® Any indication that management misunderstands the objective
and scope of the audit

® Any revised or special terms of the audit engagement

12 Section 510, Opening Balances—Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements,
addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to opening balances when conducting an initial audit
engagement.
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A change of senior management
A significant change in ownership
A significant change in the nature or size of the entity's business

A change in legal or regulatory requirements

A change in the financial reporting framework adopted in the
preparation of the financial statements

® A change in other reporting requirements

.A34 The auditor may remind management of the terms of the engagement
in writing or orally. A written reminder might be a letter confirming that the
terms of the preceding engagement will govern the current engagement. If the
reminder is oral, audit documentation may include with whom the discussion
took place, when, and the significant points discussed.

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Audit Engagement

Request to Change the Terms of the Audit Engagement (Ref: par. .14)

.A35 A request from management for the auditor to change the terms of
the audit engagement may result from a change in circumstances affecting the
need for the service, a misunderstanding about the nature of an audit as origi-
nally requested, or a restriction on the scope of the audit engagement, whether
imposed by management or caused by other circumstances. The auditor, as re-
quired by paragraph .14, considers the justification given for the request, par-
ticularly the implications of a restriction on the scope of the audit engagement.

.A36 A change in circumstances that affects management's requirements
or a misunderstanding concerning the nature of the service originally requested
may be considered a reasonable basis for requesting a change in the audit
engagement.

.A37 In contrast, a change may not be considered reasonable if the change
appears to relate to information that is incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise un-
satisfactory. An example might be when the auditor is unable to obtain suffi-
cient appropriate audit evidence regarding receivables and management asks
for the audit engagement to be changed to a review engagement to avoid a
qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion.

Request to Change to a Review or Other Service (Ref: par. .15)

.A38 Before agreeing to change an audit engagement to a review or other
service, an auditor who was engaged to perform an audit in accordance with
GAAS may need to assess, in addition to the matters referred to in paragraphs
.A35-.A37, any legal or contractual implications of the change.

.A39 If the auditor concludes that reasonable justification to change the
audit engagement to a review or other service exists, the audit work performed
to the date of change may be relevant to the changed engagement; however,
the work required to be performed and the report to be issued would be those
appropriate to the revised engagement. In order to avoid confusing the reader,
the report on the other service would not include reference to the following:

a. The original audit engagement

b.  Any procedures that may have been performed in the original au-
dit engagement, except when the audit engagement is changed to
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an engagement to undertake agreed-upon procedures and, thus,
reference to the procedures performed is a normal part of the
report

Additional Considerations in Engagement Acceptance

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation (Ref: par. .18)

.A40 GAAS require that the auditor not represent compliance with GAAS
unless the auditor has complied with all of the AU-C sections relevant to the
audit.!® If the auditor is required by law or regulation to use a specific layout,
form, or wording of the auditor's report, section 800 requires that the auditor's
report refer to GAAS only if the auditor's report includes the minimum report-
ing elements.! In accordance with section 800, if the specific layout, form, or
wording of the auditor's report is not acceptable or would cause an auditor to
make a statement that the auditor has no basis to make, the auditor is required
to reword the prescribed form of report or attach an appropriately worded sep-
arate report.'®> When the auditor concludes that rewording the prescribed form
to be in accordance with the requirements of GAAS or attaching a separate re-
port would not be permitted, the auditor may consider including a statement in
the auditor's report that the audit is not conducted in accordance with GAAS.
The auditor is, however, encouraged to apply GAAS, including the AU-C sec-
tions that address the auditor's report, to the extent practicable, notwithstand-
ing that the auditor is not permitted to refer to the audit being conducted in
accordance with GAAS.

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities

.A41 For governmental entities, specific legal or regulatory requirements
may exist; for example, the auditor may be required to report directly to the
legislature or the public if management attempts to limit the scope of the audit.

13 Paragraph .22 of section 200.
14 Paragraph .22 of section 800.
15 Paragraph .23 of section 800.
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A42

Exhibit—Example of an Audit Engagement Letter
(Ref: par. .A25)

The following is an example of an audit engagement letter for an audit of gen-
eral purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America, as promulgated by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board. This letter is not authoritative but
is intended only to be a guide that may be used in conjunction with the consid-
erations outlined in this Statement on Auditing Standards. The letter will vary
according to individual requirements and circumstances and is drafted to refer
to the audit of financial statements for a single reporting period. The auditor
may seek legal advice about whether a proposed letter is suitable.

To the appropriate representative of those charged with governance of ABC
Company:!

[The objective and scope of the audit]

You? have requested that we audit the financial statements of ABC Company,
which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. We are
pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this audit engage-
ment by means of this letter. Our audit will be conducted with the objective of
our expressing an opinion on the financial statements.

[The responsibilities of the auditor]

We will conduct our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit in-
volves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent lim-
itations of internal control, an unavoidable risk that some material misstate-
ments may not be detected exists, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with GAAS.

In making our risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. However, we will communicate to you in writing concerning
any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control relevant
to the audit of the financial statements that we have identified during the audit.

1 The addressees and references in the letter would be those that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to refer to the
appropriate persons. See paragraph .A20.

2 Throughout this letter, references to you, we, us, management, those charged with governance,
and auditor would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.
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[The responsibilities of management and identification of the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework]

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that [management and, when appro-
priate, those charged with governance]® acknowledge and understand that they
have responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America;

b. for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; and

c¢. to provide us with

i. access to all information of which [management] is aware
that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements such as records, documentation,
and other matters;

ii. additional information that we may request from [man-
agement] for the purpose of the audit; and

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity from
whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

As part of our audit process, we will request from [management and, when ap-
propriate, those charged with governance], written confirmation concerning rep-
resentations made to us in connection with the audit.

[Other relevant information]

[Insert other information, such as fee arrangements, billings, and other specific
terms, as appropriate.]

[Reporting]

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the auditor's
report. Example follows:]

We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of ABC Company's
financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the board of directors of
ABC Company. We cannot provide assurance that an unmodified opinion will be
expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it is necessary for us to modify our
opinion, add an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph(s), or withdraw
from the engagement.

We also will issue a written report on [Insert appropriate reference to other au-
ditor's reports expected to be issued.] upon completion of our audit.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgment of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our audit of the financial
statements including our respective responsibilities.

3 Use terminology as appropriate in the circumstances.
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XYZ & Co.
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by

[Signed]
[Name and Title]
[Date]
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AU-C Section 220

Quality Control for an Engagement
Conducted in Accordance With Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards

Source: SAS No. 122; SAS No. 128.

Effective for engagements conducted in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards for periods ending on or after December 15,
2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the specific responsibilities of the auditor re-
garding quality control procedures for an audit of financial statements. It also
addresses, when applicable, the responsibilities of the engagement quality con-
trol reviewer. This section also applies, adapted as necessary, to other engage-
ments conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
(GAAS) (for example, a review of interim financial information conducted in
accordance with section 930, Interim Financial Information). This section is to
be read in conjunction with the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct and other
relevant ethical requirements.

.02 Although Statements on Quality Control Standards are not applica-
ble to auditors in government audit organizations, this section is applicable to
auditors in government audit organizations who perform financial audits in
accordance with GAAS.!

System of Quality Control and the Role
of the Engagement Teams

.03 Quality control systems, policies, and procedures are the responsibility
of the audit firm. Under QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control, the
firm has an obligation to establish and maintain a system of quality control to
provide it with reasonable assurance that?

a. the firm and its personnel comply with professional standards
and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and

b. reports issued by the firm are appropriate in the circumstances.
(Ref: par. .Al)

.04 Within the context of the firm's system of quality control, engagement
teams have a responsibility to implement quality control procedures that are
applicable to the audit engagement and provide the firm with relevant informa-
tion to enable the functioning of that part of the firm's system of quality control
relating to independence.

L Paragraph .02 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control.
2 Paragraph .12 of QC section 10.
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.05 Engagement teams are entitled to rely on the firm's system of quality
control, unless the engagement partner determines that it is inappropriate to
do so based on information provided by the firm or other parties. (Ref: par. .A2)

.06 The engagement partner may use the assistance of other members of
the engagement team or other personnel within the firm in meeting the require-
ments of this section. The requirements imposed by this section on engagement
partners do not relieve other members of the engagement team of any of their
professional responsibilities.

Effective Date

.07 This section is effective for engagements conducted in accordance with
GAAS for periods ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Obijective

.08 The objective of the auditor? is to implement quality control procedures
at the engagement level that provide the auditor with reasonable assurance
that

a. the audit complies with professional standards and applicable le-
gal and regulatory requirements and

b. the auditor's report issued is appropriate in the circumstances.

Definitions

.09 For purposes of GAAS, the following terms have the meanings at-
tributed as follows:

Engagement partner.* The partner or other person in the firm who
is responsible for the audit engagement and its performance and
for the auditor's report that is issued on behalf of the firm and
who, when required, has the appropriate authority from a profes-
sional, legal, or regulatory body.

Engagement quality control review. A process designed to pro-
vide an objective evaluation, before the report is released, of
the significant judgments the engagement team made and the
conclusions it reached in formulating the auditor's report. The
engagement quality control review process is only for those au-
dit engagements, if any, for which the firm has determined that
an engagement quality control review is required, in accordance
with its policies and procedures.

Engagement quality control reviewer. A partner, other person in
the firm, suitably qualified external person, or team made up of
such individuals, none of whom is part of the engagement team,
with sufficient and appropriate experience and authority to ob-
jectively evaluate the significant judgments that the engagement
team made and the conclusions it reached in formulating the au-
ditor's report.

3 See paragraph .14 of section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct
of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, for the definition of auditor.

4 Engagement partner, partner, and firm refer to their governmental equivalents, when relevant.
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Engagement team. All partners and staff performing the engage-
ment and any individuals engaged by the firm or a network firm
who perform audit procedures on the engagement. This excludes
an au5dit0r's external specialist engaged by the firm or a network
firm.

The term engagement team also excludes individuals within the
client's internal audit function who provide direct assistance on
an audit engagement when the external auditor complies with the
requirements of section 610, Using the Work of Internal Auditors.

Firm. A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose
characteristics conform to resolutions of the Council of the AICPA
and that is engaged in public practice.

Monitoring. A process comprising an ongoing consideration and
evaluation of the firm's system of quality control, including in-
spection or a periodic review of engagement documentation, re-
ports, and clients' financial statements for a selection of completed
engagements, designed to provide the firm with reasonable assur-
ance that its system of quality control is designed appropriately
and operating effectively.

Network. An association of entities, as defined in ET section 0.400,
Definitions.

Network firm. A firm or other entity that belongs to a network, as
defined in ET section 0.400.

Partner. Any individual with authority to bind the firm with re-
spect to the performance of a professional services engagement.
For purposes of this definition, partner may include an employee
with this authority who has not assumed the risks and benefits of
ownership. Firms may use different titles to refer to individuals
with this authority.

Personnel. Partners and staff.

Professional standards. Standards promulgated by the AICPA
Auditing Standards Board or the AICPA Accounting and Review
Services Committee under the "General Standards Rule" (ET sec.
1.300.001) or the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec.
1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, or other
standards-setting bodies that set auditing and attest standards
applicable to the engagement being performed and relevant eth-
ical requirements.

Relevant ethical requirements. Ethical requirements to which
the engagement team and engagement quality control reviewer
are subject, which consist of the AICPA Code of Professional Con-
duct together with rules of applicable state boards of accountancy
and applicable regulatory agencies that are more restrictive.

Staff. Professionals, other than partners, including any specialists
that the firm employs.

Suitably qualified external person. An individual outside the
firm with the competence and capabilities to act as an engage-
ment partner (for example, a partner of another firm).

5 Paragraph .06 of section 620, Using the Work of an Auditor's Specialist, defines the term audi-
tor's specialist.
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[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128. Revised, January 2015, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of the revised AICPA Code
of Professional Conduct, effective December 15, 2014.]

Requirements

Leadership Responsibilities for Quality on Audits

.10 The engagement partner should take responsibility for the overall
quality on each audit engagement to which that partner is assigned. In fulfill-
ing this responsibility, the engagement partner may delegate the performance
of certain procedures to, and use the work of, other members of the engagement
team and may rely upon the firm's system of quality control. (Ref: par. .A3)

Relevant Ethical Requirements

.11 Throughout the audit engagement, the engagement partner and other
members of the engagement team should remain alert for evidence of non-
compliance with relevant ethical requirements by members of the engagement
team. (Ref: par. .A4)

.12 If matters come to the engagement partner's attention, through the
firm's system of quality control or otherwise, that indicate that members of
the engagement team have not complied with relevant ethical requirements,
the engagement partner, in consultation with others in the firm as appropriate,
should determine that appropriate action has been taken.

Independence

.13 The engagement partner should form a conclusion on compliance with
independence requirements that apply to the audit engagement. In doing so,
the engagement partner should

a. obtain relevant information from the firm and, when applicable,
network firms to identify and evaluate circumstances and rela-
tionships that create threats to independence;

b. evaluate information on identified breaches, if any, of the firm's
independence policies and procedures to determine whether they
create a threat to independence for the audit engagement; and

c. take appropriate action to eliminate such threats or reduce them
to an acceptable level by applying safeguards or, if considered ap-
propriate, to withdraw from the audit engagement when with-
drawal is possible under applicable law or regulation. The engage-
ment partner should promptly report to the firm any inability to
resolve the matter so that the firm may take appropriate action.
(Ref: par. .A5—-.A6)

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Audit Engagements

.14 The engagement partner should be satisfied that appropriate proce-
dures regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and au-
dit engagements have been followed and should determine that conclusions
reached in this regard are appropriate. (Ref: par. .A7—.A8)
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.15 Ifthe engagement partner obtains information that would have caused
the firm to decline the audit engagement had that information been avail-
able earlier, the engagement partner should communicate that information
promptly to the firm so that the firm and the engagement partner can take
the necessary action. (Ref: par. .A8)

Assignment of Engagement Teams

.16 The engagement partner should be satisfied that the engagement team
and any auditor's external specialists, collectively, have the appropriate compe-
tence and capabilities to

a. perform the audit engagement in accordance with professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and

b. enable an auditor's report that is appropriate in the circum-
stances to be issued. (Ref: par. . A9—.A11)

Engagement Performance

Direction, Supervision, and Performance
.17 The engagement partner should take responsibility for the following:

a. The direction, supervision, and performance of the audit engage-
ment in compliance with professional standards, applicable legal
and regulatory requirements, and the firm's policies and proce-
dures (Ref: par. . A12—.A14 and .A19)

b. The auditor's report being appropriate in the circumstances

Review

.18 The engagement partner should take responsibility for reviews being
performed in accordance with the firm's review policies and procedures. (Ref:
par. .A15-.A16 and .A19)

.19 On or before the date of the auditor's report, the engagement partner
should, through a review of the audit documentation and discussion with the
engagement team, be satisfied that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has
been obtained to support the conclusions reached and for the auditor's report
to be issued. (Ref: par. . A17-.A19)

Consultation
.20 The engagement partner should

a. take responsibility for the engagement team undertaking appro-
priate consultation on difficult or contentious matters;

b. be satisfied that members of the engagement team have under-
taken appropriate consultation during the course of the engage-
ment, both within the engagement team and between the engage-
ment team and others at the appropriate level within or outside
the firm;

c. be satisfied that the nature and scope of such consultations are
agreed with, and conclusions resulting from such consultations
are understood by, the party consulted; and

d. determine that conclusions resulting from such consultations
have been implemented. (Ref: par. . A20—.A22)
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Engagement Quality Control Review

.21 For those audit engagements, if any, for which the firm has determined
that an engagement quality control review is required, the engagement partner

should

determine that an engagement quality control reviewer has been
appointed;

discuss significant findings or issues arising during the audit
engagement, including those identified during the engagement
quality control review, with the engagement quality control re-
viewer; and

not release the auditor's report until the completion of the engage-
ment quality control review. (Ref: par. .A23—.A25)

.22 The engagement quality control reviewer should perform an objective
evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and the
conclusions reached in formulating the auditor's report. This evaluation should

involve

discussion of significant findings or issues with the engagement
partner;

reading the financial statements and the proposed auditor's re-
port;

review of selected audit documentation relating to the significant
judgments the engagement team made and the related conclu-
sions it reached; and

evaluation of the conclusions reached in formulating the auditor's

report and consideration of whether the proposed auditor's report
is appropriate. (Ref: par. . A26—.A31)

Differences of Opinion

.23 If differences of opinion arise within the engagement team; with those
consulted; or, when applicable, between the engagement partner and the en-
gagement quality control reviewer, the engagement team should follow the
firm's policies and procedures for resolving differences of opinion.

Monitoring

.24 An effective system of quality control includes a monitoring process
designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that its policies and
procedures relating to the system of quality control are relevant, adequate, and
operating effectively. The engagement partner should consider

a. the results of the firm's monitoring process as evidenced in the
latest information circulated to the engagement partner by the
firm and, if applicable, other network firms and

b.  whether deficiencies noted in that information may affect the au-
dit engagement. (Ref: par. .A32—.A34)

Documentation

.25 The auditor should include in the audit documentation the following:®
(Ref: par. .A35)

6 Paragraphs .08-.12 and .AS8 of section 230, Audit Documentation.
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a. Issuesidentified with respect to compliance with relevant ethical
requirements and how they were resolved

b.  Conclusions on compliance with independence requirements that
apply to the audit engagement and any relevant discussions with
the firm that support these conclusions

c¢. Conclusions reached regarding the acceptance and continuance
of client relationships and audit engagements

d. The nature and scope of, and conclusions resulting from, consulta-
tions undertaken during the course of the audit engagement (Ref:
par. .A36)

.26 The engagement quality control reviewer should document, for the au-
dit engagement reviewed

a. that the procedures required by the firm's policies on engagement
quality control review have been performed;

b. the date that the engagement quality control review was com-
pleted; and

c. that the reviewer is not aware of any unresolved matters that
would cause the reviewer to believe that the significant judg-
ments that the engagement team made and the conclusions it
reached were not appropriate.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

System of Quality Control and the Role of the Engagement
Teams (Ref: par. .02)

Al QC section 10 addresses the firm's responsibilities to establish and
maintain its system of quality control for audit engagements. The system of

quality control includes policies and procedures that address each of the fol-
lowing elements:

® Leadership responsibilities for quality within the firm
® Relevant ethical requirements

® Acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific en-
gagements

Human resources
Engagement performance
Monitoring

Reliance on the Firm’s System of Quality Control (Ref: par. .05)

A2 Unless information provided by the firm or other parties suggests oth-
erwise, the engagement team may rely on the firm's system of quality control
regarding, for example

® competence of personnel through their recruitment and formal
training.

® independence through the accumulation and communication of
relevant independence information.

® maintenance of client relationships through acceptance and con-
tinuance systems.

® adherence to applicable legal and regulatory requirements
through the monitoring process.

©2017, AICPA AU-C §220.A2



128 General Principles and Responsibilities

Leadership Responsibilities for Quality on Audits (Ref: par. .10)

.A3 The engagement partner's actions and communications with the other
members of the engagement team demonstrate responsibility for the overall
quality on each audit engagement when they emphasize

a. the importance to audit quality of

i. performing work that complies with professional stan-
dards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

ii. complying with the firm's applicable quality control poli-
cies and procedures;

iii. issuing auditor's reports that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances; and

iv. the engagement team's ability to raise concerns without
fear of reprisals and

b. thefact that quality is essential in performing audit engagements.

Relevant Ethical Requirements

Compliance With Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: par. .11)

A4 The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct establishes the fundamental
principles of professional ethics, which include the following:

® Responsibilities

The public interest

Integrity

Objectivity and independence

Due care

Threats to Independence (Ref: par. .13)

A5 The engagement team may identify a threat to independence regard-
ing the audit engagement that safeguards may not be able to eliminate or re-
duce to an acceptable level. In that case, as required by paragraph .13c, the
engagement partner reports to the relevant person(s) within the firm to deter-
mine appropriate action, which may include eliminating the activity or interest
that creates the threat or withdrawing from the audit engagement when with-
drawal is possible under applicable law or regulation.

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities

A6 Law or regulation may provide safeguards for the independence of gov-
ernmental audit organizations and the auditors employed by them. However,
in the absence of law or regulation, governmental audit organizations may es-
tablish supplemental safeguards to assist the auditor or audit organization in
maintaining independence. Additionally, when law or regulation does not per-
mit withdrawal from the engagement, the auditor may disclose in the auditor's
report the circumstances affecting the auditor's independence.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Audit
Engagements (Ref: par. .14)

A7 QC section 10 requires the firm to obtain information considered
necessary in the circumstances before accepting an engagement with a new
client, when deciding whether to continue an existing engagement, and when
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considering acceptance of a new engagement with an existing client.” Infor-
mation such as the following assists the engagement partner in determining
whether the conclusions reached regarding the acceptance and continuance of
client relationships and audit engagements are appropriate:

® The integrity of the principal owners, key management, and those
charged with governance of the entity

® Whether the engagement team is competent to perform the au-
dit engagement and has the necessary capabilities, including time
and resources

®  Whether the firm and the engagement team can comply with rel-
evant ethical requirements

® Significant findings or issues that have arisen during the current
or previous audit engagement and their implications for continu-
ing the relationship

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities (Ref: par. .14-.15)

.A8 For some governmental entities, auditors may be appointed in accor-
dance with law or regulation, and the auditor may not be permitted to decline or
withdraw from the engagement. Accordingly, certain of the requirements and
considerations regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships
and audit engagements as set out in paragraphs .14—.15 and .A7 may not be
relevant. Nonetheless, information gathered as a result of the process described
may be valuable in planning the audit, performing risk assessments, and car-
rying out reporting responsibilities.

Assignment of Engagement Teams (Ref: par. .16)

A9 A person with expertise in a specialized area of accounting or auditing
is a member of the engagement team if that person performs audit procedures
on the engagement. This applies whether that person is an employee of the firm
or a nonemployee engaged by the firm. However, a person with such expertise
is not a member of the engagement team if that person's involvement with the
engagement is only consultation. Consultations are addressed in paragraphs
.20 and .A20-.A22.

.A10 When considering the appropriate competence and capabilities ex-
pected of the engagement team as a whole, the engagement partner may take
into consideration such matters as the team's

® understanding of, and practical experience with, audit engage-
ments of a similar nature and complexity through appropriate
training and participation.

® understanding of professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

® technical expertise, including expertise with relevant IT and spe-
cialized areas of accounting or auditing.

® knowledge of relevant industries in which the entity operates.
® ability to apply professional judgment.

® understanding of the firm's quality control policies and proce-
dures.

7 Paragraph .27 of QC section 10.
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Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities (Ref: par. .16)

.Al1l For audits of governmental entities, competence may include skills
that are necessary to comply with applicable law or regulation. Such com-
petence may include knowledge of Government Auditing Standards and an
understanding of the applicable reporting requirements, including reporting
to the legislature or other governing body or in the public interest. The scope of
a governmental audit may include, for example, additional requirements with
respect to detecting misstatements that result from violations of provisions of
contracts or grant agreements that could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts or the need to examine and
report on internal control over financial reporting or compliance.

Engagement Performance

Direction, Supervision, and Performance (Ref: par. .17a)

.A12 Direction of the engagement team involves informing the members
of the engagement team of matters such as the following:

® Their responsibilities, including the need to comply with relevant
ethical requirements and to plan and perform an audit with pro-
fessional skepticism as required by section 200, Overall Objectives
of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accor-
dance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards®

® Responsibilities of respective partners when more than one part-
ner is involved in the conduct of an audit engagement

The objectives of the work to be performed
The nature of the entity's business
Risk-related issues

Problems that may arise

The detailed approach to the performance of the engagement

Discussion among members of the engagement team allows team members to
raise questions so that appropriate communication can occur within the en-
gagement team.

.A13 Appropriate teamwork and training assist members of the engage-
ment team to clearly understand the objectives of the assigned work.

.Al14 Supervision includes matters such as the following:
® Tracking the progress of the audit engagement

® (Considering the competence and capabilities of individual mem-
bers of the engagement team, including whether they have suffi-
cient time to carry out their work, they understand their instruc-
tions, and the work is being carried out in accordance with the
planned approach to the audit engagement

® Addressing significant findings or issues arising during the au-
dit engagement, considering their significance, and modifying the
planned approach appropriately

® Identifying matters for consultation or consideration by qualified
engagement team members during the audit engagement

8 Paragraphs .16-.17 of section 200.
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Review

Review Responsibilities (Ref: par. .18)

.A15 Under QC section 10, the firm's review responsibility policies and
procedures are determined on the basis that suitably experienced team mem-
bers review the work of other team members.? The engagement partner may
delegate part of the review responsibility to other members of the engagement
team, in accordance with the firm's system of quality control.

.A16 A review consists of consideration of whether, for example
® the work has been performed in accordance with professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
® gignificant findings or issues have been raised for further consid-
eration;
® appropriate consultations have taken place and the resulting con-
clusions have been documented and implemented;

® the nature, timing, and extent of the work performed is appropri-
ate and without need for revision;

® the work performed supports the conclusions reached and is ap-
propriately documented;

® the evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support the
auditor's report; and

® the objectives of the engagement procedures have been achieved.

The Engagement Partner's Review of the Work Performed (Ref: par. .19)

.A17 Timely reviews of the following by the engagement partner at appro-
priate stages during the engagement allow significant findings or issues to be
resolved on a timely basis to the engagement partner's satisfaction on or before
the date of the auditor's report:

® (Critical areas of judgment, especially those relating to difficult or
contentious matters identified during the course of the engage-
ment

® Significant risks
® Other areas that the engagement partner considers important
The engagement partner need not review all audit documentation but may do

so. However, as required by section 230, Audit Documentation, the partner doc-
uments the extent and timing of the reviews.°

.A18 An engagement partner taking over an audit during the engagement
may apply the review procedures as described in paragraph .A17 to review the
work performed to the date of the change in order to assume the responsibilities
of an engagement partner.

Considerations Relevant When a Member of the Engagement Team With
Expertise in a Specialized Area of Accounting or Auditing Is Used
(Ref: par. .17-.19)

.A19 When the engagement team includes a member with expertise in a
specialized area of accounting or auditing, direction, supervision, and review of

9 Paragraph .36 of QC section 10.
10 Paragraph .09c of section 230.
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that engagement team member's work is the same as for any other engagement
team member and may include matters such as the following:

® Agreeing with that member upon the nature, scope, and objectives
of that member's work and the respective roles of, and the nature,
timing, and extent of communication between, that member and
other members of the engagement team

® [Evaluating the adequacy of that member's work, including the
relevance and reasonableness of that member's findings or con-
clusions and the consistency of those findings or conclusions with
other audit evidence

Consultation (Ref: par. .20)

.A20 Members of the engagement team have a professional responsibility
to bring to the attention of appropriate personnel matters that, in their profes-
sional judgment, are difficult or contentious and may require consultation.

.A21 Effective consultation on significant technical, ethical, and other mat-
ters within the firm or, when applicable, outside the firm can be achieved when
those consulted

® are given all the relevant facts that will enable them to provide
informed advice and

® have appropriate knowledge, authority, and experience.

.A22 The engagement team may consult outside the firm (for example,
when the firm lacks appropriate internal resources). The engagement team may
take advantage of advisory services provided by other firms, professional and
regulatory bodies, or commercial organizations that provide relevant quality
control services.

Engagement Quality Control Review

Completion of the Engagement Quality Control Review Before Releasing the Au-
ditor's Report (Ref: par. .21c)

.A23 Conducting the engagement quality control review in a timely man-
ner at appropriate stages during the engagement allows significant findings
or issues to be promptly resolved to the engagement quality control reviewer's
satisfaction.

.A24 Completion of the engagement quality control review means the com-
pletion by the engagement quality control reviewer of the requirements in para-
graph .22 and, when applicable, compliance with paragraph .23. Documenta-
tion of the engagement quality control review may be completed after the re-
port release date as part of the assembly of the final audit file. Section 230
establishes requirements and provides guidance in this regard.!!

.A25 When the engagement quality control review is completed after the
auditor's report is dated and identifies instances where additional procedures
or additional evidence is necessary, the date of the report is changed to the
date when the additional procedures have been satisfactorily completed or the
additional evidence has been obtained, in accordance with section 700, Forming
an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements.

11 Paragraphs .15-.18 and .A24—.A29 of section 230.
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Nature, Timing, and Extent of Engagement Quality Control Review (Ref: par.
.22)

.A26 By remaining alert for changes in circumstances, the engagement
partner is able to identify situations in which an engagement quality control
review is necessary, even though at the start of the engagement such a review
was not required.

.A27 The extent of the engagement quality control review may depend,
among other things, on the complexity of the audit engagement and the risk
that the auditor's report might not be appropriate in the circumstances. The
performance of an engagement quality control review does not reduce the re-
sponsibilities of the engagement partner for the audit engagement and its per-
formance.

A28 Matters relevant to evaluating the significant judgments made by
the engagement team that may be considered in an engagement quality control
review include the following:

® Significant risks identified during the engagement in accordance
with section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment
and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, and the re-
sponses to those risks in accordance with section 330, Performing
Audit Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating
the Audit Evidence Obtained,including the engagement team's as-
sessment of, and response to, the risk of fraud in accordance with
section 240, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Au-
dit

® Judgments made, particularly with respect to materiality and sig-
nificant risks

® The significance and disposition of corrected and uncorrected mis-
statements identified during the audit

® The matters to be communicated to management and those
charged with governance and, when applicable, other parties, such
as regulatory bodies

.A29 The engagement quality control reviewer may also consider the fol-
lowing:

® The evaluation of the firm's independence with regard to the audit
engagement

® Whether appropriate consultation has taken place on matters in-
volving differences of opinion or other difficult or contentious mat-
ters and the related conclusions arising from those consultations

®  Whether audit documentation selected for review reflects the
work performed regarding the significant judgments and supports
the conclusions reached

Considerations Specific to Smaller, Less Complex Entities (Ref: par. .21-.22)

.A30 An engagement quality control review is required for audit engage-
ments that meet the criteria established by the firm that subjects engagements
to an engagement quality control review. In some cases, none of the firm's audit
engagements may meet the criteria that would subject them to such a review.

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities (Ref: par. .22)

.A31 A statutorily appointed auditor (for example, an auditor general or
other suitably qualified person within the audit organization acting on behalf of
the auditor general) may act in a role equivalent to that of engagement partner
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with overall responsibility for the governmental audit. In such circumstances,
when applicable, the selection of the engagement quality control reviewer in-
cludes consideration of the need for independence from the audited entity and
the ability of the engagement quality control reviewer to provide an objective
evaluation.

Monitoring (Ref: par. .24)

.A32 QC section 10 requires the firm to establish a monitoring process de-
signed to provide it with reasonable assurance that the policies and procedures
relating to the system of quality control are relevant, adequate, and operating
effectively.!?

.A33 In considering deficiencies that may affect the audit engagement, the
engagement partner may consider measures the firm took to rectify the situ-
ation that the engagement partner considers sufficient in the context of that
audit.

.A34 A deficiency in the firm's system of quality control does not neces-
sarily indicate that a particular audit engagement was not performed in accor-
dance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory require-
ments or that the auditor's report was not appropriate.

Documentation (Ref: par. .25)

.A35 Section 230 addresses the auditor's responsibility to prepare audit
documentation for an audit of financial statements. Section 230 also states that
it is neither necessary nor practicable for the auditor to document every matter
considered, or professional judgment made, in an audit.!?

.A36 Documentation of consultations with other professionals involving
difficult or contentious matters that is sufficiently complete and detailed con-
tributes to an understanding of

® the issue on which consultation was sought and

® the results of the consultation, including any decisions made, the
basis for those decisions, and how they were implemented.

12 Paragraph .52 of QC section 10.
13 Paragraph .A9 of section 230.
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AU-C Section 230
Audit Documentation

Source: SAS No. 122; SAS No. 123; SAS No. 128.
See section 9230 for interpretations of this section.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the auditor's responsibility to prepare audit doc-
umentation for an audit of financial statements. The exhibit, "Audit Documen-
tation Requirements in Other AU-C Sections," lists other AU-C sections that
contain specific documentation requirements and guidance. The specific doc-
umentation requirements of other AU-C sections do not limit the application
of this section. Law, regulation, or other standards may establish additional
documentation requirements.

Nature and Purposes of Audit Documentation

.02 Audit documentation that meets the requirements of this section and
the specific documentation requirements of other relevant AU-C sections pro-
vides

a. evidence of the auditor's basis for a conclusion about the achieve-
ment of the overall objectives of the auditor;! and

b. evidence that the audit was planned and performed in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) and applica-
ble legal and regulatory requirements.

.03 Audit documentation serves a number of additional purposes, includ-
ing the following:

® Assisting the engagement team to plan and perform the audit

® Assisting members of the engagement team responsible for su-
pervision to direct and supervise the audit work and to discharge
their review responsibilities in accordance with section 220, Qual-
ity Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance With Gen-
erally Accepted Auditing Standards?

® FEnabling the engagement team to demonstrate that it is account-
able for its work by documenting the procedures performed, the
audit evidence examined, and the conclusions reached

® Retaining a record of matters of continuing significance to future
audits of the same entity

1 Paragraph .12 of section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of
an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

2 Paragraphs .17—.19 of section 220, Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance
With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

©2017, AICPA AU-C §230.03



136 General Principles and Responsibilities

® Enabling the conduct of quality control reviews and inspections in
accordance with QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control

® Enabling the conduct of external inspections or peer reviews in ac-
cordance with applicable legal, regulatory, or other requirements

® Assisting an auditor who reviews a predecessor auditor's audit
documentation

® Assisting auditors to understand the work performed in the prior
year as an aid in planning and performing the current engagement

Effective Date

.04 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Objective
.05 The objective of the auditor is to prepare documentation that provides

a. a sufficient and appropriate record of the basis for the auditor's
report; and

b. evidence that the audit was planned and performed in accordance
with GAAS and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Definitions

.06 For purposes of GAAS, the following terms have the meanings at-
tributed as follows:

Audit documentation. The record of audit procedures performed,
relevant audit evidence obtained, and conclusions the auditor
reached (terms such as working papers or workpapers are also
sometimes used).

Audit file. One or more folders or other storage media, in physical or
electronic form, containing the records that constitute the audit
documentation for a specific engagement.

Documentation completion date. The date, no later than 60 days
following the report release date, on which the auditor has assem-
bled for retention a complete and final set of documentation in an
audit file.

Experienced auditor. An individual (whether internal or external
to the firm) who has practical audit experience, and a reasonable
understanding of (Ref: par. .Al)

a. audit processes;
b. GAAS and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

c. the business environment in which the entity operates;
and

d. auditing and financial reporting issues relevant to the en-
tity's industry.

Report release date. The date the auditor grants the entity per-
mission to use the auditor's report in connection with the financial
statements. (Ref: par. .A2)
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Requirements

Timely Preparation of Audit Documentation

.07 The auditor should prepare audit documentation on a timely basis.
(Ref: par. .A3)

Documentation of the Audit Procedures Performed and Audit
Evidence Obtained

Form, Content, and Extent of Audit Documentation

.08 The auditor should prepare audit documentation that is sufficient to
enable an experienced auditor, having no previous connection with the audit,
to understand (Ref: par. .A4— A7 and .A19-.A20)

a. the nature, timing, and extent of the audit procedures performed
to comply with GAAS and applicable legal and regulatory require-
ments; (Ref: par. . A8—.A9)

b.  the results of the audit procedures performed, and the audit evi-
dence obtained; and

c. significant findings or issues arising during the audit, the con-
clusions reached thereon, and significant professional judgments
made in reaching those conclusions. (Ref: par. .A10-.A13)

.09 In documenting the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures per-
formed, the auditor should record

a. the identifying characteristics of the specific items or matters
tested; (Ref: par. .A14)

b.  who performed the audit work and the date such work was com-
pleted; and

c¢. who reviewed the audit work performed and the date and extent
of such review. (Ref: par. .A15)

.10 For audit procedures related to the inspection of significant contracts
or agreements, the auditor should include abstracts or copies of those contracts
or agreements in the audit documentation.

.11 The auditor should document discussions of significant findings or is-
sues with management, those charged with governance, and others, including
the nature of the significant findings or issues discussed, and when and with
whom the discussions took place. (Ref: par. .A16)

.12 Ifthe auditor identified information that is inconsistent with the audi-
tor's final conclusion regarding a significant finding or issue, the auditor should
document how the auditor addressed the inconsistency. (Ref: par. . A17-.A18)

Departure From a Relevant Requirement

.13 If, in rare circumstances, the auditor judges it necessary to depart from
arelevant presumptively mandatory requirement,® the auditor must document
the justification for the departure and how the alternative audit procedures
performed in the circumstances were sufficient to achieve the intent of that
requirement. (Ref: par. . A21-.A22)

3 Paragraph .26 of section 200.
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Matters Arising After the Date of the Auditor’s Report

.14 If, in rare circumstances, the auditor performs new or additional audit
procedures or draws new conclusions after the date of the auditor's report, the
auditor should document (Ref: par. .A23)

the circumstances encountered,;

b. the new or additional audit procedures performed, audit evidence
obtained, and conclusions reached, and their effect on the audi-
tor's report; and

c¢. when and by whom the resulting changes to audit documentation
were made and reviewed.

Assembly and Retention of the Final Audit File

.15 The auditor should document the report release date in the audit doc-
umentation.

.16 The auditor should assemble the audit documentation in an audit file
and complete the administrative process of assembling the final audit file on a
timely basis, no later than 60 days following the report release date. (Ref: par.
A24— A26)

.17 After the documentation completion date, the auditor should not delete
or discard audit documentation of any nature before the end of the specified
retention period. Such retention period, however, should not be shorter than
five years from the report release date. (Ref: par. .A27—.A29)

.18 In circumstances other than those addressed in paragraph .14 in which
the auditor finds it necessary to modify existing audit documentation or add
new audit documentation after the documentation completion date, the auditor
should, regardless of the nature of the modifications or additions, document
(Ref: par. .A28)

a. the specific reasons for making the changes; and
b. when and by whom they were made and reviewed.

.19 The auditor should adopt reasonable procedures to maintain the con-
fidentiality of client information.

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Definitions (Ref: par. .06)

Experienced Auditor

.Al Having practical audit experience means possessing the competencies
and skills that would have enabled the auditor to perform the audit but does
not mean that the auditor is required to have performed comparable audits.

Report Release Date

A2 In many cases, the report release date will be the date the auditor
delivers the audit report to the entity. When there are delays in releasing the
report, a fact may become known to the auditor that, had it been known to the
auditor at the date of the auditor's report, may have caused the auditor to revise
the auditor's report. Section 560, Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discov-
ered Facts, addresses the auditor's responsibilities in such circumstances, and
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paragraph .14 addresses the documentation requirements in the rare circum-
stances in which the auditor performs new or additional audit procedures or
draws new conclusions after the date of the auditor's report.

Timely Preparation of Audit Documentation (Ref: par. .07)

.A3 Preparing sufficient and appropriate audit documentation on a timely
basis throughout the audit helps to enhance the quality of the audit and fa-
cilitates the effective review and evaluation of the audit evidence obtained and
conclusions reached before the auditor's report is finalized. Documentation pre-
pared at the time such work is performed or shortly thereafter is likely to be
more accurate than documentation prepared at a much later time.

Documentation of the Audit Procedures Performed and Audit
Evidence Obtained

Form, Content, and Extent of Audit Documentation (Ref: par. .08)

.A4 The form, content, and extent of audit documentation depend on fac-
tors such as

® the size and complexity of the entity.

the nature of the audit procedures to be performed.
the identified risks of material misstatement.

the significance of the audit evidence obtained.

the nature and extent of exceptions identified.

the need to document a conclusion or the basis for a conclusion
not readily determinable from the documentation of the work per-
formed or audit evidence obtained.

® the audit methodology and tools used.

® the extent of judgment involved in performing the work and eval-
uating the results.

A5 Audit documentation may be recorded on paper or on electronic or
other media. QC section 10 addresses a firm's responsibility to establish pro-
cedures designed to maintain the integrity, accessibility, and retrievability of
documentation; for example, when original paper documentation is electroni-
cally scanned or otherwise copied to another media for inclusion in the audit
file.* Examples of audit documentation include the following:

®  Audit plans®

Analyses

Issues memorandums

Summaries of significant findings or issues
Letters of confirmation and representation
Checklists

Correspondence (including e-mail) concerning significant findings
or issues

4 Paragraph .A58 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control.
5 Paragraphs .07-.11 of section 300, Planning an Audit.
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A6 The auditor need not include in audit documentation superseded
drafts of working papers and financial statements, notes that reflect incomplete
or preliminary thinking, previous copies of documents corrected for typograph-
ical or other errors, and duplicates of documents.

A7 On their own, oral explanations by the auditor do not represent ad-
equate support for the work the auditor performed or conclusions the auditor
reached, but may be used to explain or clarify information contained in the
audit documentation.

Documentation of Compliance With GAAS (Ref: par. .08a)

.A8 In principle, compliance with the requirements of this section will re-
sult in the audit documentation being sufficient and appropriate in the circum-
stances. Other AU-C sections contain specific documentation requirements that
are intended to clarify the application of this section in the particular circum-
stances of those other AU-C sections. The specific documentation requirements
of other AU-C sections do not limit the application of this section. Furthermore,
the absence of a documentation requirement in any particular AU-C section is
not intended to suggest that there is no documentation that will be prepared
as a result of complying with that AU-C section.

.A9 Audit documentation provides evidence that the audit complies with
GAAS. However, it is neither necessary nor practicable for the auditor to docu-
ment every matter considered, or professional judgment made, in an audit. Fur-
ther, it is unnecessary for the auditor to document separately (as in a checklist,
for example) compliance with matters for which compliance is demonstrated by
documents included within the audit file. For example:

® The existence of an adequately documented audit plan demon-
strates that the auditor has planned the audit.

® The existence of a signed engagement letter in the audit file
demonstrates that the auditor has agreed to the terms of the
audit engagement with management or, when appropriate, those
charged with governance.

® An auditor's report containing an appropriately qualified opinion
on the financial statements demonstrates that the auditor has
complied with the requirement to express a qualified opinion un-
der the circumstances in accordance with GAAS.

® Regarding requirements that apply generally throughout the au-
dit, there may be a number of ways in which compliance with them
may be demonstrated within the audit file:

— For example, there may be no single way in which the audi-
tor's professional skepticism is documented. But the audit
documentation may nevertheless provide evidence of the
auditor's exercise of professional skepticism in accordance
with GAAS. Such evidence may include specific procedures
performed to corroborate management's responses to the
auditor's inquiries.

— Similarly, that the engagement partner has taken respon-
sibility for the direction, supervision, and performance of
the audit in compliance with GAAS may be evidenced in a
number of ways within the audit documentation. This may
include documentation of the engagement partner's timely
involvement in aspects of the audit, such as participation
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in the team discussions required by section 315, Under-
standing the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the
Risks of Material Misstatement.®

Documentation of Significant Findings or Issues and Related Significant Pro-
fessional Judgments (Ref: par. .08¢c)

.A10 Judging the significance of a finding or issue requires an objective
analysis of the facts and circumstances. Examples of significant findings or is-
sues include

® matters involving the selection, application, and consistency of sig-
nificant accounting practices, including related disclosures. Such
matters include, but are not limited to (a) accounting for complex
or unusual transactions or (b) accounting estimates and uncer-
tainties and, if applicable, the related management assumptions.

® matters that give rise to significant risks (as defined in section
315).7

® results of audit procedures (including identification of corrected
and uncorrected misstatements)® indicating (a) that the financial
statements could be materially misstated or (b) a need to revise
the auditor's previous assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement and the auditor's responses to those risks.

® circumstances that cause the auditor significant difficulty in ap-
plying necessary audit procedures.

® findings that could result in a modification to the audit opinion or
the inclusion of an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the auditor's
report.

A1l An important factor in determining the form, content, and extent of
audit documentation of significant findings or issues is the extent of profes-
sional judgment exercised in performing the work and evaluating the results.
Documentation of the professional judgments made, when significant, serves to
explain the auditor's conclusions and to reinforce the quality of the judgment.
Such findings or issues are of particular interest to those responsible for re-
viewing audit documentation, including those carrying out subsequent audits
when reviewing items of continuing significance (for example, when performing
a retrospective review of accounting estimates).

.A12 Some examples of circumstances in which, in accordance with para-
graph .08, it is appropriate to prepare audit documentation relating to the exer-
cise of professional judgment include, when the findings, issues, and judgments
are significant,

® the rationale for the auditor's conclusion when a requirement pro-
vides that the auditor should consider certain information or fac-
tors, and that consideration is significant in the context of the par-
ticular engagement.

® the basis for the auditor's conclusion on the reasonableness of ar-
eas of subjective judgments (for example, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates).

6 Paragraph .33 of section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the
Risks of Material Misstatement.

7 Paragraphs .28-.30 of section 315.
8 See section 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified During the Audit.
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® the basis for the auditor's conclusions about the authenticity of a
document when further investigation (such as making appropri-
ate use of a specialist or of confirmation procedures) is undertaken
in response to conditions identified during the audit that caused
the auditor to believe that the document may not be authentic.

.A13 The auditor may consider it helpful to prepare and retain as part of
the audit documentation a summary (sometimes known as a completion mem-
orandum) that describes the significant findings or issues identified during the
audit and how they were addressed, or that includes cross-references to other
relevant supporting audit documentation that provides such information. Such
a summary may facilitate effective and efficient reviews and inspections of
the audit documentation, particularly for large and complex audits. Further,
the preparation of such a summary may assist the auditor's consideration of the
significant findings or issues. It may also help the auditor to consider whether,
in light of the audit procedures performed and conclusions reached, there is any
individual relevant AU-C section objective that the auditor cannot achieve that
would prevent the auditor from achieving the overall objectives of the auditor.

Identification of Specific ltems or Matters Tested and of the Preparer
and the Reviewer (Ref: par. .09)

.Al14 Recording the identifying characteristics serves a number of pur-
poses. For example, it improves the ability of the auditor to supervise and re-
view the work performed and thus demonstrates the accountability of the en-
gagement team for its work and facilitates the investigation of exceptions or
inconsistencies. Identifying characteristics will vary with the nature of the au-
dit procedure and the item or matter tested. For example:

®  For adetailed test of entity-generated purchase orders, the auditor
may identify the documents selected for testing by their dates and
unique purchase order numbers.

® For a procedure requiring selection or review of all items over a
specific amount from a given population, the auditor may record
the scope of the procedure and identify the population (for exam-
ple, all journal entries over a specified amount from the journal
register for the period being audited).

® For a procedure requiring systematic sampling from a population
of documents, the auditor may identify the documents selected by
recording their source, the starting point, and the sampling inter-
val (for example, a systematic sample of shipping reports selected
from the shipping log for the period from April 1 to September
30, starting with report number 12345 and selecting every 125th
report).

®  For aprocedure requiring inquiries of specific entity personnel, the
auditor may record the inquiries made, the dates of the inquiries,
and the names and job designations of the entity personnel.

®  For an observation procedure, the auditor may record the process
or matter being observed, the relevant individuals, their respec-
tive responsibilities, and where and when the observation was
carried out.

.A15 Section 220 requires the auditor to review the audit work performed
through review of the audit documentation.® The requirement to document who

9 Paragraph .19 of section 220.
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reviewed the audit work performed and the extent of the review, in accordance
with the firm's policies and procedures addressing review responsibilities, does
not imply a need for each specific working paper to include evidence of review.
The requirement, however, means documenting what audit work was reviewed,
who reviewed such work, and when it was reviewed.

Documentation of Discussions of Significant Findings or Issues With Manage-
ment, Those Charged With Governance, and Others (Ref: par. .11)

.A16 The audit documentation is not limited to documents prepared by
the auditor but may include other appropriate documents such as minutes of
meetings prepared by the entity's personnel and recognized by the auditor as
an appropriate summary of the meeting. Others with whom the auditor may
discuss significant findings or issues may include other personnel within the
entity, and external parties, such as persons providing professional advice to
the entity.

Documentation of How Inconsistencies Have Been Addressed (Ref: par. .12)

.A17 The requirement to document how the auditor addressed inconsis-
tencies in information does not imply that the auditor needs to retain docu-
mentation that is incorrect or superseded.

.A18 The documentation of the inconsistency may include, but is not lim-
ited to, procedures performed in response to the information, and documenta-
tion of consultations on, or resolutions of, differences in professional judgment
among members of the engagement team or between the engagement team and
others consulted.

Considerations Specific to Smaller, Less Complex Entities (Ref: par. .08)

.A19 The audit documentation for the audit of a smaller, less complex en-
tity is generally less extensive than that for the audit of a larger, more com-
plex entity. Further, in the case of an audit in which the engagement partner
performs all the audit work, the documentation will not include matters that
might have to be documented solely to inform or instruct members of an en-
gagement team, or to provide evidence of review by other members of the team
(for example, there will be no matters to document relating to team discussions
or supervision). Nevertheless, the engagement partner complies with the over-
riding requirement in paragraph .08 to prepare audit documentation that can
be understood by an experienced auditor, as the audit documentation may be
subject to review by external parties for regulatory or other purposes.

.A20 When preparing audit documentation, the auditor of a smaller, less
complex entity may also find it helpful and efficient to record various aspects
of the audit together in a single document, with cross-references to supporting
working papers as appropriate. Examples of matters that may be documented
together in the audit of a smaller, less complex entity include the understanding
of the entity and its internal control; the overall audit strategy and audit plan;
materiality; assessed risks, significant findings or issues noted during the audit;
and conclusions reached.

Departure From a Relevant Requirement (Ref: par. .13)

.A21 The requirements of GAAS are designed to enable the auditor to
achieve the objectives specified in GAAS, and thereby the overall objectives
of the auditor. Accordingly, other than in rare circumstances, GAAS call for
compliance with each requirement that is relevant in the circumstances of the
audit.
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.A22 The documentation requirement applies only to requirements that
are relevant in the circumstances. A requirement is not relevant!® only in the
cases in which

a. the AU-C section is not relevant (for example, if an entity does not
have an internal audit function, nothing in section 610, Using the
Work of Internal Auditors, is relevant); or

b. the requirement is conditional and the condition does not ex-
ist (for example, the requirement to modify the auditor's opinion
when there is an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence, and there is no such inability).

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128.]

Matters Arising After the Date of the Auditor’s Report (Ref: par. .14)

.A23 Examples of rare circumstances in which the auditor performs new
or additional audit procedures or draws new conclusions after the date of the
auditor's report include

® when, after the date of the auditor's report, the auditor becomes
aware of facts that existed at that date and which, if known at that
date, might have caused the financial statements to be revised or
the auditor to modify the opinion in the auditor's report.!!

® when the auditor concludes that procedures necessary at the time
of the audit, in the circumstances then existing, were omitted from
the audit of the financial information.?

The resulting changes to the audit documentation are reviewed in accordance
with the firm's quality control procedures as required by QC section 10.

Assembly and Retention of the Final Audit File (Ref: par. .16-.18)

.A24 Statutes, regulations, or the audit firm's quality control policies may
specify a period of time shorter than 60 days following the report release date
in which this assembly process is to be completed.

.A25 Certain matters, such as auditor independence and staff training,
which are not engagement specific, may be documented either centrally within
a firm or in the audit documentation for an audit engagement.

.A26 The completion of the assembly of the final audit file after the date of
the auditor's report is an administrative process that does not involve the per-
formance of new audit procedures or the drawing of new conclusions. Changes
may, however, be made to the audit documentation during the final assembly
process if they are administrative in nature. Examples of such changes include

® deleting or discarding superseded documentation.
® sorting, collating, and cross-referencing working papers.

® signing off on completion checklists relating to the file assembly
process.

10 Paragraph .24 of section 200.
11 Paragraphs .12 and .15 of section 560, Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts.

12 Paragraph .07 of section 585, Consideration of Omitted Procedures After the Report Release
Date.
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® documenting audit evidence that the auditor has obtained, dis-
cussed, and agreed with the relevant members of the engagement
team before the date of the auditor's report.

® adding information received after the date of the auditor's report;
for example, an original confirmation that was previously faxed.

.A27 Firms are required to establish policies and procedures for the reten-
tion of engagement documentation.!® Statutes, regulations, or the audit firm's
quality control policies may specify a retention period longer than five years.

.A28 An example of a circumstance in which the auditor may find it neces-
sary to modify existing audit documentation or add new audit documentation
after the documentation completion date is the need to clarify existing audit
documentation arising from comments received during monitoring inspections
performed by internal or external parties.

A29 Audit documentation is the property of the auditor, and some states
recognize this right of ownership in their statutes. The auditor may make avail-
able to the entity at the auditor's discretion copies of the audit documentation,
provided such disclosure does not undermine the effectiveness and integrity of
the audit process.

13 Paragraph .50 of QC section 10.
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Exhibit— Audit Documentation Requirements in Other
AU-C Sections

The following lists the main paragraphs in other AU-C sections that contain
specific documentation requirements. This list is not a substitute for knowledge
of the AU-C sections:

a.

b.

S

Paragraphs .10, .13, and .16 of section 210, Terms of Engagement

Paragraphs .25-.26 of section 220, Quality Control for an Engage-
ment Conducted in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards

Paragraphs .43—.46 of section 240, Consideration of Fraud in a
Financial Statement Audit

Paragraph .28 of section 250, Consideration of Laws and Regula-
tions in an Audit of Financial Statements

Paragraph .20 of section 260, The Auditor's Communication With
Those Charged With Governance

Paragraph .12 of section 265, Communicating Internal Control
Related Matters Identified in an Audit

Paragraph .14 of section 300, Planning an Audit

Paragraph .33 of section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its
Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement

Paragraph .14 of section 320, Materiality in Planning and Per-
forming an Audit

Paragraphs .30—.33 of section 330, Performing Audit Procedures
in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence
Obtained

Paragraph .12 of section 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Iden-
tified During the Audit

Paragraph .20 of section 501, Audit Evidence—Specific Consider-
ations for Selected Items

Paragraph .08 of section 520, Analytical Procedures

Paragraph .22 of section 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, In-
cluding Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures

Paragraph .28 of section 550, Related Parties

Paragraph .22 of section 570, The Auditor's Consideration of an
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

Paragraphs .49 and .64 of section 600, Special Considerations—
Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of
Component Auditors)

Paragraph .13 of section 915, Reports on Application of Require-
ments of an Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

Paragraphs .42—.43 of section 930, Interim Financial Information
Paragraphs .39-.42 of section 935, Compliance Audits

[Revised, August 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SAS No. 126.]
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AU-C Section 9230

Audit Documentation: Auditing
Interpretations of Section 230

1. Providing Access to or Copies of Audit
Documentation to a Regulator -2

.01 Question—Paragraph .19 of section 230, Audit Documentation, states
that "the auditor should adopt reasonable procedures to maintain the confiden-
tiality of client information." However, auditors are sometimes required by law,
regulation, or audit contract? to provide a regulator, or a duly appointed repre-
sentative, access to audit documentation. For example, a regulator may request
access to the audit documentation to fulfill a quality review requirement or to
assist in establishing the scope of a regulatory examination. Furthermore, as
part of the regulator's review of the audit documentation, the regulator may
request copies of all or selected portions of the audit documentation during or
after the review. The regulator may intend, or decide, to make copies (or infor-
mation derived from the audit documentation) available to others, including
other governmental agencies, for their particular purposes, with or without the
knowledge of the auditor or the client. When a regulator requests the auditor
to provide access to (and possibly copies of) audit documentation pursuant to
law, regulation, or audit contract, what steps may the auditor take?

.02 Interpretation—When a regulator requests access to audit documen-
tation pursuant to law, regulation, or audit contract, the auditor may take the
following steps:

a. Consider advising the client that the regulator has requested ac-
cess to (and possibly copies of) the audit documentation and that
the auditor intends to comply with such request.*

b. Make appropriate arrangements with the regulator for the review.

Maintain control over the audit documentation, and
d. Consider submitting the letter described in paragraph .05 of this
interpretation to the regulator.

o

1 The term regulator(s) includes federal, state, and local government officials with legal oversight
authority over the entity. Examples of regulators who may request access to audit documentation
include, but are not limited to, state insurance and utility regulators, various health care authorities,
and federal agencies such as the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Department of Housing
and Urban Development, the Department of Labor, and the Rural Electrification Administration.

2 The guidance in this interpretation does not apply to requests from the IRS, firm practice-
monitoring programs to comply with AICPA or state professional requirements such as peer or quality
reviews, proceedings relating to alleged ethics violations, or subpoenas.

3 Paragraphs.11-.15 of this interpretation address situations in which the auditor is not required
by law, regulation, or audit contract to provide a regulator access to the audit documentation.

4 The auditor may wish (and in some cases may be required by law, regulation, or audit contract)
to confirm in writing with the client that the auditor may be required to provide a regulator access to
the audit documentation. Sample language that may be used follows:

The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of [name of auditor] and constitutes
confidential information. However, we may be requested to make certain audit documentation

(continued)
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.03 Making appropriate arrangements with the regulator may include es-
tablishing the specific details such as the date, time, and location of the review.
The audit documentation may be made available to a regulator at the offices
of the client, the auditor, or a mutually agreed-upon location. However, main-
taining control of audit documentation is necessary in order for the auditor to
maintain the integrity of the audit documentation and the confidentiality of
client information. For example, the auditor (or the auditor's representative)
may be present when the audit documentation is reviewed by the regulator.

.04 Ordinarily, the auditor may not agree to transfer ownership of the au-
dit documentation to a regulator. Furthermore, the auditor may not agree, with-
out client authorization, that the information contained therein about the client
may be communicated to or made available to any other party. In this regard,
the action of an auditor providing access to, or copies of, the audit documenta-
tion shall not constitute transfer of ownership or authorization to make them
available to any other party.

.05 An audit performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards is not intended to, and does not, satisfy a regulator's oversight re-
sponsibilities. To avoid any misunderstanding, prior to allowing a regulator ac-
cess to the audit documentation, the auditor may submit a letter to the regula-
tor that

a. sets forth the auditor's understanding of the purpose for which
access is being requested,;

b. describes the audit process and the limitations inherent in a fi-
nancial statement audit;

c¢. explains the purpose for which the audit documentation was pre-
pared, and that any individual conclusions must be read in the
context of the auditor's report on the financial statements;

d. states, except when not applicable, that the audit was not planned
or conducted in contemplation of the purpose for which access is
being granted or to assess the entity's compliance with laws and
regulations;

e. states that the audit and the audit documentation should not sup-
plant other inquiries and procedures that should be undertaken
by the regulator for its purposes;

f requests confidential treatment under the Freedom of Informa-
tion Act or similar laws and regulations,® when a request for the
audit documentation is made, and that written notice be given
to the auditor before transmitting any information contained in
the audit documentation to others, including other governmental
agencies, except when such transfer is required by law or regula-
tion; and

g states that if any copies are to be provided, they will be identi-
fied as "Confidential Treatment Requested by [name of auditor,
address, telephone number]."

(footnote continued)

available to [name of regulator] pursuant to authority given to it by law or regulation. If re-
quested, access to such audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of [name of
auditor] personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit docu-
mentation to [name of regulator]. The [name of regulator] may intend, or decide, to distribute
the copies or information contained therein to others, including other governmental agencies.

5 The auditor may need to consult the regulations of individual agencies and, if necessary, consult
with legal counsel regarding the specific procedures and requirements necessary to gain confidential
treatment.
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The auditor may obtain a signed acknowledgment copy of the letter as evidence
of the regulator's receipt of the letter.

.06 An example of a letter containing the elements described in paragraph
.05 of this interpretation is presented as follows:

Ilustrative Letter to Regulator®

[Date]
[Name and Address of Regulatory Agency]

Your representatives have requested access to our audit documentation in con-
nection with our audit of the December 31, 20XX, financial statements of [name
of client]. It is our understanding that the purpose of your request is [state pur-
pose: for example, "to facilitate your regulatory examination"].”

Our audit of [name of client] December 31, 20XX, financial statements was con-
ducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America,® the objective® of which is to form an opinion as to whether
the financial statements, which are the responsibility and representations of
management, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, re-
sults of operations, and cash flows in conformity with generally accepted ac-
counting principles.'® Under generally accepted auditing standards, we have
the responsibility, within the inherent limitations of the auditing process, to
design our audit to provide reasonable assurance that errors and fraud that
have a material effect on the financial statements will be detected, and to exer-
cise due care in the conduct of our audit. The concept of selective testing of the
data being audited, which involves judgment both as to the number of transac-
tions to be audited and as to the areas to be tested, has been generally accepted
as a valid and sufficient basis for an auditor to express an opinion on financial
statements. Thus, our audit, based on the concept of selective testing, is subject
to the inherent risk that material errors or fraud, if they exist, would not be
detected. In addition, an audit does not address the possibility that material
errors or fraud may occur in the future. Also, our use of professional judgment
and the assessment of materiality for the purpose of our audit means that mat-
ters may have existed that would have been assessed differently by you.

The audit documentation was prepared for the purpose of providing a sufficient
and appropriate record of the basis for our report on [name of client] December
31, 20XX, financial statements and to aid in the conduct and supervision of our
audit. The audit documentation is the principal record of auditing procedures

6 This letter may be modified appropriately when the audit has been performed in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards and also in accordance with additional auditing require-
ments specified by a regulatory agency (for example, the requirements specified in Government Au-
diting Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States).

7 If the auditor is not required by law, regulation, or audit contract to provide a regulator access
to the audit documentation but otherwise intends to provide such access (see paragraphs .11-.15 of
this interpretation), the letter may include a statement that "Management of [name of client] has
authorized us to provide you access to our audit documentation for [state purpose]."

8 See footnote 6.

9 In an audit performed in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1984, the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996, and certain other federal audit requirements, an additional objective of the
audit is to assess compliance with laws and regulations applicable to federal financial assistance.
Accordingly, in these situations, the illustrative letter provided in this interpretation may be modified
to include the additional objective.

10 Ifthe financial statements have been prepared in conformity with regulatory accounting prac-
tices, the phrase "financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles" may be replaced with appropriate wording such as, in the case of an
insurance company, the "admitted assets, liabilities . . . of the XYZ Insurance Company in conformity
with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the state of . . . insurance department."

©2017, AICPA AU-C §9230.06



150 General Principles and Responsibilities

performed, evidence obtained, and conclusions reached in the engagement. The
auditing procedures that we performed were limited to those we considered nec-
essary under generally accepted auditing standards!! to enable us to formulate
and express an opinion on the financial statements!? taken as a whole. Accord-
ingly, we make no representation as to the sufficiency or appropriateness, for
your purposes, of either the information contained in our audit documentation
or our auditing procedures. In addition, any notations, comments, and individ-
ual conclusions appearing on any of the audit documents do not stand alone,
and should not be read as an opinion on any individual amounts, accounts, bal-
ances or transactions.

Our audit of [name of client] December 31, 20XX, financial statements was
performed for the purpose stated above and has not been planned or con-
ducted in contemplation of your [state purpose: for example, "regulatory exam-
ination"] or for the purpose of assessing [name of client] compliance with laws
and regulations.!® Therefore, items of possible interest to you may not have
been specifically addressed. Accordingly, our audit and the audit documenta-
tion prepared in connection therewith, should not supplant other inquiries and
procedures that should be undertaken by the [name of regulatory agency] for
the purpose of monitoring and regulating the financial affairs of the [name of
client]. In addition, we have not audited any financial statements of [name of
client] since [date of audited balance sheet referred to in the first paragraph
above] nor have we performed any auditing procedures since [date], the date of
our auditor's report, and significant events or circumstances may have occurred
since that date.

The audit documentation constitutes and reflects work performed or evidence
obtained by [name of auditor] in its capacity as independent auditor for [name of
client]. The documents contain trade secrets and confidential commercial and
financial information of our firm and [name of client] that is privileged and
confidential, and we expressly reserve all rights with respect to disclosures to
third parties. Accordingly, we request confidential treatment under the Free-
dom of Information Act or similar laws and regulations'* when requests are
made for the audit documentation or information contained therein or any doc-
uments created by the [name of regulatory agency] containing information de-
rived therefrom. We further request that written notice be given to our firm
before distribution of the information in the audit documentation (or copies
thereof) to others, including other governmental agencies, except when such
distribution is required by law or regulation.

[If it is expected that copies will be requested, add:

Any copies of our audit documentation we agree to provide you will be identified
as "Confidential Treatment Requested by [name of auditor, address, telephone
number)."]

[Firm signature]

.07 Question—A regulator may request access to the audit documentation
before the audit has been completed and the report released. May the auditor
allow access in such circumstances?

See footnote 6

12 See footnote 9.

See footnote 9.

This illustrative paragraph may not in and of itself be sufficient to gain confidential treatment
under the rules and regulations of certain regulatory agencies. The auditor may tailor this paragraph
to the circumstances after consulting the regulations of each applicable regulatory agency and, if
necessary, may consult with legal counsel regarding the specific procedures and requirements to gain
confidential treatment.
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.08 Interpretation—When the audit has not been completed, the audit doc-
umentation is necessarily incomplete because (a) additional information may
be added as a result of further tests and review by supervisory personnel and
(b) any audit results and conclusions reflected in the incomplete audit docu-
mentation may change. Accordingly, it is preferable that access be delayed un-
til all auditing procedures have been completed and all internal reviews have
been performed. If access is provided prior to completion of the audit, the au-
ditor may issue the letter referred to in paragraph .05 of this interpretation,
appropriately modified, and including additional language along the following
lines:

We have been engaged to audit in accordance with auditing standards gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America the December 31, 20XX, financial
statements of XYZ Company, but have not as yet completed our audit. Accord-
ingly, at this time we do not express any opinion on the Company's financial
statements. Furthermore, the contents of the audit documentation may change
as a result of additional auditing procedures and review of the audit documen-
tation by supervisory personnel of our firm. Accordingly, our audit documenta-
tion is incomplete.

Because the audit documentation may change prior to completion of the audit,
it is preferable that the auditor not provide copies of the audit documentation
until the audit has been completed.

.09 Question—Some regulators may engage an independent party, such as
another independent public accountant, to perform the audit documentation
review on behalf of the regulatory agency. Are there any special precautions
the auditor may observe in these circumstances?

.10 Interpretation—The auditor may obtain acknowledgment, preferably
in writing, from the regulator stating that the third party is acting on behalf
of the regulator and agreement from the third party that he or she is subject
to the same restrictions on disclosure and use of audit documentation and the
information contained therein as the regulator.

.11 Question—When a regulator requests the auditor to provide access to
(and possibly copies of) audit documentation and the auditor is not otherwise
required by law, regulation, or audit contract to provide such access, what steps
may the auditor take?

.12 Interpretation—The auditor may obtain an understanding of the rea-
sons for the regulator's request for access to the audit documentation and may
consider consulting with legal counsel regarding the request. If the auditor de-
cides to provide such access, reasonable procedures to maintain the confiden-
tiality of client information include obtaining the client's consent, preferably in
writing, to provide the regulator access to the audit documentation.

.13 Following is an example of language that may be used in the written
communication to the client:

The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of [name of audi-
tor] and constitutes confidential information. However, we have been requested
to make certain audit documentation available to [name of regulator] for [de-
scribe the regulator's basis for its request]. Access to such audit documentation
will be provided under the supervision of [name of auditor] personnel. Further-
more, upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit documentation to
[name of regulator].

You have authorized [name of auditor] to allow [name of regulator] access to
the audit documentation in the manner discussed above. Please confirm your
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agreement to the above by signing below and returning to [name of auditor,
address].

[Firm signature]

Agreed and acknowledged:
[Name and title]

[Date]

.14 If the client requests to review the audit documentation before allow-
ing the regulator access, the auditor may provide the client with the opportunity
to obtain an understanding of the nature of the information about its financial
statements contained in the audit documentation that is being made available
to the regulator. When a client reviews the audit documentation, the need to
maintain control of the audit documentation is as discussed in paragraph .03
of this interpretation.

.15 The guidance in paragraphs .03—.10 of this interpretation, which pro-
vide guidance on making arrangements with the regulator for access to the
audit documentation, maintaining control over the audit documentation, and
submitting a letter describing various matters to the regulator, is also applica-
ble.

[Issue Date: July, 1994; Revised: June, 1996; Revised: October, 2000; Revised:
January, 2002; Revised: December, 2005; Revised: October, 2011, effective
for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December

15,2012.]
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AU-C Section 240

Consideration of Fraud in a Financial
Statement Audit

Source: SAS No. 122; SAS No. 128.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to fraud
in an audit of financial statements. Specifically, it expands on how section 315,
Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Ma-
terial Misstatement, and section 330, Performing Audit Procedures in Response
to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained, are to be ap-
plied regarding risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

Characteristics of Fraud

.02 Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from either fraud
or error. The distinguishing factor between fraud and error is whether the un-
derlying action that results in the misstatement of the financial statements is
intentional or unintentional.

.03 Although fraud is a broad legal concept, for the purposes of generally
accepted auditing standards (GAAS), the auditor is primarily concerned with
fraud that causes a material misstatement in the financial statements. Two
types of intentional misstatements are relevant to the auditor—misstatements
resulting from fraudulent financial reporting and misstatements resulting
from misappropriation of assets. Although the auditor may suspect or, in rare
cases, identify the occurrence of fraud, the auditor does not make legal deter-
minations of whether fraud has actually occurred. (Ref: par. .A1-.A8)

Responsibility for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud

.04 The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud
rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.
It is important that management, with the oversight of those charged with gov-
ernance, places a strong emphasis on fraud prevention, which may reduce op-
portunities for fraud to take place, and fraud deterrence, which could persuade
individuals not to commit fraud because of the likelihood of detection and pun-
ishment. This involves a commitment to creating a culture of honesty and ethi-
cal behavior, which can be reinforced by active oversight by those charged with
governance. Oversight by those charged with governance includes considering
the potential for override of controls or other inappropriate influence over the
financial reporting process, such as efforts by management to manage earnings
in order to influence the perceptions of financial statement users regarding the
entity's performance and profitability.
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Responsibilities of the Auditor

.05 An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with GAAS is respon-
sible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or er-
ror. Due to the inherent limitations of an audit, an unavoidable risk exists that
some material misstatements of the financial statements may not be detected,
even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with
GAAS.!

.06 As described in section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Au-
ditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Au-
diting Standards, the potential effects of inherent limitations are particularly
significant in the case of misstatement resulting from fraud.? The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk
of not detecting one resulting from error. This is because fraud may involve
sophisticated and carefully organized schemes designed to conceal it, such as
forgery, deliberate failure to record transactions, or intentional misrepresenta-
tions being made to the auditor. Such attempts at concealment may be even
more difficult to detect when accompanied by collusion. Collusion may cause
the auditor to believe that audit evidence is persuasive when it is, in fact, false.
The auditor's ability to detect a fraud depends on factors such as the skillful-
ness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree
of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and
the seniority of those individuals involved. Although the auditor may be able
to identify potential opportunities for fraud to be perpetrated, it is difficult for
the auditor to determine whether misstatements in judgment areas, such as
accounting estimates, are caused by fraud or error.

.07 Furthermore, the risk of the auditor not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from management fraud is greater than for employee fraud be-
cause management is frequently in a position to directly or indirectly manip-
ulate accounting records, present fraudulent financial information, or override
control procedures designed to prevent similar frauds by other employees.

.08 When obtaining reasonable assurance, the auditor is responsible for
maintaining professional skepticism throughout the audit, considering the po-
tential for management override of controls, and recognizing the fact that audit
procedures that are effective for detecting error may not be effective in detect-
ing fraud. The requirements in this section are designed to assist the auditor in
identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement due to fraud and
in designing procedures to detect such misstatement.

Effective Date

.09 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Obijectives
.10 The objectives of the auditor are to

a. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi-
nancial statements due to fraud;

1 Paragraphs .A55-.A56 of section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the
Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

2 Paragraph .A55 of section 200.
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b. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the as-
sessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud, through de-
signing and implementing appropriate responses; and

c¢. respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified dur-
ing the audit.

Definitions

.11 For purposes of GAAS, the following terms have the meanings at-
tributed as follows:

Fraud. An intentional act by one or more individuals among man-
agement, those charged with governance, employees, or third par-
ties, involving the use of deception that results in a misstatement
in financial statements that are the subject of an audit.

Fraud risk factors. Events or conditions that indicate an incentive
or pressure to perpetrate fraud, provide an opportunity to commit
fraud, or indicate attitudes or rationalizations to justify a fraud-
ulent action. (Ref: par. .A11, .A30, and .A56)

Requirements

Professional Skepticism

.12 In accordance with section 200, the auditor should maintain profes-
sional skepticism throughout the audit, recognizing the possibility that a ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud could exist, notwithstanding the auditor's past
experience of the honesty and integrity of the entity's management and those
charged with governance.? (Ref: par. .A9-.A10)

.13 Unless the auditor has reason to believe the contrary, the auditor may
accept records and documents as genuine. If conditions identified during the
audit cause the auditor to believe that a document may not be authentic or
that terms in a document have been modified but not disclosed to the auditor,
the auditor should investigate further. (Ref: par. .A11)

.14 When responses to inquiries of management, those charged with gov-
ernance, or others are inconsistent or otherwise unsatisfactory (for example,
vague or implausible), the auditor should further investigate the inconsisten-
cies or unsatisfactory responses.

Discussion Among the Engagement Team

.15 Section 315 requires a discussion among the key engagement team
members, including the engagement partner, and a determination by the en-
gagement partner of which matters are to be communicated to those team
members not involved in the discussion.* This discussion should include an ex-
change of ideas or brainstorming among the engagement team members about
how and where the entity's financial statements might be susceptible to mate-
rial misstatement due to fraud, how management could perpetrate and conceal
fraudulent financial reporting, and how assets of the entity could be misappro-
priated. The discussion should occur setting aside beliefs that the engagement

3 Paragraph .17 of section 200.

4 Paragraph .11 of section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the
Risks of Material Misstatement.
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team members may have that management and those charged with governance
are honest and have integrity, and should, in particular, also address (Ref: par.
Al12-A13)

a. known external and internal factors affecting the entity that may
create an incentive or pressure for management or others to com-
mit fraud, provide the opportunity for fraud to be perpetrated,
and indicate a culture or environment that enables management
or others to rationalize committing fraud;

b. the risk of management override of controls;

c¢. consideration of circumstances that might be indicative of earn-
ings management or manipulation of other financial measures
and the practices that might be followed by management to man-
age earnings or other financial measures that could lead to fraud-
ulent financial reporting;

d. the importance of maintaining professional skepticism through-
out the audit regarding the potential for material misstatement
due to fraud; and

e. how the auditor might respond to the susceptibility of the entity's
financial statements to material misstatement due to fraud.

Communication among the engagement team members about the risks of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud should continue throughout the audit, partic-
ularly upon discovery of new facts during the audit.

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities

.16 When performing risk assessment procedures and related activities
to obtain an understanding of the entity and its environment, including the
entity's internal control, required by section 315, the auditor should perform the
procedures in paragraphs .17—.24 to obtain information for use in identifying
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.®

Discussions With Management and Others Within the Entity
.17 The auditor should make inquiries of management regarding

a. management's assessment of the risk that the financial state-
ments may be materially misstated due to fraud, including the na-
ture, extent, and frequency of such assessments; (Ref: par. .A14—
.A15)

b. management's process for identifying, responding to, and mon-
itoring the risks of fraud in the entity, including any specific
risks of fraud that management has identified or that have been
brought to its attention, or classes of transactions, account bal-
ances, or disclosures for which a risk of fraud is likely to exist;
(Ref: par. .A16)

c¢.  management's communication, if any, to those charged with gov-
ernance regarding its processes for identifying and responding to
the risks of fraud in the entity; and

d. management's communication, if any, to employees regarding its
views on business practices and ethical behavior.

5 Paragraphs .05-.25 of section 315.
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.18 The auditor should make inquiries of management, and others within
the entity as appropriate, to determine whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected, or alleged fraud affecting the entity. (Ref: par. . A17-.A20)

.19 For those entities that have an internal audit function,® the auditor
should make inquiries of appropriate individuals within the internal audit
function to obtain their views about the risks of fraud; determine whether they
have knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud affecting the entity;
whether they have performed any procedures to identify or detect fraud during
the year; and whether management has satisfactorily responded to any findings
resulting from these procedures. [As amended, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128.]

Those Charged With Governance

.20 Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing
the entity,” the auditor should obtain an understanding of how those charged
with governance exercise oversight of management's processes for identifying
and responding to the risks of fraud in the entity and the internal control that
management has established to mitigate these risks. (Ref: par. .A21-.A23)

.21 Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing
the entity, the auditor should make inquiries of those charged with governance
(or the audit committee or, at least, its chair) to determine their views about
the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected,
or alleged fraud affecting the entity. These inquiries are made, in part, to cor-
roborate the responses received from the inquiries of management.

Unusual or Unexpected Relationships Identified

.22 Based on analytical procedures performed as part of risk assessment
procedures,® the auditor should evaluate whether unusual or unexpected re-
lationships that have been identified indicate risks of material misstatement
due to fraud. To the extent not already included, the analytical procedures,
and evaluation thereof, should include procedures relating to revenue accounts.
(Ref: par. .A24—.A26 and .A46)

Other Information

.23 The auditor should consider whether other information obtained by the
auditor indicates risks of material misstatement due to fraud. (Ref: par. .A27)

Evaluation of Fraud Risk Factors

.24 The auditor should evaluate whether the information obtained from
the risk assessment procedures and related activities performed indicates that
one or more fraud risk factors are present. Although fraud risk factors may
not necessarily indicate the existence of fraud, they have often been present in
circumstances in which frauds have occurred and, therefore, may indicate risks
of material misstatement due to fraud. (Ref: par. .A28-.A32)

6 Section 610, Using the Work of Internal Auditors, provides guidance in audits of those entities
that have an internal audit function. [Footnote amended, effective for audits of financial statements
for periods ending on or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128.]

7 Paragraph .09 of section 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Gover-
nance.

8 Paragraphs .06(b) and .A7-.A10 of section 315.
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Identification and Assessment of the Risks of Material
Misstatement Due to Fraud

.25 In accordance with section 315, the auditor should identify and as-
sess the risks of material misstatement due to fraud at the financial statement
level, and at the assertion level for classes of transactions, account balances,
and disclosures.® The auditor's risk assessment should be ongoing throughout
the audit, following the initial assessment.

.26 When identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement
due to fraud, the auditor should, based on a presumption that risks of fraud
exist in revenue recognition, evaluate which types of revenue, revenue trans-
actions, or assertions give rise to such risks. Paragraph .46 specifies the doc-
umentation required when the auditor concludes that the presumption is not
applicable in the circumstances of the engagement and, accordingly, has not
identified revenue recognition as a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
(Ref: par. .A33-.A35)

.27 The auditor should treat those assessed risks of material misstatement
due to fraud as significant risks and, accordingly, to the extent not already done
so, the auditor should obtain an understanding of the entity's related controls,
including control activities, relevant to such risks, including the evaluation of
whether such controls have been suitably designed and implemented to miti-
gate such fraud risks. (Ref: par. .A36-.A37)

Responses to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement
Due to Fraud

Overall Responses

.28 In accordance with section 330, the auditor should determine overall
responses to address the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud
at the financial statement level.!? (Ref: par. .A38)

.29 In determining overall responses to address the assessed risks of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud at the financial statement level, the auditor
should

a. assign and supervise personnel, taking into account the knowl-
edge, skill, and ability of the individuals to be given significant
engagement responsibilities and the auditor's assessment of the
risks of material misstatement due to fraud for the engagement;
(Ref: par. .A39-.A40)

b. evaluate whether the selection and application of accounting poli-
cies by the entity, particularly those related to subjective mea-
surements and complex transactions, may be indicative of fraud-
ulent financial reporting resulting from management's effort to
manage earnings, or a bias that may create a material misstate-
ment; and (Ref: par. .A41)

c¢. incorporate an element of unpredictability in the selection of the
nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures. (Ref: par. .A42)

9 Paragraph .26 of section 315.

10 Paragraph .05 of section 330, Performing Audit Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and
Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained.
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Audit Procedures Responsive to Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement
Due to Fraud at the Assertion Level

.30 In accordance with section 330, the auditor should design and perform
further audit procedures whose nature, timing, and extent are responsive to the
assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud at the assertion level.!!
(Ref: par. .A43—-.A46)

Audit Procedures Responsive to Risks Related to Management Override
of Controls

.31 Management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of
management's ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudu-
lent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be
operating effectively. Although the level of risk of management override of con-
trols will vary from entity to entity, the risk is, nevertheless, present in all en-
tities. Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur, it is a
risk of material misstatement due to fraud and, thus, a significant risk.

.32 Even if specific risks of material misstatement due to fraud are not
identified by the auditor, a possibility exists that management override of con-
trols could occur. Accordingly, the auditor should address the risk of manage-
ment override of controls apart from any conclusions regarding the existence
of more specifically identifiable risks by designing and performing audit proce-
dures to

a. test the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general
ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements, including entries posted directly to financial
statement drafts. In designing and performing audit procedures
for such tests, the auditor should (Ref: par. . A47— A50 and .A55)

i. obtain an understanding of the entity's financial report-
ing process and controls over journal entries and other
adjustments,'? and the suitability of design and imple-
mentation of such controls;

ii. make inquiries of individuals involved in the financial re-
porting process about inappropriate or unusual activity re-
lating to the processing of journal entries and other adjust-
ments;

iii. consider fraud risk indicators, the nature and complex-
ity of accounts, and entries processed outside the normal
course of business;

iv. select journal entries and other adjustments made at the
end of a reporting period; and

v. consider the need to test journal entries and other adjust-
ments throughout the period.

b. review accounting estimates for biases and evaluate whether the
circumstances producing the bias, if any, represent a risk of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud. In performing this review, the
auditor should

i. evaluate whether the judgments and decisions made by
management in making the accounting estimates included
in the financial statements, even if they are individually

1 Paragraph .06 of section 330.
12 Paragraph .19 of section 315.
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reasonable, indicate a possible bias on the part of the en-
tity's management that may represent a risk of mate-
rial misstatement due to fraud. If so, the auditor should
reevaluate the accounting estimates taken as a whole,
and

ii. perform a retrospective review of management judgments
and assumptions related to significant accounting esti-
mates reflected in the financial statements of the prior
year. Estimates selected for review should include those
that are based on highly sensitive assumptions or are oth-
erwise significantly affected by judgments made by man-
agement. (Ref: par. . A51-.A53)

c¢. evaluate, for significant transactions that are outside the normal
course of business for the entity or that otherwise appear to be
unusual given the auditor's understanding of the entity and its
environment and other information obtained during the audit,
whether the business rationale (or the lack thereof) of the trans-
actions suggests that they may have been entered into to engage
in fraudulent financial reporting or to conceal misappropriation
of assets. (Ref: par. .A54)

Other Audit Procedures

.33 The auditor should determine whether, in order to respond to the iden-
tified risks of management override of controls, the auditor needs to perform
other audit procedures in addition to those specifically referred to previously
(that is, when specific additional risks of management override exist that are
not covered as part of the procedures performed to address the requirements
in paragraph .32). (Ref: par. .A55)

Evaluation of Audit Evidence (Ref: par. .A56)

.34 The auditor should evaluate, at or near the end of the audit, whether
the accumulated results of auditing procedures (including analytical proce-
dures that were performed as substantive tests or when forming an overall
conclusion) affect the assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to
fraud made earlier in the audit or indicate a previously unrecognized risk of
material misstatement due to fraud. If not already performed when forming an
overall conclusion, the analytical procedures relating to revenue, required by
paragraph .22, should be performed through the end of the reporting period.
(Ref: par. .A57-.A58)

.35 If the auditor identifies a misstatement, the auditor should evaluate
whether such a misstatement is indicative of fraud. If such an indication exists,
the auditor should evaluate the implications of the misstatement with regard
to other aspects of the audit, particularly the auditor's evaluation of materi-
ality, management and employee integrity, and the reliability of management
representations, recognizing that an instance of fraud is unlikely to be an iso-
lated occurrence. (Ref: par. . A59—.A62)

.36 If the auditor identifies a misstatement, whether material or not, and
the auditor has reason to believe that it is, or may be, the result of fraud and
that management (in particular, senior management) is involved, the auditor
should reevaluate the assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to
fraud and its resulting effect on the nature, timing, and extent of audit proce-
dures to respond to the assessed risks. The auditor should also consider whether
circumstances or conditions indicate possible collusion involving employees,
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management, or third parties when reconsidering the reliability of evidence
previously obtained. (Ref: par. .A60)

.37 If the auditor concludes that, or is unable to conclude whether, the fi-
nancial statements are materially misstated as a result of fraud, the auditor
should evaluate the implications for the audit. (Ref: par. .A61)

Auditor Unable to Continue the Engagement

.38 If, as a result of identified fraud or suspected fraud, the auditor en-
counters circumstances that bring into question the auditor's ability to continue
performing the audit, the auditor should

a. determine the professional and legal responsibilities applicable
in the circumstances, including whether a requirement exists for
the auditor to report to the person or persons who engaged the
auditor or, in some cases, to regulatory authorities;

b. consider whether it is appropriate to withdraw from the engage-
ment, when withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regu-
lation; and

c¢. if the auditor withdraws

i. discuss with the appropriate level of management and
those charged with governance the auditor's withdrawal
from the engagement and the reasons for the withdrawal,
and

ii. determine whether a professional or legal requirement ex-
ists to report to the person or persons who engaged the
auditor or, in some cases, to regulatory authorities, the au-
ditor's withdrawal from the engagement and the reasons
for the withdrawal. (Ref: par. .A63—.A66)

Communications o Management and With Those Charged
With Governance

.39 If the auditor has identified a fraud or has obtained information that
indicates that a fraud may exist, the auditor should communicate these matters
on a timely basis to the appropriate level of management in order to inform
those with primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud of
matters relevant to their responsibilities. (Ref: par. .A67)

.40 Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing
the entity, if the auditor has identified or suspects fraud involving

a. management,
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control, or

c¢. others, when the fraud results in a material misstatement in the
financial statements,

the auditor should communicate these matters to those charged with gover-
nance on a timely basis. If the auditor suspects fraud involving management,
the auditor should communicate these suspicions to those charged with gover-
nance and discuss with them the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures
necessary to complete the audit. (Ref: par. .A68—.A70)

.41 The auditor should communicate with those charged with governance
any other matters related to fraud that are, in the auditor's professional judg-
ment, relevant to their responsibilities. (Ref: par. .A71)
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Communications to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

.42 If the auditor has identified or suspects a fraud, the auditor should
determine whether the auditor has a responsibility to report the occurrence or
suspicion to a party outside the entity. Although the auditor's professional duty
to maintain the confidentiality of client information may preclude such report-
ing, the auditor's legal responsibilities may override the duty of confidentiality
in some circumstances. (Ref: par. .A72—.A74)

Documentation

.43 The auditor should include in the audit documentation'® of the audi-
tor's understanding of the entity and its environment and the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement required by section 315 the following: 4

a. The significant decisions reached during the discussion among
the engagement team regarding the susceptibility of the entity's
financial statements to material misstatement due to fraud, and
how and when the discussion occurred and the audit team mem-
bers who participated

b. Theidentified and assessed risks of material misstatement due to
fraud at the financial statement level and at the assertion level
(See paragraphs .16—.27.)

.44 The auditor should include in the audit documentation of the auditor's
responses to the assessed risks of material misstatement required by section
330 the following:1?

a. The overall responses to the assessed risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud at the financial statement level and the nature,
timing, and extent of audit procedures, and the linkage of those
procedures with the assessed risks of material misstatement due
to fraud at the assertion level

b. The results of the audit procedures, including those designed to
address the risk of management override of controls

.45 The auditor should include in the audit documentation communica-
tions about fraud made to management, those charged with governance, regu-
lators, and others.

.46 Ifthe auditor has concluded that the presumption that there is a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud related to revenue recognition is overcome
in the circumstances of the engagement, the auditor should include in the audit
documentation the reasons for that conclusion.

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Characteristics of Fraud (Ref: par. .03)

.Al Fraud, whether fraudulent financial reporting or misappropriation of
assets, involves incentive or pressure to commit fraud, a perceived opportunity
to do so, and some rationalization of the act, as follows:

13 Paragraphs .08—.12 and .A8 of section 230, Audit Documentation.
14 Paragraph .33 of section 315.
15 Paragraph .30 of section 330.
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® Incentive or pressure to commit fraudulent financial reporting
may exist when management is under pressure, from sources out-
side or inside the entity, to achieve an expected (and perhaps, un-
realistic) earnings target or financial outcome—particularly be-
cause the consequences to management for failing to meet finan-
cial goals can be significant. Similarly, individuals may have an
incentive to misappropriate assets (for example, because the indi-
viduals are living beyond their means).

® A perceived opportunity to commit fraud may exist when an in-
dividual believes internal control can be overridden (for example,
because the individual is in a position of trust or has knowledge
of specific deficiencies in internal control).

® Individuals may be able to rationalize committing a fraudulent
act. Some individuals possess an attitude, character, or set of ethi-
cal values that allow them knowingly and intentionally to commit
a dishonest act. However, even otherwise honest individuals can
commit fraud in an environment that imposes sufficient pressure
on them.

.A2 Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements, in-
cluding omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive
financial statement users. It can be caused by the efforts of management to
manage earnings in order to deceive financial statement users by influenc-
ing their perceptions about the entity's performance and profitability. Such
earnings management may start out with small actions or inappropriate ad-
justment of assumptions and changes in judgments by management. Pres-
sures and incentives may lead these actions to increase to the extent that they
result in fraudulent financial reporting. Such a situation could occur when,
due to pressures to meet expectations or a desire to maximize compensation
based on performance, management intentionally takes positions that lead
to fraudulent financial reporting by materially misstating the financial state-
ments. In some entities, management may be motivated to reduce earnings
by a material amount to minimize tax or to inflate earnings to secure bank
financing.

.A3 An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with GAAS is responsi-
ble for obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. Accordingly, the auditor is primarily concerned with fraud that causes
a material misstatement of the financial statements. However, in conducting
the audit, the auditor may identify misstatements arising from fraud that are
not material to the financial statements. Paragraphs .35-.36 and .39-.42 ad-
dress the auditor's responsibilities in such circumstances in evaluating audit
evidence and in communicating audit findings, respectively.

.A4 Intent is often difficult to determine, particularly in matters involving
accounting estimates and the application of accounting principles. For example,
unreasonable accounting estimates may be unintentional or may be the result
of an intentional attempt to misstate the financial statements. Although an
audit is not designed to determine intent, the auditor's objective is to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.1¢

16 Paragraph .12 of section 200.
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A5 Fraudulent financial reporting may be accomplished by the following:

Manipulation, falsification (including forgery), or alteration of ac-
counting records or supporting documentation from which the fi-
nancial statements are prepared

Misrepresentation in, or intentional omission from, the financial
statements of events, transactions, or other significant informa-
tion

Intentional misapplication of accounting principles relating to
amounts, classification, manner of presentation, or disclosure

A6 Fraudulent financial reporting often involves management override
of controls that otherwise may appear to be operating effectively. Fraud can be
committed by management overriding controls using such techniques as the

following:

Recording fictitious journal entries, particularly close to the end of
an accounting period, to manipulate operating results or achieve
other objectives

Inappropriately adjusting assumptions and changing judgments
used to estimate account balances

Omitting, advancing, or delaying recognition in the financial state-
ments of events and transactions that have occurred during the
reporting period

Concealing, or not disclosing, facts that could affect the amounts
recorded in the financial statements

Engaging in complex transactions that are structured to misrep-
resent the financial position or financial performance of the entity

Altering records and terms related to significant and unusual
transactions

.A7 Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity's assets and
is often perpetrated by employees in relatively small and immaterial amounts.
However, it can also involve management, who is usually better able to disguise
or conceal misappropriations in ways that are difficult to detect. Misappropria-
tion of assets can be accomplished in a variety of ways including the following:

Embezzling receipts (for example, misappropriating collections on
accounts receivable or diverting receipts from written-off accounts
to personal bank accounts)

Stealing physical assets or intellectual property (for example,
stealing inventory for personal use or for sale, stealing scrap for
resale, or colluding with a competitor by disclosing technological
data in return for payment)

Causing an entity to pay for goods and services not received (for
example, payments to fictitious vendors, kickbacks paid by ven-
dors to the entity's purchasing agents in return for approving pay-
ment at inflated prices, or payments to fictitious employees)

Using an entity's assets for personal use (for example, using the
entity's assets as collateral for a personal loan or a loan to a related
party)

Misappropriation of assets is often accompanied by false or misleading records
or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have
been pledged without proper authorization.

AU-C §240.A5
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Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities and Not-for-Profit
Organizations

.A8 The auditor of governmental entities and not-for-profit organizations
may have additional responsibilities relating to fraud

® asaresult of being engaged to conduct an audit in accordance with
law or regulation applicable to governmental entities and not-for-
profit organizations,

® because of a governmental audit organization's mandate, or

® because of the need to comply with Government Auditing Stan-
dards.

Consequently, the responsibilities of the auditor of governmental entities and
not-for-profit organizations may not be limited to consideration of risks of ma-
terial misstatement of the financial statements, but may also include a broader
responsibility to consider risks of fraud.

Professional Skepticism (Ref: par. .12-.14)

.A9 Maintaining professional skepticism requires an ongoing questioning
of whether the information and audit evidence obtained suggests that a mate-
rial misstatement due to fraud may exist. It includes considering the reliability
of the information to be used as audit evidence and the controls over its prepa-
ration and maintenance when relevant. Due to the characteristics of fraud, the
auditor's professional skepticism is particularly important when considering
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

.A10 Although the auditor cannot be expected to disregard past experience
of the honesty and integrity of the entity's management and those charged with
governance, the auditor's professional skepticism is particularly important in
considering the risks of material misstatement due to fraud because there may
have been changes in circumstances.

.Al11 An audit performed in accordance with GAAS rarely involves the au-
thentication of documents, nor is the auditor trained as, or expected to be, an
expert in such authentication.!” However, when the auditor identifies condi-
tions that cause the auditor to believe that a document may not be authentic,
that terms in a document have been modified but not disclosed to the auditor, or
that undisclosed side agreements may exist, possible procedures to investigate
further may include

® confirming directly with the third party.
® using the work of a specialist to assess the document's authentic-
ity.

Appendix C, "Examples of Circumstances That Indicate the Possibility of
Fraud," contains examples of circumstances that may indicate the possibility
of fraud.

Discussion Among the Engagement Team (Ref: par. .15)

.A12 Discussing the susceptibility of the entity's financial statements to
material misstatement due to fraud with the engagement team

17 Paragraph .A51 of section 200.
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® provides an opportunity for more experienced engagement team
members to share their insights about how and where the finan-
cial statements may be susceptible to material misstatement due
to fraud.

® enables the auditor to consider an appropriate response to such
susceptibility and to determine which members of the engagement
team will conduct certain audit procedures.

® permits the auditor to determine how the results of audit proce-
dures will be shared among the engagement team and how to deal
with any allegations of fraud that may come to the auditor's atten-
tion during the audit.

.A13 The discussion may lead to a thorough probing of the issues, acquir-
ing of additional evidence as necessary, and consulting with other team mem-
bers and, if appropriate, specialists in or outside the firm. The discussion may
include the following matters:

® A consideration of management's involvement in overseeing em-
ployees with access to cash or other assets susceptible to misap-
propriation

® A consideration of any unusual or unexplained changes in behav-
ior or lifestyle of management or employees that have come to the
attention of the engagement team

® A consideration of the types of circumstances that, if encountered,
might indicate the possibility of fraud

® A consideration of how an element of unpredictability will be in-
corporated into the nature, timing, and extent of the audit proce-
dures to be performed

® A consideration of the audit procedures that might be selected to
respond to the susceptibility of the entity's financial statements
to material misstatement due to fraud and whether certain types
of audit procedures are more effective than others

® A consideration of any allegations of fraud that have come to the
auditor's attention

A number of factors may influence the extent of the discussion and how it may
occur. For example, if the audit involves more than one location, there could be
multiple discussions with team members in differing locations. Another factor
in planning the discussions is whether to include specialists assigned to the
audit team.

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities
Inquiries of Management

Management's Assessment of the Risk of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud
(Ref: par. .17a)

.Al14 Management accepts responsibility for the entity's internal control
and for the preparation and fair presentation of the entity's financial state-
ments. Accordingly, it is appropriate for the auditor to make inquiries of
management regarding management's own assessment of the risk of fraud and
the controls in place to prevent and detect it. The nature, extent, and frequency
of management's assessment of such risk and controls may vary from entity
to entity. In some entities, management may make detailed assessments on
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an annual basis or as part of continuous monitoring. In other entities, man-
agement's assessment may be less structured and less frequent. The nature,
extent, and frequency of management's assessment are relevant to the audi-
tor's understanding of the entity's control environment. For example, the fact
that management has not made an assessment of the risk of fraud may, in some
circumstances, be indicative of the lack of importance that management places
on internal control.

A15 Considerations specific to smaller, less complex entities. In some enti-
ties, particularly smaller entities, the focus of management's assessment may
be on the risks of employee fraud or misappropriation of assets.

Management's Process for Identifying and Responding to the Risks of Fraud
(Ref: par. .17b)

.A16 In the case of entities with multiple locations, management's pro-
cesses may include different levels of monitoring of operating locations or busi-
ness segments. Management may also have identified particular operating lo-
cations or business segments for which a risk of fraud may be more likely to
exist.

Discussions With Management and Others Within the Entity
(Ref: par. .17-.19)

.A17 Inquiries of management and others within the entity are generally
most effective when they involve an in-person discussion. The auditor may also
determine it useful to provide the interviewee with specific questions and ob-
tain written responses in advance of the discussion.

.A18 The auditor's inquiries of management may provide useful informa-
tion concerning the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements
resulting from employee fraud. However, such inquiries are unlikely to provide
useful information regarding the risks of material misstatement in the finan-
cial statements resulting from management fraud. Making inquiries of others
within the entity, in addition to management, may provide individuals with
an opportunity to convey information to the auditor that may not otherwise be
communicated. It may be useful in providing the auditor with a perspective that
is different from that of individuals in the financial reporting process. The re-
sponses to these other inquiries might serve to corroborate responses received
from management or, alternatively, might provide information regarding the
possibility of management override of controls. The auditor may also obtain in-
formation about how effectively management has communicated standards of
ethical behavior throughout the organization.

A19 Examples of others within the entity to whom the auditor may direct
inquiries about the existence or suspicion of fraud include the following:

® QOperating personnel not directly involved in the financial report-
ing process

® Employees with different levels of authority

® Employees involved in initiating, processing, or recording complex
or unusual transactions and those who supervise or monitor such
employees

® In-house legal counsel
®  Chief ethics officer or equivalent person

® The person or persons charged with dealing with allegations of
fraud

©2017, AICPA AU-C §240.A19



168 General Principles and Responsibilities

.A20 Management is often in the best position to perpetrate fraud. Accord-
ingly, when evaluating management's responses to inquiries with professional
skepticism, the auditor may judge it necessary to corroborate responses to in-
quiries with other information.

Obtaining an Understanding of Oversight Exercised by Those Charged
With Governance (Ref: par. .20)

.A21 Those charged with governance of an entity oversee the entity's sys-
tems for monitoring risk, financial control, and compliance with the law. In some
circumstances, governance practices are well developed, and those charged
with governance play an active role in oversight of the entity's assessment of
the risks of fraud and of the relevant internal control. Because the responsibili-
ties of those charged with governance and management may vary by entity, it is
important that the auditor understands the respective responsibilities of those
charged with governance and management to enable the auditor to obtain an
understanding of the oversight exercised by the appropriate individuals.!®

.A22 An understanding of the oversight exercised by those charged with
governance may provide insights regarding the susceptibility of the entity to
management fraud, the adequacy of internal control over risks of fraud, and
the competency and integrity of management. The auditor may obtain this un-
derstanding in a number of ways, such as by attending meetings during which
such discussions take place, reading the minutes from such meetings, or mak-
ing inquiries of those charged with governance.

Considerations Specific to Smaller, Less Complex Entities

.A23 In some cases, all of those charged with governance are involved in
managing the entity. This may be the case in a small entity in which a single
owner manages the entity, and no one else has a governance role. In these cases,
ordinarily, no action exists on the part of the auditor because no oversight exists
separate from management.

Unusual or Unexpected Relationships Identified (Ref: par. .22)

.A24 Analytical procedures may include data analysis techniques ranging
from a high-level review of data patterns, relationships, and trends to highly
sophisticated, computer-assisted investigation of detailed transactions using
electronic tools, such as data mining, business intelligence, and file query tools.
The degree of reliance that can be placed on such techniques is a function pri-
marily of the source (for example, financial, nonfinancial), completeness and re-
liability of the data, the level of disaggregation, and the nature of the analysis.

.A25 Analytical procedures relating to revenue that are performed with
the objective of identifying unusual or unexpected relationships that may indi-
cate a material misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting may include

a. a comparison of sales volume, as determined from recorded rev-
enue amounts, with production capacity. An excess of sales vol-
ume over production capacity may be indicative of recording fic-
titious sales.

b. a trend analysis of revenues by month and sales returns by
month, during and shortly after the reporting period. This may
indicate the existence of undisclosed side agreements with cus-
tomers involving the return of goods, which, if known, would pre-
clude revenue recognition.

18 Paragraphs .A6-.A12 of section 260 discuss with whom the auditor communicates when the
entity's governance structure is not well defined.
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c¢. atrend analysis of sales by month compared with units shipped.
This may identify a material misstatement of recorded revenues.

.A26 Analytical procedures performed during planning may be helpful in
identifying the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. However, if such
analytical procedures use data aggregated at a high level, generally the re-
sults of those analytical procedures provide only a broad initial indication about
whether a material misstatement of the financial statements may exist. Accord-
ingly, the results of analytical procedures performed during planning may be
considered along with other information gathered by the auditor in identifying
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

Other Information (Ref: par. .23)

.A27 In addition to information obtained from applying analytical proce-
dures, other information obtained about the entity and its environment may be
helpful in identifying the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. The dis-
cussion among team members may provide information that is helpful in iden-
tifying such risks. In addition, information obtained from the auditor's client
acceptance and retention processes, and experience gained on other engage-
ments performed for the entity, for example, engagements to review interim
financial information, may be relevant in the identification of the risks of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud.

Evaluation of Fraud Risk Factors (Ref: par. .24)

A28 The fact that fraud is usually concealed can make it very difficult to
detect. Nevertheless, the auditor may identify events or conditions that indicate
an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit
fraud (fraud risk factors), such as the following:

® The need to meet expectations of third parties to obtain additional
equity financing may create pressure to commit fraud.

® The granting of significant bonuses if unrealistic profit targets are
met may create an incentive to commit fraud.

® A control environment that is not effective may create an oppor-
tunity to commit fraud.

.A29 Fraud risk factors cannot easily be ranked in order of importance.
The significance of fraud risk factors varies widely. Some of these factors will
be present in entities in which the specific conditions do not present risks of
material misstatement. Accordingly, the determination of whether a fraud risk
factor is present and whether it is to be considered in assessing the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud requires the
exercise of professional judgment.

.A30 Examples of fraud risk factors related to fraudulent financial report-
ing and misappropriation of assets are presented in appendix A, "Examples of
Fraud Risk Factors." These illustrative risk factors are classified based on the
three conditions that are generally present when fraud exists:

® An incentive or pressure to commit fraud
® A perceived opportunity to commit fraud
®  An ability to rationalize the fraudulent action

The inability to observe one or more of these conditions does not necessarily
mean that no risk of material misstatement due to fraud exists.

Risk factors reflective of an attitude that permits rationalization of the fraudu-
lent action may not be susceptible to observation by the auditor. Nevertheless,
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the auditor may become aware of the existence of such information. Although
the fraud risk factors described in appendix A cover a broad range of situations
that may be faced by auditors, they are only examples and other risk factors
may exist.

.A31 The size, complexity, and ownership characteristics of the entity have
a significant influence on the consideration of relevant fraud risk factors. For
example, in the case of a large entity, there may be factors that generally con-
strain improper conduct by management, such as

® effective oversight by those charged with governance.
® an effective internal audit function.
® the existence and enforcement of a written code of conduct.

Furthermore, fraud risk factors considered at a business segment operating
level may provide different insights when compared with those obtained when
considered at an entity-wide level.

Considerations Specific to Smaller, Less Complex Entities

.A32 In the case of a small entity, some or all of these considerations may
be inapplicable or less relevant. For example, a smaller entity may not have a
written code of conduct but, instead, may have developed a culture that em-
phasizes the importance of integrity and ethical behavior through oral commu-
nication and by management example. Domination of management by a single
individual in a small entity does not generally, in and of itself, indicate a failure
by management to display and communicate an appropriate attitude regarding
internal control and the financial reporting process. In some entities, the need
for management authorization can compensate for otherwise deficient controls
and reduce the risk of employee fraud. However, domination of management by
a single individual can be a potential deficiency in internal control because an
opportunity exists for management override of controls.

Identification and Assessment of the Risks of Material
Misstatement Due to Fraud

Risks of Fraud in Revenue Recognition (Ref: par. .26)

.A33 Material misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting relat-
ing to revenue recognition often results from an overstatement of revenues
through, for example, premature revenue recognition or recording fictitious rev-
enues. It may result also from an understatement of revenues through, for ex-
ample, improperly shifting revenues to a later period.

.A34 Therisks of fraud in revenue recognition may be greater in some enti-
ties than others. For example, there may be pressures or incentives on manage-
ment to commit fraudulent financial reporting through inappropriate revenue
recognition when, for example, performance is measured in terms of year over
year revenue growth or profit. Similarly, for example, there may be greater risks
of fraud in revenue recognition in the case of entities that generate a substan-
tial portion of revenues through cash sales.

.A35 The presumption that risks of fraud exist in revenue recognition may
be rebutted. For example, the auditor may conclude that no risk of material
misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition exists in the case in
which a single type of simple revenue transaction exists, for example, leasehold
revenue from a single unit rental property.
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Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud
and Understanding the Entity’s Related Controls (Ref: par. .27)

.A36 Management may make judgments on the nature and extent of the
controls it chooses to implement, and the nature and extent of the risks it
chooses to assume.’ In determining which controls to implement to prevent
and detect fraud, management considers the risks that the financial statements
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. As part of this consideration,
management may conclude that it is not cost effective to implement and main-
tain a particular control in relation to the reduction in the risks of material
misstatement due to fraud to be achieved.

.A37 It is, therefore, important for the auditor to obtain an understanding
of the controls that management has designed, implemented, and maintained
to prevent and detect fraud. In doing so, the auditor may learn, for example, that
management has consciously chosen to accept the risks associated with a lack
of segregation of duties. Information from obtaining this understanding may
also be useful in identifying fraud risks factors that may affect the auditor's
assessment of the risks that the financial statements may contain material
misstatement due to fraud.

Responses to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement
Due to Fraud

Overall Responses (Ref: par. .28)

.A38 Determining overall responses to address the assessed risks of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud generally includes the consideration of how
the overall conduct of the audit can reflect increased professional skepticism
through, for example, increased

® gensitivity in the selection of the nature and extent of documen-
tation to be examined in support of material transactions.

® recognition of the need to corroborate management explanations
or representations concerning material matters.

Determining overall responses to address the assessed risks of material mis-
statement due to fraud also involves more general considerations apart from
the specific procedures otherwise planned; these considerations include the
matters listed in paragraph .29, which are discussed in the following sections.

Assignment and Supervision of Personnel (Ref: par. .29a)

.A39 The auditor may respond to identified risks of material misstatement
due to fraud by, for example, assigning additional individuals with specialized
skill and knowledge, such as forensic and IT specialists, or by assigning more
experienced individuals to the engagement.

.A40 The extent of supervision reflects the auditor's assessment of risks of
material misstatement due to fraud and the competencies of the engagement
team members performing the work.

Accounting Principles (Ref: par. .29b)

.A41 Management bias in the selection and application of accounting prin-
ciples may individually or collectively involve matters such as contingencies,

19 Paragraph .A48 of section 315.
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fair value measurements, revenue recognition, accounting estimates, related
party transactions, or other transactions without a clear business purpose.

Unpredictability in the Selection of Audit Procedures
(Ref: par. .29c)

.A42 Incorporating an element of unpredictability in the selection of the
nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures to be performed is important be-
cause individuals within the entity who are familiar with the audit procedures
normally performed on engagements may be better able to conceal fraudulent
financial reporting. This can be achieved by, for example,

® performing substantive procedures on selected account balances
and assertions not otherwise tested due to their materiality or
risk.

® adjusting the timing of audit procedures from that otherwise ex-
pected.

® using different sampling methods.

® performing audit procedures at different locations or at locations
on an unannounced basis.

Audit Procedures Responsive to Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement
Due to Fraud at the Assertion Level (Ref: par. .30)

.A43 The auditor's responses to address the assessed risks of material mis-
statement due to fraud at the assertion level may include changing the nature,
timing, and extent of audit procedures in the following ways:

® The nature of audit procedures to be performed may need to be
changed to obtain audit evidence that is more reliable and rele-
vant or to obtain additional corroborative information. This may
affect both the type of audit procedures to be performed and their
combination. For example:

— Physical observation or inspection of certain assets may
become more important, or the auditor may choose to use
computer-assisted audit techniques to gather more evi-
dence about data contained in significant accounts or elec-
tronic transaction files.

— The auditor may design procedures to obtain additional
corroborative information. For example, if the auditor
identifies that management is under pressure to meet
earnings expectations, there may be a related risk that
management is inflating sales by entering into sales agree-
ments that include terms that preclude revenue recog-
nition or by invoicing sales before delivery. In these cir-
cumstances, the auditor may, for example, design external
confirmations not only to confirm outstanding amounts,
but also to confirm the details of the sales agreements, in-
cluding date, any rights of return, and delivery terms. In
addition, the auditor might find it effective to supplement
such external confirmations with inquiries of nonfinancial
personnel in the entity regarding any changes in sales
agreements and delivery terms.

® The timing of substantive procedures may need to be modified.
The auditor may conclude that performing substantive testing at
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or near the period end better addresses an assessed risk of ma-
terial misstatement due to fraud. The auditor may conclude that,
given the assessed risks of intentional misstatement or manip-
ulation, audit procedures to extend audit conclusions from an in-
terim date to the period end would not be effective. In contrast, be-
cause an intentional misstatement—for example, a misstatement
involving improper revenue recognition—may have been initiated
in an interim period, the auditor may elect to apply substantive
procedures to transactions occurring earlier in or throughout the
reporting period.

® The extent of the procedures applied reflects the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement due to fraud. For example, increas-
ing sample sizes or performing analytical procedures at a more
detailed level may be appropriate. Also, computer-assisted audit
techniques may enable more extensive testing of electronic trans-
actions and account files. Such techniques can be used to select
sample transactions from key electronic files, to sort transactions
with specific characteristics, or to test an entire population instead
of a sample.

.A44 If the auditor identifies a risk of material misstatement due to fraud
that affects inventory quantities, examining the entity's inventory records may
help to identify locations or items that require specific attention during or after
the physical inventory count. Such a review may lead to a decision to observe
inventory counts at certain locations on an unannounced basis or to conduct
inventory counts at all locations on the same date.

.A45 The auditor may identify a risk of material misstatement due to fraud
affecting a number of accounts and assertions. These may include asset valu-
ation, estimates relating to specific transactions (such as acquisitions, restruc-
turings, or disposals of segments of the business), and other significant accrued
liabilities (such as pension and other postemployment benefit obligations, or
environmental remediation liabilities). The risk may also relate to significant
changes in assumptions relating to recurring estimates. Information gathered
through obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment may
assist the auditor in evaluating the reasonableness of such management esti-
mates and underlying judgments and assumptions. A retrospective review of
similar management judgments and assumptions applied in prior periods may
also provide insight about the reasonableness of judgments and assumptions
supporting management estimates.

.A46 Examples of possible audit procedures to address the assessed risks
of material misstatement due to fraud, including those that illustrate the in-
corporation of an element of unpredictability, are presented in appendix B,
"Examples of Possible Audit Procedures to Address the Assessed Risks of Mate-
rial Misstatement Due to Fraud." The appendix includes examples of responses
to the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement resulting from
both fraudulent financial reporting, including fraudulent financial reporting re-
sulting from revenue recognition, and misappropriation of assets.

Audit Procedures Responsive to Risks Related to Management Override
of Controls

Journal Entries and Other Adjustments (Ref: par. .32a)

.A47 Material misstatements of financial statements due to fraud often
involve the manipulation of the financial reporting process by (a) recording in-
appropriate or unauthorized journal entries throughout the year or at period

©2017, AICPA AU-C §240.A47



174 General Principles and Responsibilities

end, or (b) making adjustments to amounts reported in the financial statements
that are not reflected in formal journal entries, such as through consolidating
adjustments, report combinations, and reclassifications.

.A48 The auditor's consideration of the risks of material misstatement as-
sociated with inappropriate override of controls over journal entries is impor-
tant because automated processes and controls may reduce the risk of inadver-
tent error but do not overcome the risk that individuals may inappropriately
override such automated processes, for example, by changing the amounts be-
ing automatically passed to the general ledger or to the financial reporting
system. Furthermore, when IT is used to transfer information automatically,
there may be little or no visible evidence of such intervention in the information
systems.

.A49 When identifying and selecting journal entries and other adjust-
ments for testing and determining the appropriate method of examining the
underlying support for the items selected, the following matters may be rele-
vant:

®  The assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.
The presence of fraud risk factors and other information obtained
during the auditor's assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement due to fraud may assist the auditor to identify specific
classes of journal entries and other adjustments for testing.

® (Controls that have been implemented over journal entries and
other adjustments. Effective controls over the preparation and
posting of journal entries and other adjustments may reduce the
extent of substantive testing necessary, provided that the auditor
has tested the operating effectiveness of the controls.

® The entity's financial reporting process and the nature of evidence
that can be obtained. For many entities, routine processing of
transactions involves a combination of manual and automated
steps and procedures. Similarly, the processing of journal entries
and other adjustments may involve both manual and automated
procedures and controls. When IT is used in the financial report-
ing process, journal entries and other adjustments may exist only
in electronic form.

®  The characteristics of fraudulent journal entries or other adjust-
ments. Inappropriate journal entries or other adjustments often
have unique identifying characteristics. Such characteristics may
include entries (@) made to unrelated, unusual, or seldom-used ac-
counts; (b) made by individuals who typically do not make journal
entries; (¢) recorded at the end of the period or as postclosing en-
tries that have little or no explanation or description; (d) made ei-
ther before or during the preparation of the financial statements
that do not have account numbers; or (e) containing round num-
bers or consistent ending numbers.

®  The nature and complexity of the accounts. Inappropriate journal
entries or adjustments may be applied to accounts that (a) contain
transactions that are complex or unusual in nature, (b) contain
significant estimates and period-end adjustments, (¢) have been
prone to misstatements in the past, (d) have not been reconciled
on a timely basis or contain unreconciled differences, (e) contain
intercompany transactions, or (f) are otherwise associated with an
identified risk of material misstatement due to fraud. In audits of
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entities that have several locations or components, consideration
is given to the need to select journal entries from multiple loca-
tions.

®  Journal entries or other adjustments processed outside the normal
course of business. Nonstandard journal entries, and other entries
such as consolidating adjustments, may not be subject to the same
level of internal control as those journal entries used on a recur-
ring basis to record transactions such as monthly sales, purchases,
and cash disbursements.

.A50 The auditor exercises professional judgment in determining the na-
ture, timing, and extent of testing of journal entries and other adjustments.
However, because fraudulent journal entries and other adjustments are often
made at the end of a reporting period, paragraph .32a(iv) requires the au-
ditor to select the journal entries and other adjustments made at that time.
Further, because material misstatements in financial statements due to fraud
can occur throughout the period and may involve extensive efforts to conceal
how the fraud is accomplished, paragraph .32a(v) requires the auditor to con-
sider whether a need also exists to test journal entries and other adjustments
throughout the period.

Accounting Estimates (Ref: par. .32b)

.A51 The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements re-
quires management to make a number of judgments or assumptions that af-
fect significant accounting estimates and monitor the reasonableness of such
estimates on an ongoing basis. Fraudulent financial reporting is often accom-
plished through intentional misstatement of accounting estimates. This may be
achieved by, for example, understating or overstating all provisions or reserves
in the same fashion so as to be designed either to smooth earnings over two
or more accounting periods, or to achieve a designated earnings level in order
to deceive financial statement users by influencing their perceptions about the
entity's performance and profitability.

.A52 The purpose of performing a retrospective review of management
judgments and assumptions related to significant accounting estimates re-
flected in the financial statements of the prior year is to determine whether
an indication exists of a possible bias on the part of management. This review
is not intended to call into question the auditor's professional judgments made
in the prior year that were based on information available at the time.

.A53 A retrospective review is also required by section 540, Auditing Ac-
counting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related
Disclosures.?° That review is conducted as a risk assessment procedure to ob-
tain information regarding the effectiveness of management's prior period es-
timation process, audit evidence about the outcome, or when applicable, the
subsequent reestimation of prior period accounting estimates that is pertinent
to making current period accounting estimates, and audit evidence of matters,
such as estimation uncertainty, that may be required to be disclosed in the fi-
nancial statements. As a practical matter, the auditor's review of management
judgments and assumptions for biases that could represent a risk of material

20 Paragraph .09 of section 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting
Estimates, and Related Disclosures.
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misstatement due to fraud in accordance with this section may be carried out
in conjunction with the review required by section 540.

Business Rationale for Significant Transactions (Ref: par. .32¢)

.A54 Indicators that may suggest that significant transactions that are
outside the normal course of business for the entity, or that otherwise appear
to be unusual, may have been entered into to engage in fraudulent financial
reporting or to conceal misappropriation of assets include the following:

® The form of such transactions appears overly complex (for exam-
ple, the transaction involves multiple entities within a consoli-
dated group or multiple unrelated third parties).

® Management has not discussed the nature of and accounting for
such transactions with those charged with governance of the en-
tity, and inadequate documentation exists.

® Management is placing more emphasis on the need for a particu-
lar accounting treatment than on the underlying economics of the
transaction.

® Transactions that involve nonconsolidated related parties, includ-
ing special purpose entities, have not been properly reviewed or
approved by those charged with governance of the entity.

® Transactions that involve previously unidentified related parties
or parties that do not have the substance or the financial strength
to support the transaction without assistance from the entity un-
der audit.

Other Audit Procedures (Ref: par. .32a and .33)

.A55 Risks of material misstatement, including misstatements due to
fraud, cannot be reduced to an appropriately low level by performing only tests
of controls.?!

Evaluation of Audit Evidence (Ref: par. .34-.37)

.A56 Section 330 requires the auditor, based on the audit procedures per-
formed and the audit evidence obtained, to evaluate whether the assessments of
the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level remain appropriate.??
This evaluation is primarily a qualitative matter based on the auditor's pro-
fessional judgment. Such an evaluation may provide further insight into the
risks of material misstatement due to fraud and whether a need exists to per-
form additional or different audit procedures. Appendix C contains examples
of circumstances that may indicate the possibility of fraud.

Analytical Procedures Performed Near the End of the Audit in Forming
an Overall Conclusion (Ref: par. .34)

.A57 Determining which particular trends and relationships may indicate
a risk of material misstatement due to fraud requires professional judgment.
Unusual relationships involving year-end revenue and income are particularly
relevant. These might include, for example, uncharacteristically large amounts
of income being reported in the last few weeks of the reporting period or

21 Paragraph .A9 of section 330.
22 Paragraph .27 of section 330.
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unusual transactions or income that is inconsistent with trends in cash flow
from operations.

.A58 Some unusual or unexpected analytical relationships may have been
identified and may indicate a risk of material misstatement due to fraud be-
cause management or employees generally are unable to manipulate certain
information to create seemingly normal or expected relationships. Some exam-
ples are as follows:

® The relationship of net income to cash flows from operations may
appear unusual because management recorded fictitious revenues
and receivables but was unable to manipulate cash.

® Changes in inventory, accounts payable, sales, or cost of sales from
the prior period to the current period may be inconsistent, indicat-
ing a possible employee theft of inventory, because the employee
was unable to manipulate all of the related accounts.

® A comparison of the entity's profitability to industry trends, which
management cannot manipulate, may indicate trends or differ-
ences for further consideration when identifying risks of material
misstatement due to fraud.

® A comparison of bad debt write-offs to comparable industry data,
which employees cannot manipulate, may provide unexplained re-
lationships that could indicate a possible theft of cash receipts.

®  An unexpected or unexplained relationship between sales volume,
as determined from the accounting records and production statis-
tics maintained by operations personnel, which may be more diffi-
cult for management to manipulate, may indicate a possible mis-
statement of sales.

Consideration of Identified Misstatements (Ref: par. .35-.37)

.A59 Because fraud involves incentive or pressure to commit fraud, a per-
ceived opportunity to do so, or some rationalization of the act, an instance of
fraud is unlikely to be an isolated occurrence. Accordingly, misstatements, such
as numerous misstatements at a specific location even though the cumulative
effect is not material, may be indicative of a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud.

.A60 The implications of identified fraud depend on the circumstances. For
example, an otherwise insignificant fraud may be significant if it involves se-
nior management. In such circumstances, the reliability of evidence previously
obtained may be called into question because there may be doubts about the
completeness and truthfulness of representations made and the genuineness
of accounting records and documentation. There may also be a possibility of
collusion involving employees, management, or third parties.

.A61 Section 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified During the Audit,
and section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements,
address the evaluation and disposition of misstatements and the effect on the
auditor's opinion in the auditor's report.

.A62 Section 580, Written Representations, addresses obtaining appropri-
ate representations from management in the audit. In addition to acknowledg-
ing its responsibility for the financial statements, it is important that, irrespec-
tive of the size of the entity, management acknowledges its responsibility for
internal control designed, implemented, and maintained to prevent and detect
fraud.
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Auditor Unable to Continue the Engagement (Ref: par. .38)

.A63 Examples of circumstances that may arise and bring into question
the auditor's ability to continue performing the audit include the following:

a. The entity does not take the appropriate action regarding fraud
that the auditor considers necessary in the circumstances, even
when the fraud is not material to the financial statements.

b.  The auditor's consideration of the risks of material misstatement
due to fraud and the results of audit tests indicate a significant
risk of material and pervasive fraud.

c¢.  The auditor has significant concern about the competence or in-
tegrity of management or those charged with governance.

.A64 Because of the variety of circumstances that may arise, it is not pos-
sible to describe definitively when withdrawal from an engagement is appro-
priate. Factors that affect the auditor's conclusion include the implications of
the involvement of a member of management or of those charged with gover-
nance (which may affect the reliability of management representations) and
the effects on the auditor of a continuing association with the entity.

.A65 The auditor has professional and legal responsibilities in such cir-
cumstances, and these responsibilities may vary by engagement. In some cir-
cumstances, for example, the auditor may be entitled to, or required to, make
a statement or report to the person or persons who engaged the auditor or, in
some cases, to regulatory authorities. Given the nature of the circumstances
and the need to consider the legal requirements, the auditor may consider it
appropriate to seek legal advice when deciding whether to withdraw from an
engagement and in determining an appropriate course of action, including the
possibility of reporting to regulators or others.??

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities and Not-for-Profit
Organizations

.A66 For governmental entities and not-for-profit organizations, the op-
tion of withdrawing from the engagement may not be available to the auditor
due to the nature of the mandate, public interest considerations, contractual
requirements, or law or regulation.

Communications to Management and With Those Charged
With Governance

Communication to Management (Ref: par. .39)

.A67 When the auditor has obtained evidence that fraud exists or may
exist, it is important that the matter be brought to the attention of the ap-
propriate level of management as soon as practicable. This is true even if the
matter might be considered inconsequential (for example, a minor defalcation
by an employee at a low level in the entity's organization). The determination
of which level of management is the appropriate one is a matter of professional
judgment and is affected by such factors as the likelihood of collusion and the
nature and magnitude of the suspected fraud. Ordinarily, the appropriate level
of management is at least one level above the persons who appear to be involved
with the suspected fraud.

28 Section 510, Opening Balances—Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements,
provides guidance on communications with an auditor replacing the existing auditor.
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Communication With Those Charged With Governance (Ref: par. .40)

.A68 The auditor's communication with those charged with governance
may be made orally or in writing. Section 260, The Auditor's Communication
With Those Charged With Governance, identifies factors the auditor considers
in determining whether to communicate orally or in writing.2* Due to the na-
ture and sensitivity of fraud involving senior management, or fraud that results
in a material misstatement in the financial statements, the auditor commu-
nicates such matters on a timely basis and may consider it necessary to also
communicate such matters in writing.

A69 In some cases, the auditor may consider it appropriate to commu-
nicate with those charged with governance when the auditor becomes aware
of fraud involving employees other than management that does not result in
a material misstatement. Similarly, those charged with governance may wish
to be informed of such circumstances. The communication process is assisted
if the auditor and those charged with governance agree at an early stage in
the audit about the nature and extent of the auditor's communications in this
regard.

.A70 When the auditor has doubts about the integrity or honesty of man-
agement or those charged with governance, the auditor may consider it appro-
priate to obtain legal advice to assist in determining the appropriate course of
action.

Other Matters Related to Fraud (Ref: par. .41)

A71 Other matters related to fraud to be discussed with those charged
with governance of the entity may include, for example

® concerns about the nature, extent, and frequency of management's
assessments of the controls in place to prevent and detect fraud
and of the risk that the financial statements may be misstated.

® a failure by management to appropriately address identified sig-
nificant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control, or
to appropriately respond to an identified fraud.

® the auditor's evaluation of the entity's control environment, in-
cluding questions regarding the competence and integrity of man-
agement.

® actions by management that may be indicative of fraudulent fi-
nancial reporting, such as management's selection and application
of accounting policies that may be indicative of management's ef-
fort to manage earnings in order to deceive financial statement
users by influencing their perceptions concerning the entity's per-
formance and profitability.

® concerns about the adequacy and completeness of the authoriza-
tion of transactions that appear to be outside the normal course
of business.

® the absence of programs or controls to address risks of material
misstatement due to fraud that are significant deficiencies or ma-
terial weaknesses.?®

24 Paragraph .A40 of section 260.
25 See section 265, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit.
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Communications to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities
(Ref: par. .42)

.A72 The auditor's professional duty to maintain the confidentiality of
client information may preclude reporting fraud to a party outside the client
entity. However, in certain circumstances, the duty of confidentiality may be
overridden by statute, regulation, courts of law, specific requirements of audits
of entities that receive government financial assistance, or waived by agree-
ment. In some circumstances, the auditor has a statutory duty to report the
occurrence of fraud to supervisory authorities. Also, in some circumstances,
the auditor has a duty to report misstatements to authorities in those cases
when management and those charged with governance fail to take corrective
action.

.A73 The auditor may consider it appropriate to obtain legal advice to de-
termine the appropriate course of action in the circumstances, the purpose of
which is to ascertain the steps necessary in considering the public interest as-
pects of identified fraud.

Considerations Specific to Governmental Entities and Not-for-Profit
Organizations

.A74 For governmental entities and not-for-profit organizations, require-
ments for reporting fraud, whether or not discovered through the audit process,
may be subject to specific provisions of the audit mandate or related law or reg-
ulation.
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AT75

Appendix A—Examples of Fraud Risk Factors
(Ref: par. .11, .24, and .A30)

The fraud risk factors identified in this appendix are examples of such factors
that may be faced by auditors in a broad range of situations. Separately pre-
sented are examples relating to the two types of fraud relevant to the auditor's
consideration—that is, fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of
assets. For each of these types of fraud, the risk factors are further classified
based on the three conditions generally present when material misstatements
due to fraud occur: (a) incentives and pressures, (b) opportunities, and (c¢) at-
titudes and rationalizations. Although the risk factors cover a broad range of
situations, they are only examples and, accordingly, the auditor may identify
additional or different risk factors. Not all of these examples are relevant in
all circumstances, and some may be of greater or lesser significance in entities
of different size or with different ownership characteristics or circumstances.
Also, the order of the examples of risk factors provided is not intended to reflect
their relative importance or frequency of occurrence.

Risk Factors Relating to Misstatements Arising From
Fraudulent Financial Reporting

The following are examples of risk factors relating to misstatements arising
from fraudulent financial reporting.

Incentives and Pressures

Financial stability or profitability is threatened by economic, industry, or entity
operating conditions, such as (or as indicated by) the following:

® High degree of competition or market saturation, accompanied by
declining margins

® High vulnerability to rapid changes, such as changes in technol-
ogy, product obsolescence, or interest rates

® Significant declines in customer demand and increasing business
failures in either the industry or overall economy

® Operating losses making the threat of bankruptcy, foreclosure, or
hostile takeover imminent

® Recurring negative cash flows from operations or an inability to
generate cash flows from operations while reporting earnings and
earnings growth

® Rapid growth or unusual profitability especially compared to that
of other companies in the same industry

® New accounting, statutory, or regulatory requirements

Excessive pressure exists for management to meet the requirements or expec-
tations of third parties due to the following:

® Profitability or trend level expectations of investment analysts,
institutional investors, significant creditors, or other external par-
ties (particularly expectations that are unduly aggressive or un-
realistic), including expectations created by management in, for
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example, overly optimistic press releases or annual report mes-
sages

Need to obtain additional debt or equity financing to stay
competitive—including financing of major research and develop-
ment or capital expenditures

Marginal ability to meet exchange listing requirements or debt
repayment or other debt covenant requirements

Perceived or real adverse effects of reporting poor financial re-
sults on significant pending transactions, such as business com-
binations or contract awards

A need to achieve financial targets required in bond covenants

Pressure for management to meet the expectations of legislative
or oversight bodies or to achieve political outcomes, or both

Information available indicates that the personal financial situation of manage-
ment or those charged with governance is threatened by the entity's financial
performance arising from the following:

Significant financial interests in the entity

Significant portions of their compensation (for example, bonuses,
stock options, and earn-out arrangements) being contingent upon
achieving aggressive targets for stock price, operating results, fi-
nancial position, or cash flow!

Personal guarantees of debts of the entity

Management or operating personnel are under excessive pressure to meet fi-
nancial targets established by those charged with governance, including sales
or profitability incentive goals.

Opportunities

The nature of the industry or the entity's operations provides opportunities to
engage in fraudulent financial reporting that can arise from the following:

Significant related party transactions not in the ordinary course of
business or with related entities not audited or audited by another
firm

A strong financial presence or ability to dominate a certain indus-
try sector that allows the entity to dictate terms or conditions to
suppliers or customers that may result in inappropriate or non-
arm's-length transactions

Assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenses based on significant esti-
mates that involve subjective judgments or uncertainties that are
difficult to corroborate

Significant, unusual, or highly complex transactions, especially
those close to period end that pose difficult "substance over form"
questions

Significant operations located or conducted across jurisdictional
borders where differing business environments and regulations
exist

1 Management incentive plans may be contingent upon achieving targets relating only to certain
accounts or selected activities of the entity, even though the related accounts or activities may not be
material to the entity as a whole.
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® Use of business intermediaries for which there appears to be no
clear business justification

® Significant bank accounts or subsidiary or branch operations in
tax-haven jurisdictions for which there appears to be no clear busi-
ness justification

The monitoring of management is not effective as a result of the following:

® Domination of management by a single person or small group (in
a nonowner-managed business) without compensating controls.

® Oversight by those charged with governance over the financial re-
porting process and internal control is not effective.

The organizational structure is complex or unstable, as evidenced by the fol-
lowing:

® Difficulty in determining the organization or individuals that
have controlling interest in the entity

®  Overly complex organizational structure involving unusual legal
entities or managerial lines of authority

® High turnover of senior management, legal counsel, or those
charged with governance

Internal control components are deficient as a result of the following:

® Inadequate monitoring of controls, including automated controls
and controls over interim financial reporting (when external re-
porting is required)

® High turnover rates or employment of staff in accounting, IT, or
the internal audit function who are not effective

®  Accounting and information systems that are not effective, includ-
ing situations involving significant deficiencies or material weak-
nesses in internal control

®  Weak controls over budget preparation and development and com-
pliance with law or regulation.

Attitudes and Rationalizations

® Communication, implementation, support, or enforcement of the
entity's values or ethical standards by management, or the com-
munication of inappropriate values or ethical standards that are
not effective.

® Nonfinancial management's excessive participation in or preoccu-
pation with the selection of accounting policies or the determina-
tion of significant estimates.

® Known history of violations of securities law or other law or reg-
ulation, or claims against the entity, its senior management, or
those charged with governance alleging fraud or violations of law
or regulation.

® [Excessive interest by management in maintaining or increasing
the entity's stock price or earnings trend.

® The practice by management of committing to analysts, creditors,
and other third parties to achieve aggressive or unrealistic fore-
casts.
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® Management failing to remedy known significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses in internal control on a timely basis.

®  An interest by management in employing inappropriate means to
minimize reported earnings for tax-motivated reasons.

® Low morale among senior management.

® The owner-manager makes no distinction between personal and
business transactions.

® Dispute between shareholders in a closely held entity.

® Recurring attempts by management to justify marginal or inap-
propriate accounting on the basis of materiality.

® A strained relationship between management and the current or
predecessor auditor, as exhibited by the following:

— Frequent disputes with the current or predecessor auditor
on accounting, auditing, or reporting matters

— Unreasonable demands on the auditor, such as unrealistic
time constraints regarding the completion of the audit or
the issuance of the auditor's report

— Restrictions on the auditor that inappropriately limit ac-
cess to people or information or the ability to communicate
effectively with those charged with governance

— Domineering management behavior in dealing with the
auditor, especially involving attempts to influence the
scope of the auditor's work or the selection or continuance
of personnel assigned to or consulted on the audit engage-
ment

Risk Factors Arising From Misstatements Arising
From Misappropriation of Assets

Risk factors that relate to misstatements arising from misappropriation of as-
sets are also classified according to the three conditions generally present when
fraud exists: incentives and pressures, opportunities, and attitudes and ratio-
nalization. Some of the risk factors related to misstatements arising from fraud-
ulent financial reporting also may be present when misstatements arising from
misappropriation of assets occur. For example, ineffective monitoring of man-
agement and other deficiencies in internal control that are not effective may
be present when misstatements due to either fraudulent financial reporting
or misappropriation of assets exist. The following are examples of risk factors
related to misstatements arising from misappropriation of assets.

Incentives and Pressures

Personal financial obligations may create pressure on management or employ-
ees with access to cash or other assets susceptible to theft to misappropriate
those assets.

Adverse relationships between the entity and employees with access to cash or
other assets susceptible to theft may motivate those employees to misappro-
priate those assets. For example, adverse relationships may be created by the
following:

® Known or anticipated future employee layoffs
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® Recent or anticipated changes to employee compensation or ben-

efit plans
® Promotions, compensation, or other rewards inconsistent with ex-
pectations
Opportunities

Certain characteristics or circumstances may increase the susceptibility of as-
sets to misappropriation. For example, opportunities to misappropriate assets
increase when the following exist:

® Large amounts of cash on hand or processed

® Inventory items that are small in size, of high value, or in high
demand

® EKasily convertible assets, such as bearer bonds, diamonds, or com-
puter chips

® Tixed assets that are small in size, marketable, or lack observable
identification of ownership

Inadequate internal control over assets may increase the susceptibility of mis-
appropriation of those assets. For example, misappropriation of assets may oc-
cur because the following exist:

® Inadequate segregation of duties or independent checks

® Inadequate oversight of senior management expenditures, such
as travel and other reimbursements

® Inadequate management oversight of employees responsible for
assets (for example, inadequate supervision or monitoring of re-
mote locations)

® Inadequate job applicant screening of employees with access to
assets

® Inadequate record keeping with respect to assets

® Inadequate system of authorization and approval of transactions
(for example, in purchasing)

® Inadequate physical safeguards over cash, investments, inventory,
or fixed assets

® Lack of complete and timely reconciliations of assets

® Lack of timely and appropriate documentation of transactions (for
example, credits for merchandise returns)

® Lack of mandatory vacations for employees performing key con-
trol functions

® Inadequate management understanding of IT, which enables IT
employees to perpetrate a misappropriation

® Inadequate access controls over automated records, including con-
trols over and review of computer systems event logs

Attitudes and Rationalizations

® Disregard for the need for monitoring or reducing risks related to
misappropriations of assets
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Disregard for internal control over misappropriation of assets by
overriding existing controls or by failing to take appropriate re-
medial action on known deficiencies in internal control

Behavior indicating displeasure or dissatisfaction with the entity
or its treatment of the employee

Changes in behavior or lifestyle that may indicate assets have
been misappropriated

The belief by some government or other officials that their level
of authority justifies a certain level of compensation and personal
privileges

Tolerance of petty theft

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2014, by SAS No. 128.]
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Appendix B—Examples of Possible Audit Procedures to

Address the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement
Due to Fraud (Ref: par. .22 and .A46)

The following are examples of possible audit procedures to address the assessed
risks of material misstatement due to fraud resulting from both fraudulent fi-
nancial reporting and misappropriation of assets. Although these procedures
cover a broad range of situations, they are only examples and, accordingly, they
may not be the most appropriate nor necessary in each circumstance. Also
the order of the procedures provided is not intended to reflect their relative
importance.

Consideration at the Assertion Level

Specific responses to the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud will vary depending upon the types or combinations of fraud
risk factors or conditions identified, and the classes of transactions, account
balances, disclosures, and assertions they may affect.

The following are specific examples of responses:

® Visiting locations or performing certain tests on a surprise or
unannounced basis (for example, observing inventory at locations
where auditor attendance has not been previously announced or
counting cash at a particular date on a surprise basis)

® Requesting that inventories be counted at the end of the report-
ing period or on a date closer to period end to minimize the risk of
manipulation of balances in the period between the date of com-
pletion of the count and the end of the reporting period

®  Altering the audit approach in the current year (for example, con-
tacting major customers and suppliers orally in addition to send-
ing written confirmation, sending confirmation requests to a spe-
cific party within an organization, or seeking more or different
information)

® Performing a detailed review of the entity's quarter-end or year-
end adjusting entries and investigating any that appear to have
an unusual nature or amount

® For significant and unusual transactions, particularly those oc-
curring at or near year end, investigating the possibility of re-
lated parties and the sources of financial resources supporting the
transactions

® Performing substantive analytical procedures using disaggre-
gated data (for example, comparing sales and cost of sales by lo-
cation, line of business, or month to expectations developed by the
auditor)

® Conducting interviews of personnel involved in areas in which a
risk of material misstatement due to fraud has been identified, to
obtain their insights about the risk, and whether, or how, controls
address the risk

® When other independent auditors are auditing the financial
statements of one or more subsidiaries, divisions, or branches,
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discussing with them the extent of work necessary to be per-
formed to address the assessed risk of material misstatement due
to fraud resulting from transactions and activities among these
components

® If the work of an expert becomes particularly significant with re-
spect to a financial statement item for which the assessed risk of
misstatement due to fraud is high, performing additional proce-
dures relating to some or all of the expert's assumptions, methods,
or findings to determine that the findings are not unreasonable,
or engaging another expert for that purpose

® Performing audit procedures to analyze selected opening balance
sheet accounts of previously audited financial statements to as-
sess how certain issues involving accounting estimates and judg-
ments, for example, an allowance for sales returns, were resolved
with the benefit of hindsight

® Performing procedures on account or other reconciliations pre-
pared by the entity, including considering reconciliations per-
formed at interim periods

® Performing computer-assisted techniques, such as data mining to
test for anomalies in a population

® Testing the integrity of computer-produced records and transac-
tions

® Seeking additional audit evidence from sources outside of the en-
tity being audited

Specific Responses— Misstatement Resulting From
Fraudulent Financial Reporting

Examples of responses to the auditor's assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement due to fraudulent financial reporting are as follows:

Revenue Recognition

® Performing substantive analytical procedures relating to revenue
using disaggregated data; for example, comparing revenue re-
ported by month and by product line or business segment dur-
ing the current reporting period with comparable prior periods or
with revenue related to cash collections (computer-assisted audit
techniques may be useful in identifying unusual or unexpected
revenue relationships or transactions)

® Confirming with customers certain relevant contract terms and
the absence of side agreements because the appropriate account-
ing often is influenced by such terms or agreements and basis for
rebates or the period to which they relate are often poorly docu-
mented (for example, acceptance criteria, delivery and payment
terms, the absence of future or continuing vendor obligations, the
right to return the product, guaranteed resale amounts, and can-
cellation or refund provisions often are relevant in such circum-
stances)

® Inquiring of the entity's sales and marketing personnel or in-
house legal counsel regarding sales or shipments near the end of
the period and their knowledge of any unusual terms or conditions
associated with these transactions
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® Being physically present at one or more locations at period end
to observe goods being shipped or being readied for shipment (or
returns awaiting processing) and performing other appropriate
sales and inventory cutoff procedures

®  For those situations for which revenue transactions are electron-
ically initiated, processed, and recorded, testing controls to de-
termine whether they provide assurance that recorded revenue
transactions occurred and are properly recorded

Inventory Quantities

® Examining the entity's inventory records to identify locations or
items that require specific attention during or after the physical
inventory count

® Observing inventory counts at certain locations on an unan-
nounced basis or conducting inventory counts at all locations on
the same date

® (Conducting inventory counts at or near the end of the reporting
period to minimize the risk of inappropriate manipulation during
the period between the count and the end of the reporting period

® Performing additional procedures during the observation of the
count; for example, more rigorously examining the contents of
boxed items, the manner in which the goods are stacked (for ex-
ample, hollow squares) or labeled, and the quality (that is, purity,
grade, or concentration) of liquid substances such as perfumes or
specialty chemicals (using the work of an expert may be helpful
in this regard)

® Comparing the quantities for the current period with prior peri-
ods by class or category of inventory, location or other criteria, or
comparison of quantities counted with perpetual records

® Using computer-assisted audit techniques to further test the com-
pilation of the physical inventory counts (for example, sorting by
tag number to test tag controls or by item serial number to test
the possibility of item omission or duplication)

Management Estimates

® Using an expert to develop an independent estimate for compari-
son to management's estimate

® Extending inquiries to individuals outside of management and
the accounting department to corroborate management's ability
and intent to carry out plans that are relevant to developing the
estimate

Specific Responses—Misstatements Due to
Misappropriation of Assets

Differing circumstances would necessarily dictate different responses. Ordinar-
ily, the audit response to an assessed risk of material misstatement due to fraud
relating to misappropriation of assets will be directed toward certain account
balances and classes of transactions. Although some of the audit responses
noted in the preceding two categories may apply in such circumstances, the
scope of the work is to be linked to the specific information about the misappro-
priation risk that has been identified.
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Examples of responses to the auditor's assessment of the risk of material mis-
statements due to misappropriation of assets are as follows:

Counting cash or securities at or near year end

Confirming directly with customers the account activity (includ-
ing credit memo and sales return activity as well as dates pay-
ments were made) for the period under audit

Analyzing recoveries of written-off accounts
Analyzing inventory shortages by location or product type
Comparing key inventory ratios to industry norm

Reviewing supporting documentation for reductions to the perpet-
ual inventory records

Performing a computerized match of the vendor list with a list of
employees to identify matches of addresses or phone numbers

Performing a computerized search of payroll records to identify
duplicate addresses, employee identification or taxing authority
numbers, or bank accounts

Reviewing personnel files for those that contain little or no evi-
dence of activity; for example, lack of performance evaluations

Analyzing sales discounts and returns for unusual patterns or
trends

Confirming specific terms of contracts with third parties

Obtaining evidence that contracts are being carried out in accor-
dance with their terms

Reviewing the propriety of large and unusual expenses

Reviewing the authorization and carrying value of senior manage-
ment and related party loans

Reviewing the level and propriety of expense reports submitted
by senior management
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ATT

Appendix C—Examples of Circumstances That Indicate
the Possibility of Fraud (Ref: par. .11, .A11, and .A56)

The following are examples of circumstances that may indicate the possibility
that the financial statements may contain a material misstatement resulting
from fraud.

Discrepancies in the accounting records, including the following:

® Transactions that are not recorded in a complete or timely manner
or are improperly recorded by amount, accounting period, classi-
fication, or entity policy

®  Unsupported or unauthorized balances or transactions
® Last minute adjustments that significantly affect financial results

® [Evidence of employees' access to systems and records inconsistent
with that necessary to perform their authorized duties

® Tips or complaints to the auditor about alleged fraud
Conflicting or missing evidence, including the following:

® Missing documents
® Documents that appear to have been altered

®  Unavailability of other than photocopied or electronically trans-
mitted documents when documents in original form are expected
to exist

® Significant unexplained items on reconciliations

® Unusual balance sheet changes, or changes in trends or impor-
tant financial statement ratios or relationships; for example, re-
ceivables growing faster than revenues

® Inconsistent, vague, or implausible responses from management
or employees arising from inquiries or analytical procedures

®  Unusual discrepancies between the entity's records and confirma-
tion replies

® Large numbers of credit entries and other adjustments made to
accounts receivable records

® Unexplained or inadequately explained differences between the
accounts receivable subledger and the control account, or between
the customer statements and the accounts receivable subledger

® Missing or nonexistent cancelled checks in circumstances in which
cancelled checks are ordinarily returned to the entity with the
bank statement

® Missing inventory or physical assets of significant magnitude

® Unavailable or missing electronic evidence, inconsistent with the
entity's record retention practices or policies

® Fewer responses to confirmations than anticipated or a greater
number of responses than anticipated
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® Inability to produce evidence of key systems development and pro-
gram change testing and implementation activities for current-
year system changes and deployments

Conditions relating to governmental entities or not-for-profit organizations:

® Significant transfers or transactions between funds or programs,
or both, lacking supporting documents

®  Abnormal budget conditions, such as

— significant budget adjustments

— requests for additional funding

— budget adjustments made without approval

— large amounts of over-or-under spending

— programs with an emphasis on spending money quickly
®  Procurement conditions, such as

— lack of procurement legislation

— recent changes to procurement legislation

— complex or unclear legislation

— involvement of significant monetary amounts (such as in
the defense area)

— investigation by regulatory authorities

— complaints received from potential suppliers about ques-
tionable practices related to awarding of contracts

— former governmental officials functioning as executives of
companies to which contracts have been awarded

® Program conditions, such as

— newly implemented programs without existing manage-
ment and accountability structures

— programs established for political purposes

— programs established to deal with an immediate emer-
gency or crisis

— programs experiencing unusual growth due to conditions
beyond the control of management

® Grant and donor funding conditions, such as
— noncompliance with grant requirements
— unclear grant requirements
— grants not reaching the intended recipient

— complaints from intended recipients or interest groups,
and lack of monitoring of grantee compliance with appli-
cable law or regulation

Problematic or unusual relationships between the auditor and management,
including the following:

® Denial of access to records, facilities, certain employees, cus-
tomers, vendors, or others from whom audit evidence might be
sought

AU-C §240.A77 ©2017, AICPA



Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit 193

® Undue time pressures imposed by management to resolve com-
plex or contentious issues

® Complaints by management about the conduct of the audit or
management intimidation of engagement team members, partic-
ularly in connection with the auditor's critical assessment of au-
dit evidence or in the resolution of potential disagreements with
management

®  Unusual delays by the entity in providing requested information

® Unwillingness to facilitate auditor access to key electronic files for
testing through the use of computer-assisted audit techniques

® Denial of access to key IT operations staff and facilities, including
security, operations, and systems development personnel

® An unwillingness to add or revise disclosures in the financial
statements to make them more complete and understandable

® Anunwillingness to address identified deficiencies in internal con-
trol on a timely basis

Other circumstances, including the following:

® Unwillingness by management to permit the auditor to meet pri-
vately with those charged with governance

® Accounting policies that appear to be at variance with industry
norms

® Frequent changes in accounting estimates that do not appear to
result from changed circumstances

® Tolerance of violations of the entity's code of conduct
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AU-C Section 250

Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an
Audit of Financial Statements

Source: SAS No. 122.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2012.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section addresses the auditor's responsibility to consider laws and
regulations in an audit of financial statements. This section does not apply to
other assurance engagements in which the auditor is specifically engaged to
test and report separately on compliance with specific laws or regulations.!

Effect of Laws and Regulations

.02 The effect on financial statements of laws and regulations varies con-
siderably. Those laws and regulations to which an entity is subject constitute
the legal and regulatory framework. The provisions of some laws or regulations
have a direct effect on the financial statements in that they determine the re-
ported amounts and disclosures in an entity's financial statements. Other laws
or regulations are to be complied with by management, or set the provisions
under which the entity is allowed to conduct its business, but do not have a
direct effect on an entity's financial statements. Some entities operate in heav-
ily regulated industries (such as banks and chemical companies). Others are
subject only to the many laws and regulations that relate generally to the op-
erating aspects of the business (such as those related to occupational safety
and health and equal employment opportunity). Noncompliance with laws and
regulations may result in fines, litigation, or other consequences for the entity
that may have a material effect on the financial statements.

Responsibility for Compliance With Laws and Regulations
(Ref: par. .A1-.A7)

Responsibility of Management

.03 It is the responsibility of management, with the oversight of those
charged with governance, to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted
in accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations, including compli-
ance with the provisions of laws and regulations that determine the reported
amounts and disclosures in an entity's financial statements.

1 Section 935, Compliance Audits, addresses compliance audits performed in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, the standards for financial audits under Government Auditing
Standards, and government audit requirements.

©2017, AICPA AU-C §250.03



196 General Principles and Responsibilities

Responsibility of the Auditor

.04 The requirements in this section are designed to assist the auditor
in identifying material misstatement of the financial statements due to non-
compliance with laws and regulations. However, the auditor is not responsible
for preventing noncompliance and cannot be expected to detect noncompliance
with all laws and regulations.

.05 The auditor is responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error.?2 In conducting an audit of financial statements, the
auditor takes into account the applicable legal and regulatory framework. Be-
cause of the inherent limitations of an audit, an unavoidable risk exists that
some material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected,
even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS).? In the context of laws and reg-
ulations, the potential effects of inherent limitations on the auditor's ability to
detect material misstatements are greater for the following reasons:

® Many laws and regulations relating principally to the operating
aspects of an entity typically do not affect the financial statements
and are not captured by the entity's information systems relevant
to financial reporting.

® Noncompliance may involve conduct designed to conceal it, such
as collusion, forgery, deliberate failure to record transactions,
management override of controls, or intentional misrepresenta-
tions made to the auditor.

®  Whether an act constitutes noncompliance is ultimately a matter
for legal determination, such as by a court of law.

Ordinarily, the further removed noncompliance is from the events and trans-
actions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the auditor is to
become aware of, or recognize, the noncompliance.

.06 This section distinguishes the auditor's responsibilities regarding com-
pliance with the following two categories of laws and regulations:

a. The provisions of those laws and regulations generally recognized
to have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, such as tax and pen-
sion laws and regulations (see paragraph .13)

b.  The provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a
direct effect on the determination of the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements but compliance with which may be

i. fundamental to the operating aspects of the business,

ii. fundamental to an entity's ability to continue its business,
or

iii. necessary for the entity to avoid material penalties

(for example, compliance with the terms of an operating license, regulatory sol-
vency requirements, or environmental regulations); therefore, noncompliance
with such laws and regulations may have a material effect on the financial
statements (see paragraph .14).

2 Paragraph .12 of section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of
an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

3 Paragraph .A49 of section 200.
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.07 In this section, differing requirements are specified for each of the pre-
viously mentioned categories of laws and regulations. For the category referred
to in paragraph .06a, the auditor's responsibility is to obtain sufficient appropri-
ate audit evidence regarding material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements that are determined by the provisions of those laws and regulations.
For the category referred to in paragraph .065, the auditor's responsibility is
limited to performing specified audit procedures that may identify noncompli-
ance with those laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the
financial statements.

.08 The auditor is required by this section to remain alert to the possibil-
ity that other audit procedures applied for the purpose of forming an opinion
on financial statements may bring instances of identified or suspected noncom-
pliance with laws and regulations to the auditor's attention. Maintaining pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit, as required by section 200, Overall
Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accor-
dance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, is important in this con-
text, given the extent of laws and regulations that affect the entity.*

Effective Date

.09 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2012.

Obijectives
.10 The objectives of the auditor are to

a. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements that are de-
termined by the provisions of those laws and regulations gener-
ally recognized to have a direct effect on their determination (see
paragraph .06a),

b. perform specified audit procedures that may identify instances of
noncompliance with other laws and regulations that may have a
material effect on the financial statements (see paragraph .06b),
and

c¢. respond appropriately to noncompliance or suspected noncompli-
ance with laws and regulations identified during the audit.

Definition
.11 For the purposes of this section, the following term has the meaning
attributed as follows:

Noncompliance. Acts of omission or commission by the entity, ei-
ther intentional or unintentional, which are contrary to the pre-
vailing laws or regulations. Such acts include transactions en-
tered into by, or in the name of, the entity or on its behalf by
those charged with governance, management, or employees. Non-
compliance does not include personal misconduct (unrelated to
the business activities of the entity) by those charged with gover-
nance, management, or employees of the entity.

4 Paragraph .17 of section 200.

©2017, AICPA AU-C §250.11



198 General Principles and Responsibilities
Requirements

The Auditor’s Consideration of Compliance With Laws
and Regulations

.12 As part of obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environ-
ment, in accordance with section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Envi-
ronment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, the auditor should
obtain a general understanding of the following:® (Ref: par. .A8)

a. The legal and regulatory framework applicable to the entity and
the industry or sector in which the entity operates

b. How the entity is complying with that framework

.13 The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence re-
garding material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements that are
determined by the provisions of those laws and regulations generally recog-
nized to have a direct effect on their determination (see paragraph .06a). (Ref:
par. .A9-.A11)

.14 The auditor should perform the following audit procedures that may
identify instances of noncompliance with other laws and regulations that may
have a material effect on the financial statements (see paragraph .0